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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (if known) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

The St. Anthony Falls Historie District follows the Mississippi
River from the Plymouth Avenue Bridge on the northwest boundary to 10th
Avenue South (west bank) and 6th Avenue S.E. (east bank) on the southeast
district border. The district extends onto the east river shore to Universit
Avenue and onto the west river shore along 2nd Street South., The area
encompasses 800 acres more Or less.

The location of the sites of major importance in this distriect are
noted on the attached map. Of special significance are:
1. PFalls of St. Anthony: First known for its natural beauty, the 35 foot.

2,200 mile course. The waterffll soon became the power source for the
growing flour and lumber industries of Minneapolis and St. Anthony.
Because erosion of the bottom sandstone and limestone layers caused the
falls to retreat upstream, in 1870 engineers covered the waterfall with
a wooden apron to control waterpower. When floodwaters destroyed this
wooden structure in 1952, a concrete apron replaced it. In addition to
developing its waterpower, Minneapolis' goal was to extend navigation
into the heart of the city. The Upper Harbor project, completed in 1963,
established a lock and canal system around the falls, making the river
navigable through Minneapolis. ~
2., 01d Main Street: Cobblestoned Main Street, fronting the east bank of the
Mississippi, was a major thoroughfare in St. Anthony, since the street
contained many businesses and the railroad station. It was also a well
traveled route for the Red River Oxcarts going from St. Paul to North
Dakota,
a. Pillsbury A Mill (1881; location:116 3rd Avenue S.E.): This mill is
most imppsing structure on old lain., 3Built in 1880-81 Wy L.S.
j ony/ the six story limestone structure was the largest mill in the
y the time of its completion. Fundamentally unchanged in appear-
ayg\{ggge, he mill has a curved, slightly concave principal facade (due
j~g€ﬁ robably \to the settling of the building) and arched window groups.
VStili dgeﬁative, the A Mill more than any other building symbolizes the
3 1o rqég of ‘Minneapolis as a major U.S. flour milling center from 1880-1930.
g
. Ml

o

g$i§é the mill stands a grain elevatdr constructed in 1910 from glaze
e BYocks, a notable departure from the traditional construction
/{;i [averial, poured concrete.
. Union Iron Works Building (ca. 1879; location: corner of Main Street

S.E. and 2nd Avenue S.E.): The Union Iron Works was founded in 1839fand
established its headquarters in this three story stone building. The
foundry was located in the basement, with offices on the first floor and
mill-wright and pattern offices on the second, The present owner is
restoring the building. V4

Ce 127 Main Street S.E. (ca. 1880; location: 127 Main Street S.E.): This
three story stone building, one of the first buildings of any importance
in the city, was used for a fire station, post office, hotel and offices,
Architecturally the building is of interest because of the quality of its
design and workmanship., The stones of the arches are perfectly fitted
with a very fine joint. Interior details were unusually refined for the
frontier period in which it was built. Currently the building is not
being used.

high (approximately) waterfall was the most abrupt drop in the Mississippl
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Called "curling waters" by the Dakota Indians, the £&lls”were: he
setting for Indian rituals and legends long before their»%é;§ggggg§fhin
1680 by Belgian priest Louis Hennepin, who named the site after his patron
saint., A landmark for later expeditions into this uncharted territory, the
Falls of St. Anthony were praised for their wild beauty by explorers
Jonathan Carver in 1766, Zebulon Pike in 1805, and Stephen Long in 1817.
Travelers soon delighted in viewing the scenery along '"fashionable tours"
up the Mississippi in the 1820's - 1850's., Local residents predicted that
"in a few years this place will become as great a resort as Niagara," 1l

By 1823, however, the falls were serving a less scenic but more
profitable function - providing water power for the saw and grist mill
operated by the Fort Snelling garrison. This successful harnessing of the
cataract's waterpower more accurately foretold the future of the falls.

United States government treaties with the Dakota and Ojibway in 1837
opened the east bank of the Mississippi for settlement. The sutler at
Fort Snelling, FrankTin Steele, successfully claimed the east bank and
corresponding water rights to the falls and built a mill and dam alongside
the river. Vﬁ?eele platted the town of St, Anthony in 1849, Other mills
were constructed and, as they prospered, so did St. Anthony, which grew
from a population of 300 in 1848 to 3,000 only seven years later.

Meanwhile, the land along the west bank opposite the falls was part of
Fort Snelling until 1852, when settlers were allowed to establish claims
here. The new town of Minneapolis, meaning "waters" (Dakota) and "city"
(Greek), also prospered, increasing from 300 people in 1854 to over 1,500
two years later. As many as sixteen sawmills lined the falls, jutting
into the Mississippi from both shores. Because of shrewd business practicep
Minneapolis grew so rapidly that in 1872, it absorbed St. Anthony.

During the 1860's, flour mills began to replace saw mills as the
principal industry using the waterfall's power. In 1880, the twenty-seven
Minneapolis mills were producing over two million barrels of flour annually)
meking Minneapolis the nation's largest flour center, a title the city held
until 1930, The success of mills like the Pillsbury A Mill, once the
largest mill of its kind in the world, doomed the beauty of the falls.
Engineers covered the waterfall with first a wooden and then a concrete
apron to control waterpower and erosion. e

In 1882, a new phenomenon, the nation's first hydroelectric plant, )
furnished lighting for the city's business district. The falls once agalin
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7. Description (continued)

d., Pracna Building (18961/;ocation: 117 Main Street S.E.): This
story brick building origihally served as a saloon and residengp
Minneapolis. The structure is typical of a facade type of anrg
with three panels that ran the length of the structure and £
sheet metal turrets across the building cornice, This builg
restored and renovated; its top two floors are a private resiyence Q?& th§5
first floor an officg,/’ AR

3. Washburn A Mill (1878; loeation:701 1st Street South): Two Wagk W
have stood on this site. The first, erected in 1874 and quité\p 3 q£§E€§§
exploded in 1878, killing 17 employees and reducing the city's ﬁzlizn .
capacities by one-third. Thig present structure was built to replace the
original mill. The Washburns imported the best equipment and newest pro=
cesses in milling, notably a European iron roller process and & middlings
purifier., These innovations greatly improved Minnesota flour in quality,
and, consequently, in price. A six story limestone structure, the mill's
walls are five feet thick at the base, tapering to twenty inches thick at
the top. The mill ceased operations in 1965. A small plaque set into one
wall describes the 1878 disaster.

4., Crown Rpoller Mill (1880; location: 507-09 lst Street South): Completed in
1880, /fhe Crown Roller Mill is one of the largest mill buildings at the
falls. Seven stories high, the structure is of brick with a heavy stone
foundation., The mill had a daily capacity of 2,400 barrels of fiour,

5. Standard Mill (1879;10cation: center of 6th Avenue South, between lst Streeft
South and 2nd Street South): This six story mill, brick with a stone
foundation, was built in 18794 Its daily flour capacity was 1,200 barrels.

6., Humboldt Mill (ca. 1880y location: east side of 2nd Street South, between
7th Avenue South and 8th Avenue South): Built before 1880, the Humboldt
Mili is a four story brick building with a daily flour capacity of T00
bartrels. e

7. North Star Woolen Mills (1864; 1location: center of 6th Avenue South, between
1st Street South and 2nd Street South): Begun in 1864, this was one of
several woolen mills established at the falls as a result of a Minnesota
sheep raising boom in the 1860's. Once bankrupt, new owners sucessfully
reorganized the business, which became an important Minneapolis industry
until the 1940's, The company masnufactured scarves, flannels, yarns and
blankets in this five story limestone building.

8. Hall and Dann Barrel Company (1880; location: 3rd Avenue South between 2nd
Street South and 1st Street South): Completed in the fall of 1880, this
four story brick structure was the largest barrel manufacturing establishe
ment in the country at one ‘time, turning out 6,000 barrels daily. The
barrels were used for packing Minneapolis flour.

9. Office and Engine House (1878; location: 325 let Street South): This one
story brick building served as the office and engine house for the
Minneapeolis and Eastern Railroad. Completed in 1878, this railroad was one
of those used for switching and running cars to and from the mills over
two miles of track,

| 10. Ard Godfrey House (1848; location:Chute Square): Ard Godfrey came to St.

Anthony in 1847 to build Franklin Steele's sawmill, tqs_figgﬁ_gg_ghgﬁggllam

? cdy ®
1§23 %)

-




Form 10-300c UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR STATE
(July 1969) NATIONAL PARK SERVICE Minnesota

NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES |[cOUNTY

Hennepin
INVENTORY - NOMINATION FORM FOR NPS USE ONLY
' (c t. t. n Sh t) ENTRY NUMBER DA)’E N
ontinuatio ee 1
T X7 0007 13717,

Te

11.

12,

13,

14,

15,

(Number all entries)

Description (continued)

One year later, he constructed this frame cottage from lumber sawe ’e@ajﬂmﬁ /N

mill. One of the first h built in the new town, the 1% story.bbuse
represents the "Classic Revival" architectural influence reduced to i gjﬁ%
simplest terms., This influence can be seen in the design of thﬁfenf a8y

the pilaster strips at building corners, and in the simple frieze and -

cornice. The building was moved from its original location inlthe,ﬁ\'ﬁ i
district and its kitchen removed. It now stands boarded up in Chuté\® il
Square, the property of the city of lMinneapolis. g ’ﬁ%“g%

Otr Lady of Lourdes Church (1858; location: 21 Prince Street S.E.)¥Des .

seribed as the most elegant house of worship in the territory, this'éhuhchﬂi']

was built in 1858 of native limestone., The owners, the First Universalist
Congregation, sold the building to the Lady of Lourdes Congregation in 1877
Originally a rectangular building, the Lady of Lourdes Church was enlarged
in the 1880's to include a transept, an apse, a sacristy, and a Gothic
steeple. A new egtrance was added and some interior redecorations made
betwen 1914-~191™ This church remains in use and is one of the oldest
churches in continuous use in Minneapolis.

Pillsbury Library (1904; location:100 University Avenue 5.E,): "Built of

Vermont marble, surrounded by spacious grounds, the new Pillsbury Library
is considered one of the most beautiful public buildings in MinneapoliSes.
The interior is furnished entifely in mahogany, even to the tables, shelve
and counters, and especially rich is the effect of the wide mzhogany wain-
scoting." (Minneapolis Times, Jan, 11, 1904) The library closed in 1967
because of repair costs and the fact that the branch was no longer access-—
ible to families living near the University. Since this time, the library
has been rented to commnity groups for a nominal fee.

Stone Arch Brigge (James J. Hill Bridge) (1882-83): The Stone Arch Bridge

is the oldestV¥mainline railrosd bridge in the Northwest. Built in 1882-83
by railroad magnate James J. Hill, it is believed to be the“only stone archy
bridge across the Mississippi and the second oldest railroad bridge across
the river. Resembling a Roman viaduct, the bridge was so ambitious an
undertaking for its time that residents called it "Jim Hill's Folly."
Sweeping from bank to bank in a graceful curve below the falls, the bridge
originally contained 23 limestone arches, measured 2,100 feet in length
and carried double tracks. It stood unaltered until 1962, when two arches
were replaced by a truss span to accomodate the passage of river crafts.
Third Avenue Bridge (St. Anthony Falls Bridge) (1917-18): The Third Avenue

Bridge g;ans the Mississippi in seven graceful catenary arches. Built in
1917-18 Yof reinforced concrete, this bridge exemplifies sound engineering
principles combined with pleasing architectural design.

Iucy Wilder Morris Park (location: on the river bank at 6th Street S.E.):
This small river bank park marks the site from which Louis Hennepin first
viewed St. Anthony Falls. The land here, part of the original claim of
Franklin Steele, founder of St. Anthony, became the property of the St.
Anthony Falls Water Power Company. Because of its historic import, the
park ultimately was turned over to the Hemnepin County Historical Society.
Trees planted in 1927 honor three Minnesota educators (Folwell, Northrup,

p—

A
LELQY A
N

and Sanford), and a marker commemorates Hennepin's visit. Erosion has

O \ ?.‘A\”
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Description (continued)

moved the waterfall from view at this site,

Nicollet Island: Named after French scientist and geographer Joseph N.
Nicollet, Nicollet Island has seen two types of development. The upper
half of the island, once noted for its stand of maple trees, was a
natural picturesque park. The lower half of the island was and still i
used for industrial purposes because of its river frontage. Tunnels
and tail races for mill exhausts still exist in the basements of river-
front dwellings. Today Nicollet Island is primarily a combhination of
industrial buildings and neglected dwellings. It is slated for some
kind of redevelopment by the city of Minneapolis.,

a. Eastman Flats (ca. 1877; location: 2-16 Grove Street): At one time
the island contained two long rows of fashionable dwellings built by
William Eastman in 1877 at the outrageous cost of $5,000 each. The
residences were said to combine "convenience, comfort, elegance...and
good taste." (Minneapolis Tribune, March 13, 1878) Although the two
major sections of the flats have been razed, one short row still re-
mains, The blue limestone buildings with cut stone trimmings and man-
sard roofs, although in dilapidated condition, are still inhabited.

—
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8. Statement of Significance (continued)

served a new function - generating electricity rather than direct power to the
town and mills, It was not until 1960, however, that the last flour mill at
the falls was converted to electricity.

Thus, the Falls of St. Anthony were instrumental in the development of
Minnesota's largest city in all its stages of growth. The natural beauty of
the falls was a wilderness landmark, attractive to both tourists and settlers,
The falls furnished direct power to the lumber and flour industries which
stimulated the development of the new city. Finally, the falls provided
electrical power for industrial and residential use.

Today this area contains many warehouses, neglected buildings and industrigl
facilities. Because of the district's obvious potential for interpreting
Minneapolis' history, various agencies and individuals are considering renewal
and restoration plans that could return the area to its former status as a
"great landmark at the continent's heart."

1 Iucile Kane, The Waterfall That Built a City, Minnesota Historical Society,
St. Paul, 1966, p. 7




Form 10-300a UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR STATE

(July 1969) NATIONAL PARK SERVICE Minnesota
NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES |COUNTY
. Hemnepin
!NVENTORY - NOMINATION FQRM - R NPS USE ONLY
ENTRY NUMBER DATE
tinuation Sheet ey
(Continuation Sheet) Z/, %, 2847.0001 _9’/'/7/7/

6.

2.

3e

(Number all entries)

Representation in Existing Surveys (continued)

Ard Godfrey House, Our Lady of Lourdes Church, 127 Main Street S.E.
National Register of Historic Places, 1966, Federal Survey
Library of Congress, Washington, D.C. code 001

Pillsbury A Mill

Minnesota State Register of Historic Sites, 1969, State Survey
Minnesota Historical Society, 690 Cedar Street, St. Paul, Minnesota

code 22 :
St. Anthony Falls Historic District

The Pillsbury A Mill is also a National Landmark,
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St. Anthony Falls Historic District

Boundary Description

Beginning at the intersection of Second Street North and the
south right of way line of proposed Interstate Highway 335
(State Project 2788-901) as required on February 1, 1972;
following Second Street southeasterly to its intersection with
Tenth Avenue South; thence northeasterly along Tenth Avenue
South and along an imaginary line which is an extension thereof
to the beginning of Sixth Avenue Southeast on the east bank of
the Mississippi River and along Sixth Avenue Southeast to its k
intersection with University Avenue; thence northwesterly along
University Avenue to the south right of way line of proposed
Interstate Highway 335 (State Project 2788-902) as identified
on February 1, 1972 and thence northwesterly along the proposed

Interstate Highway 335 right of way to the point of beginning.
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September, 1991

ST. ANTHONY FALLS HISTORIC DISTRICT
MINNEAPOLIS, HENNEPIN COUNTY, MINNESOTA

The attached continuation sheets are submitted to the National Register of
Historic Places as additional information to supplement documentation already
on file for the St. Anthony Falls Historic District in Minneapolis. This
additional information does. not necessarily fulfill all the informational
needs of the district that were lacking in the original nomination. Further
additional information may be submitted in the future regarding aspects of the
district’s history that are still being explored. Maps accompanying the
continuation sheets show the district’s boundary and the locations of the
properties and areas discussed on the continuation sheets.

In 1971 when the St. Anthony Falls Historic District was listed in the
National Register of Historic Places, the National Register program in
Minnesota was just beginning. The St. Anthony Falls District was one of the
state’s first district nominations. In 1971, there were no clear guidelines
for justifying district boundaries, documenting the individual properties, or
explaining the district’s historical significance. As a result, acceptable
nominations often varied widely in substance and method.

As was customary at the time, the St. Anthony Falls nomination did not include
a detailed discussion of the district boundaries. It simply provided the
following description:

The St. Anthony Falls Historic District follows the Mississippi River
from the Plymouth Avenue Bridge on the northwest boundary to 10th Avenue
South (west bank) and 6th Avenue S.E. (east bank) on the southeastern
district border. The district extends onto the east river shore to
University Avenue and onto the west river shore along 2nd Street South.
The area encompasses 800 acres more or less.

As illustrated in the maps accompanying the nomination, the boundaries
enclosed a roughly rectangular section of the Mississippi River corridor.
Extending about one-and-one-half miles in a northwesterly-southeasterly
direction through downtown Minneapolis, the corridor included a strip of land,
a few blocks deep, on each shore. The Falls of St. Anthony occupied the
corridor‘’s downstream or southern end. According to the Minnesota Historical
Society (MHS) staff person who supervised the nomination project, the
district’s boundaries were partly based on the findings of a windshield
survey, which had attempted to identify those properties associated with the
industrialization of the Falls and the attendant settlement of Minneapolis.

No inventory forms, however, were compiled in 1971 on any of the dozens of
historic properties within the district, and the nomination itself briefly
described only_21 buildings, structures, and landscape features of "special
significance." Most had been mentioned in a recent history of the area,
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Lucille Kane’s The Waterfall that Built a City (St. Paul: Minnesota Historical
Society, 1966). With regard to significance, the preparer of the St. Anthony
Falls nomination took the approach that the district’s historical significance
had already been well established, and that it was sufficient to present a
brief summary of the Falls’ history with a footnote reference to Kane.

The St. Anthony Falls District Nomination was listed on the National Register
in March of 1971, and that same year, the Minnesota State Legislature
established a state historic district with the same name and boundaries. The
legislature also authorized the creation of the Minneapolis Historic
Preservation Commission (HPC), assigning it design review powers within the
state’s St. Anthony Falls district. In its National Register guise, the
historic district was subject to review by the "State Liaison Office" (later
State Historic Preservation Office, or SHPO), an agency attached to the MHS
that was responsible for assessing federally involved projects on the state’s
cultural resources, as authorized by Section 106 of the National Historic
Preservation Act.

The St. Anthony Falls Historic District was not yet a year old when the "106"
review process triggered a re-evaluation of its boundaries. In February 1972,
the Minnesota Department of Transportation officially notified MHS director
Russell W. Fridley, in his capacity as State Liaison Officer, that the
district‘s upstream, or northern, end lay in the path of a proposed interstate
highway project. In accordance with 106 procedures, Fridley requested MHS
staff to conduct a survey of the affected area to evaluate the highway’s
potential impact. On the basis of the survey findings, Fridley concluded that
although the highway project would not adversely affect any significant
resources (archaeological resources were not considered), it would be an
impediment to the district as it was constituted. His recommendation was to
eliminate the project area from the district. Writing to the Keeper of the
Register on February 28, 1972, Fridley described both the problem and the

solution:

In essence this highway right-of-way would establish a dividing barrier
between the northern and southern portions of the historic district. An
intensive survey of the northern portion of the historic district was
conducted to determine the degree of historic significance this area
would contribute to the district as a whole. Results of this survey
indicate no sites of historic or architectural significance of a
contributing nature in the area of the historic district north of the
proposed...right-of-way. A change of boundaries as indicated herewith is
therefor considered justified as a solution to this situation. Such a
solution will have no adverse effects on the St. Anthony Falls Historic

District.5

Basically, Fridley was suggesting that the district’s original northern
boundary had been incorrectly drawn. Since "error in original nomination” was
was one of the two reasons then deemed acceptable for reducing a district’s
area (the other being loss of historical integrity), the National Register
approved Fridley’s recommendation. Officially adopted in January 1973, the
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revised boundary was drawn along the southern right-of-way of the proposed
highway corridor, resulting in an s-curved line beginning between the feet of
10th and 9th Avenues North on the west side of the river, intersecting the
east bank of the river at the foot of 7th Avenue NE, and then extending to
University Avenue between 2nd and 3rd Avenues NE. This basically eliminated
a residential area in the district’s northeastern quadrant, about half of Boom
Island on the east bank, and a small area at the far northwestern end of the
district. The highway was never built.

The 106 review process underscored the difficulty of administering a historic
district without detailed historical information on its constituent resources.
This problem became all the more pressing in the mid-1970s, when the City of
Minneapolis embarked on an aggressive campaign for downtown riverfront
renewal, establishing the municipally-funded Riverfront Development
Coordination Board (RDCB) to promote and orchestrate public and private
redevelopment efforts.’ The jurisdictional boundary of the RDCB was slightly
different from the St. Anthony Falls Historic District, with the RDCB boundary
line running down 1lst Street rather than 2nd Street on the west side north of
Third Avenue and the southern limit extending to the I-35W bridge.

In the fall of 1977, the RDCB sponsored the first intensive architectural
survey of the St. Anthony Falls Historic District. During the 18-month
project, a team of architects and historians compiled detailed research and
field-inspection dossiers on approximately 140 properties within and adjacent
to the historic district. The project’s major findings were published in St.
. Anthony Falls Rediscovered (1980).

The RDCB survey conclusively demonstrated that the St. Anthony Falls Historic
District was indeed rich in historic resources, but it was also
architecturally and historically diverse. On the basis of general historical
patterns and surviving building stock, the final survey report divided the
historic district into five "thematic" neighborhoods:

1. North First Street Warehouse Area, consisting primarily of massive
brick warehouses built for jobbers of agricultural implements
during the period 1880 to 1910.

2. Nicollet Island, most notable for a collection of wood-framed
houses and tenements constructed on the island’s upstream end
during the period 1870 to 1900.

3. East Hennepin-Central Avenue Commercial Area, consisting primarily
of early twentieth century retail establishments serving the

northeast Minneapolis residential community.

4. University Avenue Southeast Residential Area, made up of houses
dating from the mid-1860s through the early twentieth century.

S. ﬁast Side Milling Area, dominated by two early twentieth century
hydroelectric plants and the two-block Pillsbury A Flour Mill
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complex with the oldest portions dating to the early 1880s.

6. West Side Milling Area, containing five former mills mostly dating
from the 1880s along with several industrial facilities associated
with flour milling such as grain elevators and a former barrel

factory.

While the RDCB survey of the late 1970s documented the architectural inventory
of the St. Anthony Falls Historic District, almost no thought had been given
to the district’s archaeological resources. The original nomination had not
mentioned the archaeological potentials of the district and neither had the
boundary revision study in 1972. What the RDCB building survey did for the
architectural inventory, the archaeological survey required by the 106 review
of the West River Parkway project in the 1980s did for the archaeological
inventory. While the Parkway survey involved only the west bank of the river,
it clearly demonstrated the potential for significant archaeological sites
existing throughout the entire district. A subsequent survey for the Hennepin
Avenue bridge replacement confirmed this.

In early 1980, the Minneapolis Park and Recreation Board (MPRB) proposed
extending the West River Parkway through the central riverfront of Minneapolis
as part of the federally sponsored Great River Road program. An inventory of
potential archaeological sites was put together based on an intensive
literature search and this inventory guided the MHS archaeological survey of
the proposed parkway route. The inventory was published in Scott F. Anfinson
Archaeological Potentials on the West Side of the Central Minneapolis
Waterfront (St. Paul:Minnesota Historical Society, 1984). It identified over
60 potential archaeological sites along the parkway corridor. The initial
archaeological survey examined twelve sites, two of which were 19th century
refuse dumps not identified by the literature search.9 Subsequent
archaeological surveys for the West River Parkway and the replacement of the
Hennepin Avenue Bridge have intensively examined a number of sites in the St.
Anthony Falls Historic District.lo In 1989, an inventory of potential
archaeological sites along both sides of the central Minneapolis riverfront
was published in The Minnesota Archaeoclogist.

Efforts to redevelop the central riverfront in Minneapolis intensified in the
1980s. The concentration of historic structures and archaeological sites were
initially viewed by many as obstacles to be overcome for successful
revitalization, but a change of attitude became apparent in the later part of
the decade. As commercial and residential developments struggled to compete
with the established retail core west of the river and with the suburbs,
historical resources suddenly took on a new role as riverfront amenities. In
1988, the Minnesota legislature established the St. Anthony Falls Heritage
Board to promote historic interpretation. The Board is currently reviewing
final plans for a heritage trail along the central riverfront.

With the increased interest in the St. Anthony Falls area brought on by both
rapid development and intensive architectural and archaeclogical surveys, it

became all the more clear that original National Register nomination was
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woefully inadequate to deal with both the needs of historic preservation and
the needs of historic interpretation. Since the North First Street Warehouse
Area was the furthest removed from the Falls in terms of both location and
theme and since only a small portion of the area was actually included in the
St. Anthony Falls Historic District’s boundaries, it became the first target
for administrative re-evaluation by the SHPO. In 1985, a volunteer
architectural historian undertook an intensive survey of the warehouse area.
Four years later, this study resulted in the creation of a new National
Register district, the Minneapolis Warehouse Historic District. The eastern
third of this new district was included in the St. Anthony Falls District.

The "double listing" of the North First Street Warehouse Area underscored the
three main weaknesses of the original St. Anthony Falls Historic District
nomination - an inadequate inventory of contributing properties, a vague and
perhaps inappropriate boundary definition, and the lack of a coherent,
unifying theme in the significance statement. Changes in the warehouse area
since 1971 also illustrated the need to list the non-contributing elements in
the district; some areas of the district had undergone extensive changes since
the original nomination perhaps seriously impairing the district’s overall
integrity. ' '

In 1988, the SHPO squarely confronted the problems of the St. Anthony Falls
Historic District by sponsoring a re-evaluation of the district’s resources in
the light of a single unifying theme that seemed to be both historically
appropriate and highly focused. This theme was waterpower. The project’s
principal investigator, Jeffrey A. Hess, had served as lead historian for the
RDCB-sponsored intensive architecture survey of the district in 1978. He also
was simultaneously researching the history of Minnesota‘’s hydroelectric :
industry, which helggd place the Falls of St. Anthony within a broader
waterpower context. The re-evaluation of the Falls district had two main
components: an intensive resurvey of the area immediately adjacent to the
Falls and the preparation of a new district nomination. The St. Anthony Falls
Waterpower Area information presented in the continuation sheets is the result

of this study.

When it became clear that Hess was going to recommend that the St. Anthony
Falls Historic District be significantly reduced in size, retaining only the
waterpower area adjacent to the Falls, the SHPO sponsored three new studies
aimed at documenting and ultimately re-listing the significant properties that
would be deleted from the St. Anthony Falls District. Historian Norene Roberts
was contracted to prepare registration documentation for six individual
buildings and historian Jacqueline Sluss of Thomas Zahn Associates was
contracted to do the same for the north Nicollet Island residential area. MHS
archaeologists Robert Clouse and Scott Anfinson, who had both worked on the
West River Parkway and Hennepin Avenue Bridge surveys, were asked to prepare
documentation on any significant archaeological sites that would be deleted if
Hess'’' recommendations were followed. All of the sites included here have been
documented through excavation. It should be noted that many other
archaeological sites no doubt still exist in the district besides these sites
and the ones discussed in the St. Anthony Falls Waterpower Area.
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While Hess had provided strong reasoning to reduce the limits of the St.
Anthony Falls Historic District on the basis of thematic significance and the
" lack of historic buildings or structures in certain areas,l discussions with
the National Register staff suggested that it would be improper to recommend a
reduction in the district’s boundaries based on thematic inappropriateness or
inappropriate boundary definition in the original nomination because
properties listed in the National Register prior to December 13, 1980 may only
be removed if "the property has ceased to meet the criteria for listing in the
National Register because the gualities which caused it to be originally
listed have been lost or destroyed..."15 While portions of the district could
be removed for loss of integrity, areas in the St. Anthony Falls District
(e.g., Hennepin-Central Avenue Commercial Area) that could be deleted for
architectural reasons are not well understood archaeologically. As perhaps was
the case in the 1973 revision of the boundaries, deletions based on standing
structures alone would also bé inappropriate.

Thus it was ultimately decided by the SHPO that rather than propose an overall
district boundary change, the data collected by the various contractors would
be submitted as additional information on continuation sheets. This
information should provide the detailed inventory data that was lacking in the
original nomination regarding selected areas and individual properties that
are currently deemed to be the most important. Due to the manner in which the
data was collected, a new significance statement for the entire district is
not presented here, although significance statements appear on the attached
continuation sheets for the 11 individual properties and 2 areas that were
studied. These statements, along with the significance statement for the
Minneapolis Warehouse District, cover most of the aspects of significance for
the St. Anthony Falls District as a whole.

The information that follows is presented in four basic sections:

~ St. Anthony Falls Waterpower Area
Nicollet Island Residential Area
Individual Buildings
- Ard Godfrey House
- Eastman Townhouses
— Our Lady of Lourdes Church
- Island Sash and Door Factory
- Pillsbury Public Library
- Minneapolis Post Office, Main Station
Individual Archaeological Sites
- C, SP, M and O RR Roundhouse
- West Side Power Plant
- Pacific Sawmill
- Hennepin Avenue Bridge Archaeological Site
- Gateway Residential Area

This introductory statement was written by Jeffrey A. Hess of Hess, Roise and
Company and Scott F. Anfinson, National Register Archaeologist for the
Minnesota SHPO.




Notes
Donn Coddington, National Register of Historic Places Nomination
Form for St. Anthony Falls Historic District, prepared February 1,
1971; approved March 11, 1971.

Jeffrey Hess interview with Donn Coddington, April 4, 1990.

The 21 properties listed on the original nomination were the Falls
of St. Anthony, Old Main Street, the Pillsbury A Mill, the Union

"Iron Works (Upton) Building, 127 Main St. SE (Martin-Morrison

Building), Pracna Building, Washburn A Mill, Crown Roller Mill,
Standard Mill, Humboldt Mill, North Star Woolen Mill, Hall and
Dann Barrel Company, Minneapolis Eastern RR Engine House, Ard
Godfrey House, Our Lady of Lourdes Church, Pillsbury Library,

. Stone Arch Bridge, Third Avenue Bridge, Lucy Wilder Morris Park,

Nicollet Island, and Eastman Flats. Each property is described in
a brief paragraph.

For further discussion of these overlapping boundaries and
jurisdictions, see Gail Bonner, A Review of the Boundaries of St.
Anthony Falls Historic District (Minneapolis: City Planning

Department, 1981), pp. 6-9.

Russell W. Fridley, State Liaison Officer to William J. Murtagh,
Keeper of the National Register, February 28, 1972, in St. Anthony
Falls Historic District file, State Historic Preservation Office,
Minnesota Historical Society (hereafter cited as SHPO).

"As you are aware, properties listed on the National Register may
be removed for only the following reasons:
1) an error in the.original nomination
2) the historic integrity of the site has been so changed
that the property no longer merits National Register

recognition.
In this instance it appears that there was an error in delimiting
the Historic District boundary..."; John D. McDermot, Advisory

Council on Historic Preservation to Russell W. Fridley, MHS,
December 7, 1972, in SHPO. For the National Register’s approval of
the new boundaries, see Jerry L. Rodgers, Chief of Registration,
National Register to Russell W, Fridley, MHS, January 18, 1973, in

SHPO.

For a sample of riverfront develcpment plans prepared by
Minneapolis city agencies during this period, see Reynold Carlson
and others, The Mississippi River in Minneapolis (Minneapolis:
Minneapolis Park and Recreation Board, 1975); Phil Handy and
others, Mill City Area Minneapolis, (Minneapolis Housing and
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10.

11.

12.

13.

Redevelopment Authority, 1976); Riverfront ‘76, Final Status
Report on Riverfront Activities of the Minneapolis ‘76 Commission
(Minneapolis: Minneapolis ‘76 Commission, 1976); Central

Riverfront Development, Minneapolis, Minnesota (Minneapolis:

Minneapolis Riverfront Development Coordination Board, 1978).

The RDCB survey incorporated data on Nicollet Island compiled
during an earlier survey sponscored by the Minneapolis Housing and
Redevelopment Authority; see Mill-Dunwiddie Architects, Inc.,
"Historic Preservation Feasibility Study: Nicollet Island and East
Bank Urban Renewal Project,"” unpublished report prepared for
Minneapolis Housing and Redevelopment Authority, 1974. For the
complete findings of the RDCB survey, see MacDonald and Mack
Partnership and others, "Restoration and Preservation Research and
Planning Study, Saint Anthony Falls Historic District Located
within the Minneapolis Central Riverfront Area," unpublished
report prepared for the Minneapolis Riverfront Development

. Coordination Board, 1979. The full citation of the published

version is MacDonald and Mack Partnership and others, St. Anthony
Falls Rediscovered, ed., James Berman (Minneapolis: Minneapolis
Riverfront Development Coordination Board, 1980).

Jeffrey Tordoff, "A Phase 1 Archaeological Survey of the
West River Parkway, Minneapolis, Hennepin County, Minnesota."
(St. Paul: Minnesota Historical Society, 1984).

Jeffrey Tordoff, "Phase 1 Archaeological Testing of the Fuji-Ya
Parking Lot and Palisade Mill Sites." (St. Paul: Minnesota
Historical Society, St. Paul, 1986); Jeffrey Tordoff and Robert
Clouse, "The Hennepin Avenue Bridge Archaeology Project," (St.
Paul: Minnesota Historical Society, 1985); Jeffrey Tordoff and
Robert Clouse, "Archaeological Excavations Along the Proposed West
River Parkway 1986, Minneapolis, Hennepin County, Minnesota." (St.
Paul: Minnesota Historical Society, 1986); David Szondy and
Robert Clouse, "Archaeology Along the West River Parkway, 1989,
Minneapblis, Minnesota," (St. Paul: Minnesota Historical Society,
St. Paul, 1990). These are all contract completion reports on file
at SHPO.

Scott F. Anfinson, "Archaeology of the Central Minneapolis
Riverfront, Part 1l: Historical Overview and Archaeological
Potentials," The Minnesota Archaeologist Vol. 48., 1989.

Rolf T. Anderson, National Register of Historic Places
Registration Form for Minneapolis Warehouse Historic District,
January 1987, approved, 1989.

Jeffrey A. Hess, "Hydroelectric Generating Facilities in
Minnesota, 1881-1928," National Register of Historic Places
Multiple Property Documentation Form, 1988.
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14.

15.

In defining the resurvey zone, tentatively eliminated from
consideration were the East Hennepin-Central Avenue Commercial
Area and the University Avenue Southeast Residential Area on the
east side of the river and the area between Third Avenue and
Hennepin Avenue on the west side of the river because: 1)
aggressive recent construction had effectively isclated the East
Hennepin-Central Avenue Commercial Area from the riverfront, 2)
there were few if any important historic buildings in the
University Avenue Southeast Residential Area, and 3) urban renewal
had extensively decimated the historic architecture of the area of
exclusion on the west side of the river.

See CFR 60.15(b), p. 56194.
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NPS Form 10-900-a OMB Approval No. 1024-0018
(8-86)

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES St. Anthony Falls Historic District

CONTINUATION SHEET St. Anthony Falls Waterpower Area
Minneapolis, Hennepin Co., MN

Section number 1-6 Page 1

1. Name of Property
Historic Name: St. Anthony Falls Historic District,

St. Anthony Falls Waterpower Area

2. Location
Street & Number: Roughly bounded by South Second Street, Third

Avenue Bridge, Southeast Second Street, and the alignment
across the Mississippi River of Fifth Avenue Southeast and
Tenth Avenue South.

State: Minnesota Code: MN County: Hennepin Code: 053

Zip Code: 55401, 55414, 55415

3. Classification
Number of Resources: 20 contributing buildings
15 contributing structures
33 contributing sites
68 Total contributing

11 non-contributing buildings
11 non-contributing structures
22 Total non-contributing

Number of contributing resources previously listed: 13

6. Function or Use
Historic Functions: INDUSTRY/manufacturing facility; energy

facility ’

TRANSPORTATION/rail related

Current Functions: COMMERCE/TRADE/specialty store; business;
restaurant
DOMESTIC/hotel
VACANT/NOT IN USE
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7. Description

Architectural Classification: Other: mill construction

Materials: Foundation: Stone/limestone
. Walls: Brick; Stone/limestone
Roof: Wood
Other: Concrete

GENERAL DESCRIPTION OF HISTORIC DISTRICT

The St. Anthony Falls Waterpower Area encloses a roughly rectangular section
of the St. Anthony Falls Historic District at the district’s downstream
(southeastern) end. The area’s configuration primarily reflects the historic
patterns of waterpower development and use at the Falls of St. Anthony. The
upstream limit is the Falls of St. Anthony Dam. Spanning the Mississippi
River just above the Falls of St. Anthony, the dam is the headworks of the
entire waterpower. On the east side of the river, the area extends downstream
about four blocks, terminating at Pillsbury Warehouse Number 2 at Fifth Avenue
Southeast. On the west side, the area is about six blocks long, with its
downstream limit defined by Washburn-Crosby Company Elevator Number 2 at Tenth
Avenue South. The warehouse and elevator were each associated with a
waterpowered milling complex, and as such, they represent the outer limits of
the dam’s influence.

Between the area‘’s upstream and downstream boundaries, each side of the river
displays a visually well-defined‘industrial zone, customarily known as the
East Side Milling District and the West Side Milling District. Facing each
other across the river from their respective bluffs, the milling districts
extend back from the bluff line from one to two blocks, roughly bounded by
Southeast Second Street on the east side of the river, and Socuth Second Street
on the west side. These boundaries also define the width of the historic
area. In addition to the two-block-wide strip of gridded industrial land on
top of the river bluff, each milling district also contains an ungridded
inshore area, sloping from the top of the bluff to the edge of the river. The
inshore regions include the remains of former islands that have been attached
to the bank by fill, most notably Hennepin Island on the east side, and Upton

Island on the west side.

Although physically separated by the Mississippi River, the two milling
districts were part of a single technological system based on the waterpower
generated by the Falls of St. Anthony Dam. Shaped like a giant "V" pointing
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upstream, the timber-cribbed dam guided the river into a power canal on each
bluff, extending along Southeast Main Street on the east side, and South First
Street on the west side. The canals supplied waterpower to mills constructed
along their route, giving the milling districts their characteristic linear
configuration: Typically, a mill drew waterpower from the canal by means of a
short headrace, and returned the spent flow to the river by means of a
considerably longer tailrace that cut through the inshore area. For mills on
the inland side of the canal, the tailraces tunneled beneath the canal to the
inshore area and the river. For the most part, the land closest to the canal
was occupied by waterpowered mills, while outlying areas in the district
contained industrial support facilities, such as machine shops, barrel
manufacturers, grain elevators, railroad maintenance shops, and warehouses.

Since the Falls of St. Anthony Dam was the progenitor of the waterpower
distribution system, its completion date of 1858 marks the beginning of the
area’s period of significance. Of the 96 properties in the historic area,
only the Upton Block at 129 Southeast Main Street antedates the dam.
Constructed as a commercial building in 1855, it was eventually converted into
an iron works specializing in milling equipment. Until about 1870, the two
milling districts were fairly diversified in terms of their waterpowered
industries, although sawmilling predominated. Unlike the other mills at the
falls, the sawmills generally did not stand alongside the canals. Instead,
they occupied millsites on the east-side and west-side walls of the dam,
drawing waterpower directly from the millponds. After 1870 Minneapolis flour
millers increasingly dominated the waterpower at the falls, which was a direct
result-of their deVeloping a new technology that, for the first time, made it
highly profitable to process Minnesota hard spring wheat. The new flouring
technology triggered a mill-building boom, which was furthered stimulated by
the catastrophic explosion of the First Washburn "A" Mill in the west side
district in 1878.. By reducing a good deal of the west side district to
rubble, the explosion induced mill owners to rebuild along the most modern
lines. Their efforts encouraged competitors who had survived the explosion
unscathed to follow suit. The area‘s most prominent surviving buildings,
including all five waterpowered flour mills, were constructed shortly after
the 1878 explosion. Massive brick and limestone complexes, four to seven
stories in height, these buildings give the historic district both its
streetscape density and utilitarian-industrial architectural character.

As flour milling consolidated its hold on the two milling districts in the
1880s, other waterpowered industries left the falls, with the notable
exception of the North Star Woolen Mill at 109 Portland Avenue. In 1889,
ownership of the waterpower, previously divided between rival east-side and
west-side factions, passed to a single company, which, during the next two
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decades, encouraged the development of hydroelectricity on the east side of
the river. At present, the area’s only active example of waterpowered
industry is the Hennepin Island Hydroelectric Plant, constructed in 1908. 1In
addition, waterpower devices are tested at the St. Anthony Falls Hydraulic
Laboratory, operated by the University of Minnesota. Completed on Hennepin
Island in 1938, the Hydraulic Laboratory represents the last historic fabric
added to the area before the conclusion of its period of significance in 1940.

Virtually no new construction took place in the area until the early 1960s,
when the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers built the Upper Lock on the west side.
This project shut off the river from the west side power canal, which was
subsequently backfilled and paved to form South First Street. Since the east
side canal had been abandoned in the 1950s, the Upper Lock construction
effectively closed the era of waterpowered flour milling in Minneapolis.
Almost all subsequent construction in the area occurred during the 1980s, when
developers converted several abandoned industrial buildings on both sides of
the river into office, retail, restaurant, and hotel space. This construction
program sharpened the area’s visual boundaries by placing architecturally
incompatible, high-rise, brick, residential complexes adjacent to the area’s
northwest and southwest corners. Within the area itself, most development has
conformed to the Secretary of the Interior’s standards for the rehabilitation
of historic buildings. Consequently, remodeling and infill construction has
generally been compatible with the historic integrity of the buildings and
their streetscapes. The area has also experienced a limited amount of park
development, mostly confined to the northeast quadrant of Hennepin Island,
which contains the only exposed section of natural falls escarpment in the
region. The park’s rustic treatment is an appropriate setting for this
important historic landscape site of the pre-industrialized era.

The St. Anthony Falls Waterpower Area contains 68 contributing resources and
22 non-contributing resources. For the most part, the non-contributing
resources represent unobtrusive park facilities and compatible infill
construction. The contributing resources comprise 20 buildings, 15
structures, and 33 sites. The vast majority of the sites are historical
archaeological properties in the West Side Milling District, marking the
location of demolished waterpower mills that once lined the area’s power canal
(itself an historic archaeological site preserved beneath the pavement of
South First Street). Most of the mills were demolished during the 1930s and
1960s, and the sites are now occupied by undeveloped brush-covered land,
bituminous~-surfaced parking lots, and an extended gravel storage yard.
Although few ruins show above grade, the sites preserve original wheel pit and
raceway systems, which were constructed as deep as 40 feet beneath the

surface.
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DESCRIPTIONS OF INDIVIDUAL PROPERTIES

Although the overall orientation of the Mississippi River is north-south, the
river happens to flow east-west through downtown Minneapolis. Traditionally,
the local citizenry has ignored the river’s momentary aberration and referred
to its banks as-"east" and "west," which is reflected in such historic

- designations as the "East Sidé Milling District" and the "West Side Milling
District.™ 1In this stﬁdy, we follow local usage when referring to the river’s
banks, milling districts, and riverine structures, such as the Falls of St.
Anthony Dam. It should be understood, however, that when we specify
directions for any property situated on the shore, we are referring to
approximate compass points. The reader should therefore bear in mind that
even though the Washburn A Mill, for example, stands on the "west" side of the
river and is part of the "West" Side Milling District, its river facade is
described in this study as facing north, which, in fact, is its approximate
cardinal-point orientation.

’

The descriptions of individual properties are divided into the following three

sections: (1) buildings and structures; (2) historic landscape sites; (3)
historic archaeological sites. The properties themselves are numbered
consecutively.

Buildings and Structures

For the most part, the descriptions presented below derive their historical
information from the following sources: Lucille M. Kane, The Falls of St.
Anthony (St. Paul: Minnesota Historical Society, 1987); MacDonald and Mack
Partnership, and others, St. Anthony Falls Rediscovered (Minneapolis:
Riverfront Development Coordination Board, 1981); Herbert W. Meyer, Builders
of Northern States Power, ed., Thomas A. Morrow (Northern States Power
Company, 1957); Robert Murray Frame, III, The Progressive Millers: A Cultural
and Intellectual Portrait of the Flour Milling Industry, 1870-1930, Focusing
on Minneapolis, Minnesota (Ann Arbor, MI: University Microfilms
International; University of Minnesota Ph.D thesis, 1980); James L. Greenleaf,
"Report on the Water-Power of the Mississippi River and Some of Its
Tributaries,” Reports on the Water-Power of the United States, Part II
(Washington: Government Printing Office, 1887). More specific bibliographic
information can be found in individual site files in the possession of the
State Historic Preservation Office, Minnesota Historical Society.
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1. Historic Name: Falls of St. Anthony Dam

Common Name: Upper Dam ‘

Location: Crossing the Mississippi River immediately above the Falls of
St. Anthony

Engineer: Charles Henry Bigelow

Date: 1858

In 1857, the Minneapolis Mill Company and St. Anthony Falls Water Power
Company began building a rock-filled, timber-crib dam above the Falls of St.
Anthony to channel the river into millponds along either shore. The
Minneapolis company was responsible for the west half of the structure; the
St. Anthony company for the east half. The dam’s overall design was
apparently the work of Charles Henry Bigelow, a prominent waterpower engineer
in the employ of the Essex Company of Lawrence, Massachusetts. Upon
completion in 1858, the main structure measured about 2,100 feet in length,
pointing upstream in the shape of a lopsided "V," the west leg being somewhat
longer than the east leg. The legs of the V were attached to their respective
shores by perpendicular wing dams used as sawmill sites. On the east side,
"sawmill row" joined the riverbank just north of Central Avenue; on the west
side, it met the shore about halfway between Fifth Avenue South and Portland
Avenue. Standing approximately 20 feet high near the west bank and 14 feet
high near the east bank, the dam gradually sloped to about 4 feet at the apex
of the V, which served as an overflow section. In the mid-1890s, the St.
Anthony Falls Dam became known as the "Upper Dam," to distinguish it from a
masonry, hydroelectric dam completed at that time about one-half mile
downstream. This later structure was demolished in the 1950s.

Over the years, the Upper Dam has experienced several modifications. These
include the rebuilding of the east side wing dam near the foot of Second

" Avenue Southeast in 1870; the linking of the legs of the V by means of two,
parallel, timber-crib dams in 1876; the replacement of several timber-crib
sections with limestone construction in the 1880s and 1890s; the addition of
two limestone wasteways on the west side of Hennepin Island in 1890s; and the
replacement of the west side wing dam by the Upper Lock in the 1960s. Despite
these alterations, the structure retains a good measure of integrity. Its
original V-shaped configuration is essentially unchanged, and it still
functions as a waterpower facility, providing head for the Hennepin Island
Hydroelectric Plant (see No. 38).

This property consists of one contributing structure.
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5. Historic Name: Hall and Dann Barrel Company Factory

Common Name: Mill Place

Address: 111 Third Avenue South

Date: 1880; 1884

Architect: Original architect unknown

In 1877, Albert R.. Hall and Marcus C. Dann formed a partnership to manufacture
barrels for the Minneapolis flour industry. They built their first factory at
the foot of Tenth Avenue South. 1In 1880, they moved their operation to the
Third Avenue site and soon established a reputation as the country’s leading
barrel works. Correctly anticipating packaging changes, the company entered
bag manufacturing in the 1880s, and changed its named to the Northern Bag
Company in 1915. 1In the 1920s, the factory became a general warehouse, and so
remained for the next six decades. In the mid-1980s, the former barrel
factory was renovated into office space. The complex consists of two main
buildings joined by additions.

1880 Building

Fronting Third Avenue South, the original factory was a four-story,
flat-roofed, brick building. The five-bay facade featured paired
windows in shallow arch openings, set in recessed panels separated by
pilaster strips. 1In 1901, a fifth story was added, continuing the
earlier facade treatment.

1884 Building

The second building in the complex was a four-story, flat-roofed, brick
edifice erected on the corner of Third Avenue South and South First
Street, just to the north of the original factory building. The five-
bay facade featured paired windows in hooded, segmental-arched openings
through the first three floors, highlighted by Palladian-type windows in
the center bay, and rectangular windows on the upper story. The
northeast corner of this building was truncated to accommodate the curve
of adjacent railroad trackage. During the early years, a one-story
wood~frame addition joined the two buildings at the rear. 1In 1896, a
four~story brick addition was constructed, joining the Third Avenue
facades. Finally, in 1906, a one-story addition filled in the remaining

space between the buildings.

In 1985, the complex was renovated as office space under the name of "Mill
Place." Major exterior changes included replacement of all window frames and
sash, and the removal of the 1896 and 1906 infill additions. A new recessed,
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pedimented, glass-atrium entry bay was constructed which extends above the
adjacent building’s roof lines. The new entry features birch, double-leaf
doors, protected by a glass shed-roof awning. Qualifying as an Investment Tax
Credit project, the renovation safeguarded the complex’s integrity by meeting
the Secretary of Interior’s standards for rehabilitation of historic
buildings.

This property consists of two contributing buildings.

6. Historic/Common Name: Bridge No. L8900
Location: Crosses South First Street, east of Third Avenue South
Architect/Engineer: Unknown
Date: 1891

Carrying South First Street across the former rail corridor of the Chicago and
North Western Railway, Bridge No. L8900 is a single-span, through, plate-
girder highway bridge with limestone abutments. It measures 85 feet in length
and 35 feet in width. Supported by metal brackets, a plank sidewalk extends
along the bridge’s south elevation. When completed in 1891, the bridge
spanned the tracks of the Minneapolis and St. Louis Railway, one of the major
lines serving the West Side Milling District. 1In 1961, the Minneapolis and
St. Louis was taken over by the Chicago and North Western Railway, which
eventually removed the trackage. The bridge’s numerical designation has been
assigned by the Minnesota Department of Transportation.

This property consists of one contributing structure.

7. Historic/Common Name: Minneapolis Eastern Railway Company Enginehouse
Address: 333 South First Street
Architect/Engineer: Unknown
Date: 1914

Erected as an enginehouse in 1914 by the Minneapolis Eastern Railway Company,
this one-story, flat-roofed, brick building incorporated the interior walls of
a small brick office built by the company on the same site in 1902. The
enginehouse features a long, narrow, rectangular plan. Each of the long
facades is divided into recessed panels by pilasters and corbelling. Window
and door openings are placed within the panels and capped by segmental arches.
Originally, a large door was located on the east facade to accommodate
railroad engines.
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Incorporated in 1878, the Minneapolis Eastern Railway Company was formed to
accommodate the rapidly expanding need of the west side flour millers for
shipping and receiving. Sponsored by the Milwaukee and Omaha Roads, the new
railway was a "switching line," shuttling cars of flour and grain between the
various mills and the rail yards of the natiocnal carriers. As flour
production declined during the 1930s and 1940s, the railroad expanded its
switching capabilities to include the city’s warehouse district located
slightly upriver. It ceased operations in 1972.

In the mid-1970s, the building was remodeled into a restaurant. At that time,
original windows were replaced, the engine door was infilled, a brick porte-
cochere was added to the south facade, and three railroad cars were
incorporated as additions. These alterations qualified as a certified Tax Act
project that met the Secretary of Interior’s standards for rehabilitation.
After the restaurant closed in the late 1980s, the box-car additions were
removed to make way for a high-rise apartment complex constructed immediately
to the south. Since these additions were not historic fabric, their removal

did not affect the building’s integrity.

This property consists of one contributing building.

8. Historic/Common Name: Fuji-Ya Restaurant
Address: 420 South First Street
Architect: Shinichi Okada/Newton Griffith
Date: 1968

This building is constructed over the partially exposed foundations of the
Columbia Flour Mill and the Bassett Sawmill enginehouse. Capped by a glazed,
wood penthouse with a flat roof, exterior walls are concrete block with a
stucco-like finish. Because of the sloping lot, the building shows one story
to South First Street and two stories to the river. A modest entrance,
recessed and covered by a flat wood roof, is located on the building’s
southeast corner. A band of floor-to-ceiling windows stretches across the
building’s north facade, facing the river. In 1974, a lower-level addition on
the north facade created a new band of windows below the original.

This property consists of one non-contributing building, due to its
construction after the district’s period of significance.
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9. Historic Name: Crown Roller Mill

Common Name: Crown Mill
Address: 105 Fifth Avenue South
Architect/Engineer: W.F. Gunn
Date: 1880; 1908

As originally constructed, the Crown Roller Mill was a six-story, cream-
colored, brick building on a raised limestone foundation. Pilaster strips
divided the walls into recessed panels, each containing a single vertical row
of segmental-arched windows with decorative brickwork highlighted by red
stones at the imposts and key. The mill building was capped by a galvanized-
iron mansard roof pierced by pedimented dormer windows. With its fashionable
roof and four "finished" facades, the Crown Roller Mill was considered the
architectural jewel of the west side milling district.

In 1908, a two-story, brick-and-concrete boiler house and engine room was
added on the mill’s east side, along with a 175-foot, cylindrical, concrete
smokestack. In 1944, the original mansard roof was replaced by a one-story
red-brick addition with a flat roof.

In October 1983, a fire destroyed much of the Crown Mill‘s upper floors,
gutting the interior, and causing a portion of the walls to collapse. 1In
1987, the mill building was renovated and converted for use as office space.
Using new brick to match the original, the collapsed walls were reconstructed,
and a new standing-seam, copper-clad mansard roof with pedimented, gabled
dormer windows was constructed. The building also received a new primary
entrance on its south facade.

During the remodeling, one of the mill’s two waterpower turbines was removed
so that the wheel.pit and tailrace could be used as a storm sewer. The other
turbine was preserved in its wheel pit. Before renovation, the mill was
documented according to Level 2 Standards of the Historic American Engineering
Record (see HAER No. MN-12). The renovation itself was a certified Tax Act
project conforming to the Secretary of Interior’s standards for rehabilitation

of historic buildings.

In the mid-1870s C.M. Hardenberg, owner and operator of the Minnesota Iron
Works, created a partnership with Llewellyn and John A. Christian to build a
model flour mill on the site of his factory in the West Side Milling District.
Hardenberg and the Christians, who at the time were managing the Washburn "A"
Mill, incorporated as Christian Brothers and Company. Completed in 1880, the
Crown Roller Mill drew waterpower from the south side of the district’s main
Power Canal (see No. 53). After passing through the turbines, the flow
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returned to the river through a tailrace that tunnelled under the Power Canal.
The mill was purchased in 1891 by Northwestern Consolidated Milling Company,
which eventually owned eight mills and several elevators in the west side
district. A decade later, Northwestern Consolidated became a subsidiary of
Standard Milling Company, and in 1935, the firm was completely absorbed by its
parent company. Converted to electricity in 1933, the Crown remained in
operation until the early 1950s. It was the second largest flour mill on the

west side.

This property consists of one contributing building.

10. Historic Name: Northwestern Consolidated Milling Company Elevator A
Common Name: Ceresota Office Building
Address: 155 Fifth Avenue South
Architect/Engineer: G.T. Honstain
Date: 1908

Northwestern Consolidated Elevator A is a flat-roofed, rectangular-plan, brick
building. Constructed with a one-million-bushel capacity in 1908, it was
designed to clean and store grain for the neighboring Crown Roller Mill and
Standard Mill, with which it was connected by overhead conveyor bridges (see
Nos. 9 and 11). A storehouse section, with 57 square brick bins, comprised
the lower stories, surmounted on the west end by a tower-like workhouse
section. A metal train shed originally adjoined the building’s north side,
sheltering trackage and unloading pits that fed box-car loads of grain into
the mill basement by means of two underground conveyor tunnels. Once inside
the building, the movement of grain relied on three, electrified, rope-driven
elevator legs. Although both the Standard and Crown Mills suspended
operations by the-early 1950s, the elevator remained in service as a general-
purpose grain-storage facility until the mid-1980s.

In 1987, Consolidated Elevator A was stripped of its equipment and bins and
remodeled into commercial office space. Major exterior alterations included
the removal of the train shed and overhead conveyor bridges and the
construction of a three-story, metal-and-glass entrance bay on the north
facade, with a one-story-high, copper-covered canopy wrapping around the west
facade. The original grain-unloading area on the building‘’s north side was
turned into a landscaped concrete court (see No. 12), which resulted in the
demolition of one of the underground conveyor tunnels. The other tunnel was
preserved in place. Before renovation, the building was documented according
to Level 2 standards of the Historic American Engineering Record (see HAER No.
MN-16). The renovation itself was a certified Tax Credit project conforming
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to the Secretary of Interior’s standards. for rehabilitation of historic
buildings.

This property consists of one contributing building.

11. Historic Name: Standard Flour Mill
Common Name: Whitney Hotel
Address: 150 Portland Avenue South
Architect/Engineer: William D. Gray
Date: 1879

When constructed in 1879, the Standard Mill was four stories with a full-
length brick monitor and a full basement. The cream-colored brick was
articulated by a corbelled brick-and-iron cornice, and by pilaster strips
delineating bays with segmental-arched window openings. In 1881, a fifth
floor was added by extending the brick monitor the full width of the building.
A metal-clad monitor was then placed on top.

The Standard Mill was designed by engineer William D. Gray, who is generally
credited with developing the all-roller, gradual-reduction, flour mill system.
According to Gray, the Standard was "the last mill of any size" that he
planned on the "old system," which combined millstones and rollers. The mill
drew waterpower from the south side of the district’s main Power Canal (see
No. 53). The spent flow returned to the river through a tailrace that
tunneled under the Power Canal. Originally owned by Minneapolis millers
Dorilus Morrison and E. V. White, the Standard passed through a number of
corporate hands before its acquisition, in 1902, by the Northwestern
Consolidated Milling Company, which was eventually absorbed by its parent
company, Standard-Milling Company.  The owner of numerous mills in the west
side milling district, Northwestern Consolidated integrated the Standard Mill
into its operations under the name of the "F" Mill. 1In 1933, the mill was
taken off waterpower and electrified. It remained in operation as a flour
mill until the mid-1940s, when it was converted to light manufacturing and

warehousing purposes.

In 1987, the Standard Mill was renovated into a 97~room luxury hotel. The
most noticeable alterations were the construction of a two-story lobby and
elevator tower on the southeast corner, and the rebuilding of the monitor
level in brick. At the same time, the mill’s open headrace at the northwest
corner of the building was enclosed to form a landscaped concrete court for
the use of hotel guests (see No. 13). Before renovation, the mill was
documented according to Level 2 standards of the Historic American Engineering
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Record (see HAER No. MN-14). The renovation itself was a certified Tax Act
project conforming to the Secretary of Interior’s standards for rehabilitation
of historic structures. ’

This property consists of one contributing building.

12. Historic Names: Whitney Garden Plaza
Address: Fifth Avenue South at South Second Street .
Architect: Bennett, Ringrose, Wolsfeld, Jarvis, Gardner, Inc. (BRW)

Date: 1987

The Whitney Garden Plaza is a concrete court sheltered by the Crown Roller
Mill on the north, the Northwestern Consolidated Company Elevator "A" on the
south, and the Standard Flour Mill on the east (see Nos. 9, 10, and 11).
Completed in 1987, the plaza is distinguished by a central black-and-white
tile section called the "chessboard court." The plaza contains raised
concrete planters, ornamental iron light standards, and slatted wood benches.
At the northeast corner, a concrete stairway descends to another landscaped
area known as the Whitney Mill Quarter Plaza (see No. 13).

This property consists of one non-contributing structure, due to its
construction after the district’s period of significance.

13. Historic Name: Whitney Mill Quarter Plaza
Address: Portland Avenue South at South First Street
Architect: Bennett, Ringrose, Wolsfeld, Jarvis, Gardner, Inc. (BRW)
Date: 1987

Completed in 1987 for the use of Whitney Hotel guests, this concrete court is
bordered by the Standard Flour Mill (Whitney Hotel) on the south and Crown
Roller Mill on the west (see Nos. 9 and 11). It features a sunken pool-and-
fountain area surrounded by slatted wood benches and ornamental iron light
standards. The plaza’s perimeter is marked by raised concrete planters. On
the southwest, a concrete stairway ascends to another landscaped area known as

the Whitney Garden Plaza (see No. 12).

This property consists of one non-contributing structure, due to its
construction after the district‘s period of significance.
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14. Historic/Common Name: North Star Woolen Mill
Address: 109 Portland Avenue South
Architect: Pike & Cook (1922); C.F. Haglin & Sons (1925)
Date: Ca. 1885; 1922; 1925

.

The North Star Woolen Mill was founded in 1864 by Eastman, Gibson and Company.
It was the first industry to draw waterpower from a headrace on the south side
of the district’s main Power Canal (see No. 53), returning the spent flow to
the river through a tailrace that tunneled under the Power Canal. Although
the dream of becoming "the Lowell of the West" never materialized for the
textile industry in Minneapolis, the North Star did gain a national reputation
by specializing in the manufacture of woolen blankets. One of its largest
customers was the Pullman Palace Car Company, which used North Star blankets
exclusively in its railroad sleeping cars. By 1925, the North Star Woolen
Mill was the country’s largest producer of wool blankets. The company moved
its operations to Lima, Ohio in 1949. The complex remained vacant for a time
before conversion to warehouse space.

The North Star Woolen Mill consists of two major buildings: the Main Factory
and the Blanket Room.

Main Factory

In 1864, Eastman, Gibson and Company constructed a four-story limestone
building measuring approximately 50 feet by 75 feet. Historical views
show the building had rectangular fenestration and a gable roof with
cupola. In 1871, the mill was lengthened by 45 feet. Between 1889 and
1895, several brick additions were constructed to accommodate various
milling functions. 1In 1922,  a seven-story, steel-framed, brick-and-
concrete addition was constructed on the east side of the original mill
building. The addition, which consolidated picking, dusting, and drying
operations, incorporated portions of the 1890s brick additions.

In 1925, a new six-story factory, with a tower on its northwest corner, was
constructed on the site of the 1864 building. To avoid disrupting operations,
builder C.F. Haglin developed a unique construction process which allowed the
new building to be constructed from the top down; as each concrete floor was
finished, the machinery on the floor below was moved to the new upper level,
and the old floor demolished. This six-story building, like the 1922
addition, is a steel-framed structure with brick and concrete exterior walls.
The surface is highlighted by vertical and horizontal concrete bands,
punctuated by paired, rectangular window openings. Most of the original steel
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sash has been removed, and openings have been infilled with brick and glass
block. In 1938, a one-story, brick-and-concrete-block chemical treatment
plant, along with a one-story warehouse and loading dock, was constructed on
the south end of the complex, over the ruins of the Anchor Flour Mill,
demolished the previous year (see No. 72).

Building B: Blanket Room

Between 1885 and 1890, a flat-roofed, three-story, brick building with
segmental-arched windows was constructed on the north side of the
original 1864 mill. Known as "the Blanket Room," this building received
a fourth-story addition around the turn of the century. Although the
south third of the building was demolished to make way for the
construction of the 1925 Main Factory Building, the remaining portion
has high integrity.

This property consists of two contributing buildings.

15. Historic/Common Name: Stone Arch Bridge
Location: Crossing the Mississippi River below the Falls of sSt. Anthony
Architect/Engineer: Charles C. Smith
Date: 1883 :

Diagonally crossing the Mississippi River to link the east side and west side
milling districts, the Stone Arch Bridge originally comprised 23 limestone
arches resting on granite piers and abutments. The individual arches varied
in span from 40 to 100 feet. The bridge’s total length was about 2,100 feet.
In 1961, the bridge was altered to permit the passage of river traffic by
replacing two arclies near the western shore with a steel, Warren, deck truss.
Although the alteration adversely affected the bridge‘’s materials and
workmanship, the structure’s original design and fabric are sufficiently
intact to retain historic integrity.

Planning for the bridge began in earnest in 1881, when St. Paul railroad
magnate James J. Hill organized the Union Railway Company to build a shortline
across the Mississippi River into downtown Minneapolis, where the company also
intended to construct a new union station. Although the new shortline and
station would benefit several lines, it was especially valuable to Hill‘’s own
Manitoba Road, which guaranteed the construction bonds for the project. To
acquire the necessary right-of-way, Hill purchased the St. Anthony Falls Water
Power Company, which controlled most of the eastern shoreline at the falls.
Designed by the West Point-trained engineer Charles C. Smith, the Stone Arch
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Bridge was the most technically demanding part of the project -- the
structure’s sweeping curve at its western terminus was a tour de force of
masonry engineering. For many decades after its completion in 1883, the
bridge was one of the city’s most important visual symbols, reproduced on
countless postcards and letterheads. BAbsorbed by Hill’s Great Northern
Railroad in 1907, the Stone Arch Bridge continued to carry rail traffic until
1978. Trackage was removed in the early 1980s. 1In recognition of its
historical significance, the Stone Arch Bridge was designated a National
Historic Engineering Landmark by the American Society of Civil Engineers in
197s5. :

This property consists of one contributing structure.

16. Historic Name: Upper St. Anthony Falls Lock
Common Name: Upper Lock
Address: 1 Portland Avenue South
Engineer: U.S. Army Corps of Engineers
Date: 1963

The Upper Lock was built to extend navigation above the Falls of St. Anthony.
Initial approval for the project was granted by the Rivers and Harbors Act of
August 26, 1937. However, construction was not begun until 1959, delayed
first by World War II, and then by litigation concerning assessment of costs
to modify bridges and other public utility structures. The project was
completed in 1963. Constructed of reinforced concrete, the lock has a single
lift of 49 feet, the largest on the Mississippi River. The lock chamber
measures 56 feet by 400 feet, requires about ten million gallons of water per
lockage, and can be filled in eight minutes. The Upper Lock site includes a
three-story, brick-and-concrete central control building and observation deck,
and two, one-story, brick control stands, all constructed in 1963.

This property consists of one non-contributing structure and three non-
contributing buildings, due to their construction after the district’s period

of significance.

17. Historic Name: Washburn, Crosby and Company "A" Flour Mill
Common Name: Washburn "A" Mill
Address: 701-709 South First Street
Architect/Engineer: Adolph Fischer; William de la Barre
Date: 1880
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Completed in 1880, the Washburn "A" Mill was built of heavy post-and-beam
timbers and load bearing limestone walls. Window openings were segmental arch
with six-over-six wood sash. The seven-story mill had a flat roof with a
full-length monitor. The mill’s interior was divided into north and south
sections by an east-west brick fire wall. 1In 1928, a serious fire resulted in
the rebuilding of the upper south facade with brick-faced reinforced concrete,
retaining the original limestone walls of the lower three stories. At the
same time, the interior of the south section was rebuilt with reinforced
concrete from the first through fourth floors and with wood post-and-beam
construction from the fifth through eighth floors.

Despite the loss of original fabric on the south facade, the building had
maintained good overall integrity until recently. On February 26, 1991, fire
once again did extensive damage to the mill. The fire destroyed the interior
of the entire north half of the mill and destroyed the interior of the south
half of the mill above the third floor. The roof was completely destroyed on
both halves of the mill. The extericr limestone walls of the north half were
also seriously damaged; the north wall partially collapsed along a u-shaped
line extending from the building corners to the base of the fifth floor
windows, while the west wall was largely destroyed above the fifth floor
windows. The east wall and the interior fire wall between the mill sections
remain essentially intact. The walls of the south mill also remain essentially
intact. Basement rooms still exist in the north half of the mill, while little
damage was done to the interior of the south half below the fourth floor. The
mill office along the base of the west wall of the north mill was also damaged
by the fire, but this damage was largely limited to upper floor addition.
Other building additions to the structure suffered only minimal damage.

The Washburn A Mill today stands as a ruin, but it remains an imposing
presence in the West Side Mill District. In some ways, the sight of the mill
as a massive ruin illustrates aspects of the history of the building and the
area better than just an abandoned, but intact building can. The most
significant loss in the 1991 fire was not the damage done to the building
itself, but the destruction of a large inventory of turn of the century
milling equipment including 33 roller stands, 41 sifters, and 3 dust
collectors along with the attendant drive machinery (e.g., line shafts) and
grain handling equipment. It may be possible to salvage some equipment when
the building interior is eventually cleaned out.

The Washburn "A" Mill is the second building of the same name to occupy this
site. Drawing waterpower from the south side of the Minneapolis Mill Company
Power Canal (see No. 53), the first building was erected by C.C. Washburn in
1874. The largest of Washburn’s mills in size and capacity, it was
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appropriately designated as the "A." When this building was destroyed by a
huge flour dust explosion in 1878, Washburn immediately commissioned the
Budapest engineer Adolph Fischer to replace it with a still-larger factory
employing the "gradual-reduction system” of milling, a Hungarian method that
combined millstones and rollers to produce superior white flour. Fischer’s
plans were subsequently refined and modified by the Austrian-trained engineer
William de la Barre, who settled in Minneapolis while the new "A" Mill was
under construction. The Washburn "A" Mill eventually adopted the all-roller
system of milling. Like Washburn‘s first mill at the site, the new "A" drew
waterpower from the south side of the main Power Canal, returning the spent
flow to the river through a tailrace that tunneled under the Power Canal.

During the mill’s construction, Washburn took three partners into the business
and formed Washburn Crosby and Company, later renamed Washburn-Crosby Company.
In 1928, the firm was reorganized as General Mills, Inc. The Washburn "A"
Mill remained on waterpower until 1960, when construction work on the Upper
Lock (see No. 16) closed off the Power Canal. Mill operations were suspended
completely about 1965. 1In 1983, the Washburn "A" Mill was designated a
National Historic Landmark by the United States Department of the Interior.
The building has been recorded according to. Level 1 standards of the Historic
American Buildings Survey (see HABS No. MN-69).

Major additions to the mill are described below.

Mill Office; 1880. The Mill Office originally was a two-story, three-
bay, limestone addition on the northwest corner of the "A" Mill. It
housed company offices from 1880 until 1885. 1In 1918, a third story was
added in brick. The interior of the third story was extensively damaged
by the 1991 fire. A small pump house adjoins the office on the west

wall.

Wheat House; 1881. The original five-story Wheat House joined the "A"
Mill on the southeast, displaying a matching limestone facade on the
south. In 1917, a sixth floor was added. The Wheat House was
extensively damaged by the 1928 fire and was consequently rebuilt with
reinforced concrete. The south facade is stuccoed, relieved only by
three, industrial-style windows at the upper level.

West Enginehouse; 1885. This two-story, limestone building adjoins the
west wall of the Washburn "A" Mill, at the rear (south) of the Mill
Office. Round arch openings extending through the full two stories
articulate the three-bay facade. Some of the openings have been
infilled.
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East Enginehouse; 1894. The two-story, brick East Enginehouse adjocins
the Washburn "A" Mill‘s east wall, at the rear (south) of the
Wheelhouse. The ruins of a steel smokestack stand at the northwest
corner, marking the location of a boiler house demolished in 1928.

Elevator No. One; 1908. Adjoining the Feed Elevator on the east, this
elevator consists of fifteen, reinforced-concrete, circular bins
surmounted by a five-story, steel-framed, concrete-clad workhouse,
which, in turn, supports two, thirty-foot-high, " Gold Medal Flour"
signs. A three-track, metal train shed extends across the full length
of the elevator’s south side. Constructed by Haglin-Stahr Co., the
elevator was among the first to use the cylindrical, concrete-bin form,
pioneered by Minneapolis builder Charles Haglin.

Wheelhouse; 1911. Fronting South First Street, this two-story brick
addition adjoins the northeast corner of the "A" Mill. Of utilitarian
design, the facade features segmental arch windows with two-over-two,
wire-glass sash. Some openings have been infilled. The last of a
series of wheelhouses erected on the site, the building contained
controls for the waterpower turbines.

Utility Building; 1914. Designed by the Minneapolis architectural firm
of Hewitt and Brown, the ll-story brick-and-concrete Utility Building
originally served as a packing plant for the "A" Mill complex. It
fronts on South Second Street, adjoining the rear half of the "A" Mill’s
west facade. The primary (south) facade is articulated by three
pilaster strips, which serve as plinths for three seven-foot-high,
glazed, terra-cotta figures created by Norwegian-American sculptor John
Karl Daniels. Framed by the' facade’s curved cornice, the figures
illustrate the historical development of milling. The largest addition
to the "A" Mill, the Utility Building is essentially unaltered from its
original design.

Feed Elevator; 1928. Fronting South First Street, immediately east of
the Wheelhouse, the Feed Elevator consists of fifteen, reinforced-~
concrete circular bins with a twenty-foot-high workhouse above. The
concrete foundation rises approximately twelve-feet above grade,
accommodating four pairs of industrial-style windows. The elevator was
constructed by the local firm of Barnett and Record.

This property consists of one contributing building.
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Name: Washburn-Crosby Company Train Shed
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is a metal-clad, flat-roofed structure measuring approximately
feet. The track bed is a concrete-slab supported by concrete-
The track enters the east facade of the "A" Mill at ground
tely to the rear (south) of the East Enginehouse. It emerges
facade at the third-story level, immediately to the rear (south)
jinehouse. The west end of the train shed terminates in a cul-
by two stucco-coated limestone walls joined by a cinder-block
ent Train Shed is the third facility of its type on this site.
estle was built about 1879 and rebuilt, using iron beams, in
ided rail access to the newly constructed Washburn "C" Mill (see
track which ran through the "A" Mill. The present train shed,
1918, replaced the 1885 structure. Like its predecessor, it

h the "C" Mill and "A" Mill. When the "C" Mill complex was

the early 1960s, two walls were left standing to form the cul-
trestle’s western end.

consists of one contributing structure.
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uth Second Street, the Humboldt Mill adjoins the east facade of

A" Mill Wheat House. The original owner was the Minneapolis

f Bull and Newton, which operated an earlier mill of the same

te. When this building was destroyed by the 1878 explosion of

burn "A" Mill, Bull and Newton immediately rebuilt. The new

owered by a 140-foot line shaft connected to a waterpower

ed near the southeast corner of the new Washburn "A" Mill. The
aterpower from the south side of the main Power Canal (see No.
the spent flow to the river through a tailrace that tunneled

In 1896, Washburn-Crosby Company leased the mill and
Like the rest

r Canal.
ight three years later, renaming it the "E" Mill.
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of the Washburn "A" Mill complex, the Humboldt Mill has not been used for
flouring purposes since at least the 1960s. It no longer contains milling
equipment. '

Rising above g full, limestone basement, the Humboldt Mill originally
comprised four stories with a full-length, three-bay monitor. Constructed of
cream-colored brick, the five-bay primary facade fronting South Second Street
was articulated by brick pilasters forming panelled bays, capped by a
denticulated cornice. Round arch windows were centered within the panels. 1In
1913, two addiftional bays were added to the original three-bay roof monitor,
creating a fifth story. 1In 1951, the mill received a one-story, concrete-—
block warehouse addition on its east facade. The rear (north) wall of this
addition incorporates stonework that was once part of the North Star Feed and
Cereal Mill, an 1880s building demolished in 1931. Other alterations to the
Humboldt Mill include the infilling of window openings, replacement of
original sash,| and painting of exterior brick walls. None of these
alterations has materially affected its integrity.

This property ronsists of one contributing building.

20. Historic| Name: Washburn-Crosby Company Elevator No. 2
Common Ngme: General Mills Elevator Nos. 2 and 3
Address:| 102-128 Tenth Avenue South
Architect/Engineer: James Stewart and Company
Date: 1P16

In its original design, Washburn-Crosby Elevator No. 2 contained 45
reinforced-congrete, cylindrical bins and 61 interstice bins, with a capacity
of approximately two million bushels. Equipped with three receiving legs and
one cleaning leg, the six-story elevator was topped with a three-story
workhouse. A two-story, reinforced-concrete train shed adjoined the north
facade. 1In 1929, the elevator’s capacity was doubled by the construction of
an "annex" on the opposite (east) side of Tenth Avenue South. The annex
consisted of 44 reinforced-concrete cylindrical bins, 31 interstice bins, and
8 outerstice bins. The two sections were connected by underground and
overhead conveyors. Other additions included a one-story, steel-framed, scale
office, dump pit, and dump shed in 1959, and a one-story, concrete-block
boiler building in 1969, with a steel-framed lean-to in 1977. The additions

have not affected the structure’s integrity.

Washburn-Crosby Company Elevator No. 2 was built to receive, clean, and store
grain for the Washburn-Crosby A Mill complex located upriver. The grain was
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transported from elevator to mill by a 460-foot-long conveyor belt in an
underground tunnel. Linked by an overhead conveyor to the riverfront, the
elevator complex has barge-loading capabilities. Although the Washburn
milling complex has shut down, the elevator is still in use for general grain
storage.

This property consists of one contributing structure.

21. Historic/Common Name: Bridge No. L9331

22. Historic/Common Name: Bridge No. L9332
Location: Tenth Avenue South, north of South Second Street
Architect/Engineer: Unknown
Date: 1916

In 1916, the Minneapolis and St. Louis Railroad erected these two, side-by
side bridges to carry trackage across Tenth Avenue South to the Washburn-
Crosby Elevator No. 2, then under construction immediately to the west.

Bridge No. L9331 is the more northerly of the two structures. Sharing the
same concrete back-wall abutments, both bridges measure 49 feet in length, and
are virtually identical in their engineering. Each is a three-span structure
with concrete piers. Approached at each end by a short concrete slab, the main
span consists of concrete-encased, steel girders carrying a concrete-slab
track bed bordered by cantilevered steel walkways with pipe railings. In
1960, the bridges became the property of the Chicago and North Western
Railroad, as part of its purchase of the Minneapolis and St. Louis line. Both
bridges have been stripped of their trackage. Their numerical designation has
been assigned by the Minnesota Department of Transportation.

These properties are two contributing structures.

23. Historic/Common Name: Bridge No. L9333
Location: Tenth Avenue South, immediately north of South Second Street
Architect/Engineer: Unknown
Date: 1892

This structure was apparently built in 1892 by the Minneapolis and St. Louis
Railroad to carry trackage across Tenth Avenue South into the west side
milling district to the north. It is a single-span, through, plate-girder
bridge, measuring 47 feet in length and 76 feet in width. 1Its abutments are
ashlar limestone of the back-wall type. In 1960, the bridge became the
property of the Chicago and North Western Railroad, as part of its purchase of
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the Minneapolis and St. Louis line. Trackage has been removed. The bridge’s
numerical designation has been assigned by the Minnesota Department of
Transportation. '

This property consists of one contributing structure.

Historic/Common Name: Cemstone Product Company Building
Address: 70 Tenth Avenue South

Architect/Engineer: Unknown

Date: 1965

24.

The ground level is
Originally
building has

This building is a three-story, ready-mix concrete plant.
constructed of concrete; upper levels are of corrugated metal.
constructed as part of the Shiely Sand and Gravel Company, the
since been purchased by Cemstone Product Company.

This property consists of one non-contributing building, due to its

construction after the district’s period of significance.

Shiely Sand and Gravel Company Complex
Shiely Aggregate

Historic Name:
Common Name:

25.

Address: 70 Tenth Avenue South
Architect/Engineer: Unknown
Date: 1964

The Shiely Sand and Gravel Company Complex includes a one-story, concrete-
block scale building; a 300-foot-long concrete retaining wall; a metal sand
hopper; and a metal sand drier. The complex also includes four blocks of
gravel piles, stretching from about Portland Avenue to Tenth Avenue South, and

from South First Street to the river.

This property consists of one non-contributing building and three non-
contributing structures, due to their construction after the district’s period

of significance.

Historid/Common Name: Hennepin Bluff Park Shelter

Locatiornl: Below Southeast Main Street, approximately mid-block between
Third Avenue and Fifth Avenue Southeast

Unknown

26.

Architedt:
Date: 1977
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Overlooking the Mississippi River from the edge of a bluff, the shelter stands
in a sparsely landscaped municipal park. Of wood-framed construction, it is
capped by a modified hip roof surmounted by a plexi-glass dome. It was
completed in 1977.

This property consists of one non-contributing building, due to its
construction after the district‘s period of significance.

27. Historic Name: Pillsbury Warehouse No. 3
Common Name: Pillsbury Bakery Technical Center
Address: 105 Fifth Avenue Southeast

Architect: Unknown

Date: 1925

This two-story brick building is rectangular in plan and sits atop a concrete
foundation. Originally constructed in 1925 to provide additional warehouse
space for the Pillsbury "A" Mill complex (see No. 29), the building was
converted from its original function to its present use as a test bakery in
1962. Original door and window openings have been infilled and exterior wall
surfaces covered by corrugated-metal panels. Since these alterations severely
compromised original design, materials, and workmanship, the building no
longer retains historic integrity.

This property consists of one non-contributing building, due to the loss of

integrity.

Pillsbury Warehouse No. 2
Building No. 20 and Building No. 21

28. Historic Name:

Common Namer

Address:| 129 Fifth Avenue Southeast
Architeck: Unknown
Date: 1P19

Originally designed to serve the Pillsbury "A" Mill Complex (see No. 29),
Warehouse No. 2 consists of a storage building and loading facility. The
sloped grade of the site, as it continues along South Second Street, allows
for a full four-story exposure of the warehouse on Fifth Avenue Southeast,
diminishing toithree stories above grade at the south end of the building.
The loading fability, situated north of the warehouse, is two stories. The
building is ofi heavy post-and-beam construction, clad in cream-colored brick
resting on a cbncrete foundation. Window openings are rectangular with steel
sash. Research indicates that the warehouse and loading facility were
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constructed in two stages between 1918 and 1919: first a 100-foot-by-200-
foot, two-story loading facility was constructed, followed by a 56-foot-by-
200-foot, two-story addition on the southerly portion of the loading facility.
Minor alterations include the addition of a covered loading dock and small
storage shed on the west facade, and a 75-foot-long, reinforced-concrete
loading platform on the east facade.

This property consists of one contributing building.

29. Historid Name/Common: Pillsbury "A" Mill
Address: 301 Southeast Main Street
Architedt/Engineer: Leroy Buffington/W. F. Gunn
Date: 1881

The Pillsbury |"A" Mill was the flagship of C.A. Pillsbury and Company, a
Minneapolis filrm founded in the mid-1870s by Charles A. Pillsbury, his brother
Fred, and his |uncle John S., who would shortly be elected governor of
Minnesota. Tdken over by English capital and renamed Pillsbury-Washburn Flour
Mills Company [Ltd. in 1889, the enterprise reverted to local control in 1909,
and was eventyally reorganized as Pillsbury Flour Mills Company. In terms of
both its monumental architecture and mammoth production capacity, the
Pillsbury "A" |Mill was the paragon of the American flouring industry. Its
original record-breaking capacity of 5,000 bushels per day almost doubled by
1894, and mordg than tripled by 1905. As milling historian Robert M. Frame has
written, "The |Pillsbury A Mill was the last great flour mill erected at St.
Anthony Falls |and it remained the single largest and most celebrated flour
mill ever buillt" (The Progressive Millers, University of Minnesota, Ph.D.
thesis, 1980, |p. 129). Although no longer on waterpower, the mill still
manufactures limited amount of flour. In 1966, it was designated a National
Historic Landmark. The complex has been documented according to Level 1
standards of the Historic American Buildings Survey (see HABS No. MN-29-5).

Occupying aboyt a full square block, the Pillsbury "A" Mill has a complicated
construction History spanning a century. For the purposes of this study, the
mill is best donceived as a single building with numerous additions. Situated
at the corner [of Main Street and Third Avenue Southeast, the original "A"
Mill was a si¥-story building with a full basement and an iron-clad monitor
running through the center third of the building’s flat roof. The structural
system was hedvy timber post-and-beam, with load-bearing limestone exterior
walls. The sduth and west primary facades were ashlar, while secondary
facades were gubble. Designed by Minneapolis architect Leroy Buffington, the
mill’s primary facades (west and south) were visually grouped in an ascending,
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two-three-one sequence of stories. Facing socuth, the handsome Main Street
facade featured a round arch window with stone piers, and the company name
PILLSBURY, along with the letter "A" executed in marble. Other windows were
regularly spaced, rectangular or segmental arch with six-over-six wooden sash.
Designed by local engineer W.F. Gunn, the mill interior originally contained
two identical production units powered by twin turbines drawing water from the
St. Anthony Falls Water Power Company Canal (see No. 47) and discharging the
spent flow through two tailraces that passed under the canal to empty at the
base of the river bluffs on the opposite side of Main Street. A bran house was
also built in 1881 immediately east of the mill. This was torn down in 1990.

In 1913, the north facade was stabilized by reinforced-concrete buttresses,
which also served as anchor blocks for tie rods and plates bracing the south
(Main Street) facade. Other alterations include the infilling of various
doors and window openings, construction of a timber loading dock and metal
canopy on the Main Street facade, and removal of most of the milling
equipment, including the turbines. These alterations have not significantly
affected the building’s integrity.

Major additions to the mill are described below.
Tile Elevator; 1910. Originally linked by conveyors to the "A" Mill on
the west, the elevator consists of 25 tanks surmounted by an 85-foot-
high workhouse. The structure, which measures 85 feet square at the
base, sits above a full concrete basement which forms a lower work room.
The structural steel frame is clad in walls of 5-inch-square tile. A
three-bay, steel-and-concrete track shed is attached on the north side.
The 400,000-bushel elevator was built as a receiving and cleaning house
by the local firm of Barnett and Record.

Concrete Elevator and Annex; 1914; 1916. When completed in 1914, the
Concrete Elevator boasted a capacity of 1.8 million bushels, Adjoining
the train shed on the north side of the Tile Elevator (see above), the
addition originally consisted of 45 reinforced-concrete bins surmounted
by a workhouse. 1In 1916, the elevator was expanded with an "annex" of
24 reinforced-concrete bins with a capacity of 1.1 million bushels.
Both the elevator and annex were the work of local engineers, Barnett
and Record. Two conveyor bridges connected the Concrete Elevator
complex to the Tile Elevator to the south.

South "A" Mill, Cleaning House, and Warehouse No. 1l; 1917. Adjoining
the east wall of the original "A" Mill, this addition comprised a nine-
story, grey-brick flour mill with a nine-story, concrete-and-brick
Cleaning House immediately to the rear (north), and a three-story, buff-
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colored-brick flour warehouse immediately to the front (south),
overlooking Main Street. All three sections of the addition featured
rectangular window openings set in bays delineated by pilaster strips.
Alterations have been minimal. The construction of this addition made
it possible to relocate grain-cleaning machinery from the original "A"
Mill to the new Cleaning House, thereby increasing the old mill’s
flouring capacity by 1,000 barrels per day. As originally constructed,
the new South "A" Mill had a manufacturing capacity of 3,000 barrels per
day. Its machinery was powered by a rope drive connected to the
waterpower turbines in the original "A"™ Mill.

Pillsbury Hydroprocessing (now Manildra Milling Co.); 1974.

This one-story, flat-roofed, concrete-block addition stands immediately
east of the Tile Elevator, abutting the northeast corner of the South
"A" Mill‘s warehouse section (see immediately above). About 1980, the
addition’s east end was enlarged with a one-story, prestressed-concrete
section.

This property consists of one contributing building.

30. Historic Name: Pillsbury Machine Shop
Address: 300 Southeast Second Street
Architect: Unknown
Date: 1916

Constructed in 1916 as a machine shop for the Pillsbury."A" Mill, the flat-
roofed, rectangular-plan building is two stories tall on Southeast Second
Street, increasing to three stories at the rear (south) of the sloping lot.
Originally, the building shared a limestone wall with the Pillsbury "A" Mill
Bran House, immediately to the south. When this building was demolished in
1990, the south facade of the Machine Shop was sheathed in metal siding. The
other three facades display the building’s original cream-colored brick with

rectangular window openings.

This property consists of one contributing building.

31. Historic Name: Pillsbury Research and Development Building
Common Name: Pillsbury Data Center
Address: 224-228 Southeast Second Street
Architect: Setter, Leach and Lindstrom
Date: 1981
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The exterior of this two-story, earth-sheltered building is red brick,
complementing buildings in the adjacent historic Salisbury and Satterlee
Company Complex (see No. 32). A skylight oriented to the south bisects the
building from east to west. The north side, actually the roof for part of the
building, is landscaped and includes a Bentonite path leading to the entry. A
brick retaining wall stretches alone the west lot line. A parking lot to the
south is enclosed by a wrought-iron fence.

This property consists of one non-contributing building, due to its
construction after the district‘'s period of significance.

32. Historic Name: Salisbury and Satterlee Company Complex
Common Name: St. Anthony Main
Address: 201-205; 219 Southeast Main Street
Architect: Bertrand and Chamberlin (1909)
Date: 1885; 1892; ca. 1906; 1909

In 1871, Salisbury, Coots, Rolph and Company began manufacturing beds and
mattresses on Southeast Main Street. Three years later, Fred R. Salisbury
joined with W. E. Satterlee, incorporating as Salisbury and Satterlee Company.
The original Salisbury and Satterlee building, since razed, was located at
101-103 Southeast Main Street. Between 1885 and 1890, the company moved one
block west to the site of the complex described below. The firm continued in
business in this location until the 1970s. 1In the late 1970s, the complex was
renovated by the Jefferson Company into a commercial and office mall known as
St. Anthony Main.

The complex consists of two main buildings joined by numerous additions.

1885 Building

Between 1885 and 1890, "Salisbury, Rolph, and Co. Mattress and Spring
Bed Factory”" moved into a two-story, brick warehouse (30 feet by 80
feet) in the middle of the block bounded by Southeast Main and Second
Streets and Second and Third Avenues Southeast. Also during this
period, a three-story brick addition, measuring approximately 40 feet by
75 feet, was constructed on the west. By 1906, a two-story brick
addition stretched west to Second Street Southeast. In 1909, the
company announced plans to build a six-story, 60-foot by 165-foot, brick
building on the corner of Second and Main (201-205 Main). Designed by
local architects Bertrand and Chamberlin, the building as constructed
was only three stories on a stone foundation. Because the second and
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third floors of the building‘s north end were connected to the ca. 1906
addition, it is technically an addition to the 1885 building as well.
The new section had flat-headed window openings unlike the segmental
arch lintels in the older sections. The sections are unified by a
corbelled brick cornice, similar stone window sills, and pilasters along
most elevations.

1892 Building

In 1892, Salisbury and Satterlee built the five-story brick building at
219 Main. The principal facade featured broad openings --perhaps
freight doors-- on the first floor and segmental arch windows with stone
sills on the second through fourth floors. Round-arch windows formed a
band across the fifth floor below a corbelled cornice and parapet. 1In
1901, a 40-foot by 125-foot, one-story brick foundry was added along the
building’s west side. It featured segmental arch windows and a simple
brick cornice.

In 1977, the new owners of the complex, the Jefferson Company, began an
extensive renovation program to adapt the buildings and others along
Main Street to the west for retail and office use. They hired Ben
Thompson and Associates, an architectural firm from Cambridge,
Massachusetts, to devise a four-phase master plan for the redevelopment.
The first phase was completed in 1977; the fourth phase in 1986. Most
renovation of the Salisbury and Satterlee complex occurred between 1977

and 1979.

Major exterior alterations include an addition which connects the 1885
building, its additions, and the 1892 building; an elevator bay
projecting from the Second Avenue Southeast facade at the juncture of
the ca. 1906 and the 1909 additions; alterations of original
fenestration; and the addition of decks, patios, stairs, and awnings.
Most of these alterations are sympathetic to the original construction.

This property consists of two contributing buildings.

33. Historic/Common Name: St. Anthony Main Skyway
Address: Spans vacated Second Avenue Southeast Between Main and

Southeast Second Street
Architect: Meyer, Scherer, Rockcastle
Date: 1985
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Completed in 1985 as part of the St. Anthony Main Shopping Mall, this skyway
carries indoor pedestrian traffic over Second Avenue Southeast, connecting the
Salisbury and Satterlee Company Factory Complex on the east (see No. 32) to
the Upton Block on the west (see No. 34). The skyway is constructed of grey
metal supported on splayed brick piers. The gabled roof is clad in metal,
with a transverse pedimented gable. River side windows are large and divided
by narrow muntins; Southeast Second Street windows are regularly spaced
rectangles. ‘

This property consists of one non-contributing building, due to its
construction after the district’s period of significance.

34. Historic Name/Common Name: Upton Block
Address: 129 Southeast Main Street
Architect: B.O. Cutter
Date: 1855

When completed in 1855, the Upton Block was a three-story, flat-roofed, buff-
brick building measuring 30 feet by 55 feet over a full stone basement.
Fronting Main Street, its primary facade was ornamented with a simple,
geometric, brickwork frieze. The building was designed by local masterbuilder
B. O. Cutter for brothers Rufus P. and Moses P. Upton, who ran a hardware
store on the ground floor and rented out the upper stories as professional

offices.

In 1879, the Upton Block was purchased by the Union Iron Works, a major
manufacturer of sawmilling and flour-milling equipment. The company’s metal-
working operation was powered by a line shaft connected to a waterpower
turbine on "sawmill row," which extended into the east side millpond almost
directly opposite the building. 1In 1883, the company expanded its plant to
the west by purchasing the adjacent Martin and Morrison Block, adding a two-
story, machine-shop addition to the rear of the entire complex by 1890. After
the Union Iron Works left the complex in the mid-1930s, it was converted into
warehouse space. In 1985, the Upton Block was one of several Main Street
buildings renovated into commercial space to form an extended shopping mall
known as St. Anthony Main. At that time, the building received a 30-foot by
48-foot addition in dark glazed brick at the rear of the former machine shop.
The renovation of this property qualified as a Tax Credit Project, thereby
ensuring that the design and workmanship met the Secretary of Interior’s
standards for rehabilitation of historic buildings.

This property consists of one contributing building.
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35. Historic/Common Name: Martin and Morrison Block

Address: 127-129 Southeast Main Street
Architect: Unknown
Date: 1858

In early 1858, John Martin began construction of a flat-roofed, three-story,
limestone, building on Main Street. Attracting a good deal of public
attention for its elegance, Martin’s design featured a four-bay, cut-stone
entrance arcade with cast-iron Corinthian columns. The arcade motif was
carried into the upper stories by round-arched fenestration. While Martin’s
building was under construction, his neighbor immediately to the west, Frank
Morrison, decided to erect an adjoining building with the same design and
materials. Since Morrison’s lot was slightly narrower, his building comprised
only three bays. Both buildings were finished before the end of the year.

The resulting seven-bay facade displayed projecting cornices above the arcade
and at the roof line. Original tenants included doctors, dentists, druggists,
and lawyers. In 1883, the Union Iron Works, already the owner of the adjacent
Upton Block, purchased the buildings, and, by 1890, erected a two-story
addition at the rear of the entire complex (see No. 34). Subsequently, the
buildings’ cast-iron columns and cornices were removed.

In 1985, the Martin and Morrison Block was among several Main Street buildings
renovated into commercial space to form an extended shopping mall known as St.
Anthony Main. The renovation included a close restoration of the block’s
original 1858 Main Street facade. Qualifying as a Tax Act Project, the
renovation conformed to the Secretary of Interior’s standards for
rehabilitation of historic buildings.

This property consists of two contributing buildings.

36. Historic/Common Name: Commercial Building
Address: 129 Southeast Main Street
Architect: Meyer, Scherer, Rockcastle
Date: 1985

Completed in 1985 as part of the St. Anthony Main shopping complex this three-
story infill. building stands between the Martin and Morrison Block on the east
(see No. 35) and the Pracna Building on the west (see No. 37). The lower two
stories of the four-bay, Main Street facade are constructed of cream brick.
The top story is metal. All window openings are rectangular. Constructed of
red brick, the building’s rear (north) facade wraps around the adjacent Martin

and Morrison Block.
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This property consists of one non-contributing building, due to its
construction after the district’s period of significance.

37. Historic Name: Pracna Building
Common Name: Pracna on Main
Address: 117 Southeast Main Street
Architect: Carl Struck (1890); Peter Nelson Hall (1969)
Date: 1890

In 1890, this building was constructed as a saloon by Frank Pracna and the
Minneapolis Brewing Company. It remained such until 1919, later becoming an
industrial property. Designed by locally prominent architect Carl Struck, the
three~story, red-brick building displays the "busy" surface of the Queen Anne
commercial style. Ornamentation includes stone banding on all stories, brick
corbelling on the top floor, and an elaborate metal cornice with finials. The
original design of the storefront is unknown. The present storefront is the
work of local architect Peter Nelson Hall, who renovated the building first as
a residence in 1969, and later as a restaurant in 1973. The storefront
features a large commercial-style window with a clear pane below an art-glass
upper light. The window is flanked by single-leaf entry doors. All original
double-hung sash has been replaced with single-light sash. 1In 1973, the
building received a two-story, concrete-block rear addition for additional
seating and kitchen facilities. In the mid-1980s, the building was
incorporated into the St. Anthony Main Shopping complex. Although alterations
have compromised the unity of the building‘s original interior plan, the
exterior walls -- especially the primary facade -- are sufficiently intact to
preserve integrity.

This property consists of one contributing building.

38. Historic Name: Hennepin Island Hydroelectric Plant
Common Name: Hennepin Island Power Plant
Location: West side of Hennepin Island
Architect/Engineer: William de la Barre
Date: 1908

Located near the center of Hennepin Island, the Hennepin Island Hydroelectric
Plant is linked to Main Street by means of an north-south access road. Of
rectangular plan, the flat-roofed, two-level building has a reinforced-
concrete foundation, brick walls, and a skeletal steel frame. Pilaster strips
divide the exterior walls into equal panels pierced by large rectangular
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windows with concrete lintels and sills. A denticulated frieze highlights the
cornice. A limestone headrace conveys waterpower to the plant from the east-
side mill pond. The flow exits through arched openings on the downstream
facade. Apart from the infilling of original window openings, the building’s
exterior has not been altered.

The plant was designed by -William de la Barre, the Austrian-trained chief
engineer of the St. Anthony Falls Water Power Company, which owned and
operated the facility. At the time of its completion in 1908, the Hennepin
Island Plant was the nation’s first "surplus power" hydroelectric
installation. Since other waterpower users at the falls had prior legal right
to the streamflow, the Hennepin Island Plant operated only when there was a
"surplus" of water. Usually, its operation was restricted to weekends and
holidays, when the mills at the falls shut down. The plant originally sold
its total output to the city’s streetcar system. In 1923, the installation
became the property of Northern States Power Company, which in 1955, rebuilt
the original four, horizontal generating units and added a fifth vertical
generating unit. At the same time, the plant’s generating system was
converted from 35 cycles to 60 cycles to supply power to the municipal grid.
These changes did not affect its integrity.

This property consists of one contributing structure.

39. Historic Name/Common Name: Main Street Hydroelectric Station
Address: 206 Southeast Main Street
Engineer: Stone and Webster Company
Date: 1911

Extending two levels above grade and three levels below, this hydroelectric
station is a flat-roofed, steel-framed, brick-walled building with a stone and
concrete substructure. Measuring 192 feet by 72 feet, the facades are
symmetrically arranged in panels articulated by pilasters with an inset stone
capital. Rectangular window openings are centered within each bay, and
originally featured eight-light industrial sash. The slightly projecting
cornice is supported on corbelled brick consoles. Separated from the shore by
a narrow,. concrete log sluice (see No. 40), the plant is connected to Main
Street by two steel-girder bridges. The plant originally drew waterpower
directly from the east-side mill pond, discharging the flow through tailrace
tunnels that exited about two-hundred yards downstream on Hennepin Island. An
overhead, metal, vehicular door has been added to the Main Street facade, and
original window openings have been infilled with brick. Otherwise the
building has experienced little alteration.




stagorm 10-900-a OMB Approval No. 1024-0018
(8-86)

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES St. Anthony Falls Historic District

CONTINUATION SHEET St. Anthony Falls Waterpower Area
Minneapolis, Hennepin Co., MN

Section number __7 Page 35

Completed in 1911, Main Street Station is the second building of the same name
on the site. The original plant was constructed in 1894 by the Minneapolis
General Electric Company, which was acquired by Stone and Webster of Boston in
1899. When the station burned to the ground in 1911, Stone and Webster, which
was also a major engineering firm, designed and built a new hydroelectric
station, incorporating from the earlier plant three horizontal turbines with
corresponding wheel pit and tailrace systems. In the new plant, the turbines
were connected to new Westinghouse generators by rope drives. The generating
units produced three-phase 13,200 volt alternating current, stepped down by
transformers in the building to 2,300 volts for distribution in the municipal
grid. In 1912, Main Street Station was acquired by Consumers Power Company,
which was later reorganized as Northern States Power Company. The building
remained an active generating facility until 1968. Surviving equipment at the
site includes the 1894 turbines and 1911 generators with rope drives. A
modern substation yard on the building’‘s east elevation is still in operation.

This property consists of one contributing structure.

40. Historic Name: Log Sluice
Location: South side of Southeast Main Street, between west end of Main
Street Hydroelectric Station and foot of Third Avenue SE.
Date: 1898
Engineer: William de la Barre

Completed in 1898, the log sluice was designed and built under the supervision
of William de la Barre, chief engineer of the Pillsbury-Washburn Company,
which at the time controlled the east side waterpower. The structure was
intended to proteect the east side dam from logs and floating debris by
providing a separate channel along the Main Street shore. Extending from the
face of the dam to the north-central section of Hennepin Island, the sluice
was an open limestone conduit about four feet in width and 500 feet in length.
At an undetermined date, sections of the sluice were rebuilt in concrete.
During the mid-1930s, the lower half of the sluice was backfilled to construct
an access road from Main Street to the St. Anthony Falls Hydraulic Laboratory
(see No. 41) on Hennepin Island. The surviving portion retains its historical
integrity because it is of sufficient length to interpret the structure’s
original function and to convey a sense of its original scale.

This property consists of one contributing structure.
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41. Historic Name/Common Name: St. Anthony Falls Hydraulic Laboratory
Location: On Hennepin Island, below Southeast Main Street
Architect/Engineer: Lorenz G. Straub ’

Date: 1938

Located on the west side of Hennepin Island, the St. Anthony Falls Hydraulic
Laboratory is linked to Main Street by means of a north-south access road. Of
primarily reinforced-concrete construction, the flat-roofed building features
an irregular plan with one-story and two-story sections. Window openings are
rectangular with industrial steel sash. Portions of exterior walls have
recently been sheathed in metal siding, which is compatible with the
building’s original nondescript industrial character. Operated by the
University of Minnesota, the laboratory is a research facility specializing in
modeling studies of hydraulic phenomena and structures. Equipped with wheel
pits for testing turbines, the laboratory draws water from the east side
millpond and returns the flow through a tailrace on Hennepin Island. Designed
by the nationally prominent hydraulic engineer Lorenz G. Straub, the building
was completed with WPA assistance in 1938.

This property consists of one contributing building.

42. Historic/Common Name: Pillsbury "A" Mill Transformer Building
Location: Hennepin Island, west side of access road to St. Anthony
Falls Hydraulics Laboratory.
Architect/Engineer: Unknown
Date: 1918

Constructed in 1918, this one-story, flat-roofed, brick building originally
contained transformer equipment supplying electrical current to the Pillsbury
"A" Mill complex on the opposite side of Main Street (see No. 29). Measuring
25 feet by 13 feet, it displays a single-leaf metal door on its north facade.
All original window openings have been bricked up. At an undetermined date,
the building was emptied of its transformers and converted into a control
house for a concrete-slab substation yard constructed immediately to the east.

This property consists of one contributing structure.

43. Historic/Common Name: 70-Foot Phillip Pillsbury Park Bridge
44. Historic/Common Name: 75-Foot Phillip Pillsbury Park Bridge
45. Historic/Common Name: 80-Foot Phillip Pillsbury Park Bridge
46. Historic/Common Name: 96-Foot Phillip Pillsbury Park Bridge
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Location: Hennepin Island
Architect/Engineer: Sasaki Associates
Date: 1978

In the late 1970s, the Minneapolis Park and Recreation Board commissioned
Sasaki Associates of Watertown, Massachusetts to design a municipal park on
the northeastern part of Hennepin Island. The landscaping included four,
single-span, laminated-wood, arched footbridges with concrete abutments, wood
decking, and wood railings. All are about eight feet in width. The longest
bridge, 96 feet in span, links the downstream tip of Hennepin Island to the
Main Street shore. The other three bridges are located entirely on the
island. The shortest bridge (70-foot) crosses the tail race channel of the
Pillsbury "A" Mill (see No. 29). The 75-Foot Bridge spans the tail race of
Main Street Station (see No. 39), while the 80-Foot Bridge spans the tailrace
channel of the Hennepin Island Hydroelectric Plant (see No. 38).

These properties are four non-contributing structures, due to their
construction after the district’s period of significance.

47. Historic Name: St. Anthony Falls Water Power Company
Canal/Pillsbury Canal
Location: Under Southeast Main Street, between Second and Third Avenues
Southeast
Date: 1881

In 1881, the St. Anthony Falls Water Power Company excavated a canal to supply
waterpower to the Pillsbury "A" Mill (see No. 29), then under construction.
Drawing water from the east side mill pond, the canal’s inlet was located at
the foot of Second Avenue Southeast, approximately 50 feet upstream from the
east side dam. For the first 70 feet, the canal ran northward into the shore,
then, at a right angle, it traveled eastward under Main Street for about 400
feet, terminating at the Pillsbury "A" Mill. Lined with limestone masonry,
the canal was an arched structure, 14 feet in width and 37 feet in height,
from floor to vault. Although designed primarily for the Pillsbury milling
operation, the canal also supplied waterpower to the Phoenix Flour Mill (see
No. 80), which stood just west of the "A" Mill on Main Street. When the
Pillsbury "A" Mill went off waterpower in 1955, the canal’s inlet was sealed
with concrete. Otherwise, the structure retains its original design.

This property consists of one contributing structure.
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Historic Landscape Sites

48. Historic Name: Falls of St. Anthony, East Channel Escarpment
Location: Hennepin Island, east of access road to St. Anthony Falls
Hydraulic Laboratory

This limestone ledge is the only visible section of falls scarp remaining at
the Falls of St. Anthony. All other sections of the cataract have either
naturally eroded or have been rendered invisible by various types of
engineering, particularly the construction of an apron (see No. 2) over the
main channel of the falls in the 1870s. The ledge is approximately 10 feet
thick and 40 feet wide. Partially supported by a limestone wall, it overhangs
a tailrace-tunnel outlet of the Main Street Hydroelectric Station, situated
approximately two-hundred yards upstream. The ledge is bordered by two
historic archaeological sites: on the south, by a section of concrete log
sluice, which once extended upstream to the east-side mill pond; on the north,
by a brick-wall fragment of the demolished Pillsbury "A" Steam Power Plant
(see No. 78), which formerly served the Pillsbury "A" Mill (see No. 29) on the
opposite side of Main Street Southeast.

During the 1850s, the ledge formed part of the East Channel of the Falls of
Sst. Anthony. Its general appearance and location are documented by a
photograph taken by Alexander Hesler in 1851, and published under the caption,
"The Falls and the East Side, 1851," in Edward A. Bromley's Minneapolis
Portrait of the Past (Minneapolis, 1890). At that time, the falls were a major
scenic attraction, imbued, as Bromley notes, with "great picturesqueness and
beauty." In 1870, however, the flow of the falls at this point in the East
Channel was cut off by the construction of a dam between Hennepin Island and
the east bank at the present site of Main Street Hydroelectric Station. 1In
the late 1930s, the channel itself was filled, just north of the limestone
ledge, by building an access road from the foot of Third Avenue Southeast at
Main Street to the newly completed St. Anthony Falls Hydraulic Laboratory (see

No. 41) on Hennepin Island.

This property consists of one contributing site.
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Historic Archaeological Sites

The following descriptions of historic archaeological sites rely heavily on
the following studies by archaeologist Scott F. Anfinson: Archaeological
Potentials on the West Side of the Central Minneapolis Waterfront (St. Paul:
Minnesota Historical Society, 1984); "Archaeological Sites of the St. Anthony
Falls Area," unpublished report prepared for the Minnesota Historical Society,

1986.

49. Historic Name: Occidental Feed Mill
Address: 400-404 South First Street
Date: 1883, constructed

Located on South First Street at the foot of Fourth Avenue South, the
Occidental Feed Mill marked the upstream limit of waterpowered industry on the
west side of the falls. Built by McAlister, Chase and Company in 1883, the
mill was of brick and stood two stories high, with a 40,000-bushel elevator
built into the west end. Exterior dimensions measured 85 feet by 25 feet by
40 feet. A small, two-story, brick office (31 feet by 25 feet) adjoined the
mill on the west. Boasting a daily capacity of 100 tons of feed, the mill was
driven by a line shaft connected to the water turbines of the Second Bassett
Sawmill, located about 200 feet downstream. The Occidental Mill burned in
November 1919, and the upper walls were torn down the following year.
Foundation walls are visible just west of the Fuji-Ya Restaurant (see No. 8).

This property consists of one contributing site.

50. Historic Name: Columbia Flour Mill
Address: 406-416 South First Street
Date: 1882, constructed

Built in 1882 by the Columbia Mill Company of which J.B. Bassett was
president, the Columbia Flour Mill was located on the river side of South
First Street, between Fourth and Fifth Avenue South. Rising above a limestone
foundation, the five-story brick building measured 120 feet by 35 feet, with
an elevator built into the west side. Initially, power was supplied by a line
shaft connected to the water turbines of the Second Bassett Sawmill, located
immediately downstream. In 1889, a two-story brick boilerhouse addition was
constructed on the mill‘s east end to provide supplemental steam power. After
the Columbia Mill was purchased by the Northwestern Consclidated Milling
Company in 1891, it was designated as the company’s "B" Mill. 1In the 1930s,
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the mill became a grain storehouse, known as the Harbor Elevator. Although
most of the building was torn down in the early 1940s, the boilerhouse section
survived, and a portion was included in the Fuji-Ya Restaurant, which was
built on the site in 1968. In 1974, a restaurant addition incorporated part
of the stone foundations of the original mill.

This property consists of one contributing site.

51. Historic Name: Second Bassett Sawmill
Address: 418-430 South First Street
Date: 1870, constructed

Originally the site of several small woodworking shops, the Second Bassett
Sawmill was built in 1870 to replace the building, immediately downstream,
that J.B. Bassett sold to the city as a waterworks (see No. 52). Located on
the south side of the district’s main Power Canal (see No. 53), the new
sawmill had a stone foundation and a two-story frame upper portion. The
mill‘’s water turbines not only powered the sawmill, but also the Occidental
Mill and Columbia Mill (see Nos. 49 and 51), both located just upstream.
Auxiliary steam power plants were built into the west end of the building in
1889 and 1891. Although the sawmill was demolished after a fire in 1897,

the brick wheelhouses remained at the site to provide waterpower to the
Columbia and Occidental Mills. These buildings were cleared in the 1940s, and
the surrounding area was paved for parking lot in the 1960s. 1In 1976, a city
utility creW’reportéd the survival of a gear-filled structure below grade.

In 1985, the Minnesota Historical Society sponsored archaeological testing of
the site, which located the corner of one wheelhouse approximately three feet
below grade. It is possible that additional archaeological remnant of the
site’s milling and waterpower history survive, especially wheel pits and
raceways.

This property consists of one contributing site.

52. Historic Name: First Bassett Sawmill/Second City Waterworks
Address: 500--506 South First Street
Date: . 1866, 1871, constructed

In 1866, J.B. Bassett built a two-story stone sawmill on the south side of the
district’s main Power Canal (see No. 53), just above the canal’s gatehouse.

In 1871 the city bought the mill for a waterworks, removed the building’s top
story, and installed the waterpowered, rotary Holly pumps originally located
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in the First City Waterworks slightly downstream (see No. 57). 1In 1886, the
building received a brick addition on the west side for an auxiliary steam
power plant. The waterworks continued in operation for the remainder of the
nineteenth century, providing an invaluable service in the fire-prone milling
district. When the city opened a new waterworks in Columbia Heights in 1904,
the mill district building was converted into storage by Northwestern

' Consolidated Milling Company. It was completely demolished in the early
1930s. In 1986, archaeological testing sponsored by the Minnesota Historical
Society 1located extensive portions of the building’s west and north
foundation walls approximately three feet below grade. Additional
archaeological remnants of the site’'s waterpower history may also survive.

This property consists of one contributing site.

53. Historic Name: Minneapolis Mill Company Gatehouse and Power Canal
Address: The route of South First Street, from approximately the foot
of Fifth Avenue South to the foot of Eighth Avenue South

Dates: 1858, 1867, 1885, constructed

In 1856, the newly incorporated Minneapolis Mill Company embarked on an
ambitious construction program for the west side milling district, adopting a
general plan for waterpower development that had been first successfully
implemented at Lowell Massachusetts during the 1820s. Under the "Lowell
model, " manufacturers purchased millsites and leased waterpower from the
development company, which was responsible for building and maintaining the
waterpower distribution system, typically consisting of a dam, gatehouse, and
power canal. On their part, manufacturers were responsible for building their
own mills, including the headraée, which drew water from the power canal, and
the tailrace, which returned the spent flow to the river. For the design of
its waterpower distribution system, the Minneapolis Mill Company turned to
Charles H. Bigelow, a West Point graduate who, during the previous decade, had
supervised the construction of the Lowell-inspired power network at Lawrence,

Massachusetts.

Bigelow’s plan for the west side milling district differed in one very
important respect from the Lowell model. At Lowell, and the other Eastern
milling centers it inspired, the millsites lined a strip of land -- in reality
an artificial island -- bounded on one side by the power canal and the other
side by the river. 1In the west side milling district, however, Bigelow
located millsites on both sides of the power canal. This was made possible by
the area‘s peculiar‘bedrock formation, consisting of a hard, thin limestone
layer surmounting a deep, soft sandstone layer. Since the sandstone was
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easily excavated by pick and shovel, it was economically feasible to dig
tailrace tunnels beneath the power canal to the river, thereby opening up
millsites on the inland (south) side of the canal. '

By 1858, the Minneapolis Mill Company completed both the dam and the first
section of its power canal. Averaging about 50 feet in width and 14 feet in
depth, the limestone-lined canal entered the shore at a 30-degree angle near
the foot of Fifth Avenue South and then proceeded eastward along South First
Street for 215 feet, terminating at the foot of Portland Avenue. In 1867, the
canal was lengthened to 600 feet, and in 1885, to 950 feet, when it was also
deepened to 20 feet. As part of the 1885 improvement, the canal received a
new control structure, called a "gatehouse," which, by means of sliding
vertical gates, regulated the flow of water into the head of the canal.
Straddling the canal opposite the Crown Roller Mill (see No. 9), the gatehouse
was a one-story brick building on a limestone foundation containing eight,
arched, granite gateways. Apparently from the very beginning, the canal was
covered by wood planking to form a roadway. In 1878, the roadway was
surmounted by a railroad trestle to give the mills along the canal better
access to rail transportation.

The Minneapolis Mill Company Power Canal was largely responsible for turning
the west side of the river into the country’s most densely industrialized,
direct-drive waterpower district. As the hydraulic engineer James P. Frizell
noted in 1883, "There is, probably, no example in existence of so large an
amount of power derived from so short a canal." At the time of Frizell’s
observation, the west side milling district contained approximately two dozen
waterpowered flour mills, which helped make Minneapolis the nation’s leading
flouring center for the next half century.

During the 1930s, -most of the canal mills were abandoned or demolished,
victims of antigquated construction, financial depression, and altered tariff
and transportation policies that made it cheaper for the district’s milling
companies to operate flour mills in Buffalo and Kansas City. The Washburn "A"
Mill (see No. 17), however, remained on waterpower until 1960, when the
construction of the Upper Lock (see No. 16) closed off the canal’s water
supply. At that time, the gatehouse superstructure was demolished, and the
canal itself was backfilled and paved to form present-day South First Street.
Photographs of the canal’s abandonment indicate that the structure was left
basically intact. 1In 1986, archaeological testing sponsored by the
Minneapolis Historic Society excavated a portion of the gatehouse substructure
(west facade), including four of the original arched gateways.

This property consists of one contributing site.
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54. Historic Name: People’s Flour Mill
Address: 512-514 South First Street
Date: 1867, constructed

In 1867, G. F. Walker and Thomas Noble built a small, two-story, frame flour
mill on the river (north) side of the district’s main Power Canal (see No.
53), immediately west of the Arctic Mill. Known as the People‘’s Mill, the
building was torn down in the late 1870s, probably to make way for the
Minneapolis Eastern Railway. Currently undeveloped, brush-covered,
municipally~owned property, the site preserves below grade important remnants
of its milling and waterpower history, especially wheel pits and raceways.

This property consists of one contributing site.

55. Historic Name: Arctic Flour Mill/St. Anthony Flour Mill
Address: 516-520 South First Street
Date: 1866, constructed

Built by Perkins, Crocker and Company in 1866, the Arctic Mill stood on the
river (north) side of the district’s main Power Canal (see No. 53),
immediately west of the Union Mill. The original four limestone stories
received a fifth-story brick addition at an undetermined date. The building
was of irregular plan, measuring 55 feet on the north, 30 feet on the west,
and 65 feet on the east. After its purchase by G. Hineline, W. G. Plenk, and
S. H. Wheeler in 1879, the enterprise was renamed the St. Anthony Flour Mill.
Around the turn of the century, the St. Anthony Mill was taken over by the
Northwestern Consolidated Milling Company, which referred to it as the "H"
Mill. Although the building was demolished about 1920, the turbine pit and
raceway system remained, allowing Northern States Power Company to install a
hydroelectric generating unit at the site in 1932, One of several former
millsites to be included in what was known as the "Consolidated Hydro Plant,"
the property continued to produce electricity until 1960, when the closing of
the Power Canal suspended operations. Currently undeveloped, brush-covered,
municipally-owned land, the site preserves below grade important remnants of
its milling and waterpower history, especially wheel pits and raceways.

This property consists of one contributing site.
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S6. Historic Name: Union Flour Mill ]
Address: 522~524 South First Street i
Date: 1863, constructed ’

Built by Henry Gibson in 1863, the Union Flour Mill stood on the river (north)
side of the district‘s main Power Canal (see No. 53), between the Arctic Flour
Mill (see No. 55) on the west and the Holly Flour Mill (see No.57) on the
east. It was a four-story, limestone building, measuring 45 feet by 60 feet.
During its first twenty-five years of operation, its owners included Gibson
and Darrow, George Brackett, Hobart and Shuler, Morse and Sammis, Darrow and
Dibble, and W. I. McAffe. After 1892, the building was used for storage. It
was demolished by 1930. A portion of the building’s south foundation wall
still borders the route of the canal; it is approximately three feet high and
two feet thick. The remainder of the property is undeveloped, brush-covered,
municipally-owned land. It preserves below grade additional remnants of the
site’s milling and waterpower history, especially wheel pits and raceways.

This property consists of one contributing site.

57. Historic Name: First City Waterworks/Holly Flour Mill
Address: 526 South First Street
Date: 1867, constructed

In 1867 the City of Minneapolis constructed a small limestone building on the
river (north) side of the district’s main Power Canal (see No. 53) for use as
a municipal waterworks. The equipment included two waterpowered, rotary Holly
pumps. When the city sold the building to flour milling interests in 1872,
the new owners commemorated the building’s original function by naming their
new venture the Holly Mill. One of the smallest mills in the west side
district, the building originally stood only two stories high, measuring 45
feet by 55 feet by 60 feet, in a roughly triangular plan. Three stone stories
were added in 1872, and a sixth wooden story by 1880. In 1900, the building
became storage space. It was demolished about 1920. A portion of the
building’s south foundation wall still borders the route of the canal; it is
approximately three feet high and two feet thick. The remainder of the
property is undeveloped, brush-covered, municipally-owned land. It preserves
below grade additional remnants of the site’s milling and waterpower history,

especially wheel pits and raceways.

This property consists of one contributing site.
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58. Historic Name: Cataract Flour Mill
Address: 528~530 South First Street
Date: 1859, constructed

Eastman, Gibson and Company constructed the first privately built flour mill
on the west side of the river in 1859. The limestone used to build the
Cataract Mill came from the excavation for the district’s main Power Canal
(see No. 53). Located on the river (north) side of the canal, just west of
Portland Avenue, the three-story mill measured 45 feet by 60 feet. It
received a fourth-story addition in 1875. Four years later, it was expanded
by a six-story wooden elevation addition on north and a brick office on the
south. After several changes in ownership, the mill was purchased in 1869 by
R. D. Barber, whose family remained at the helm until 1923. The building was
torn down in 1928, but the engraved door lintels were saved and incorporated
into a remaining foundation wall fronting South First Street. The lintels
have since exfoliated and the inscriptions are no longer legible. In the mid-
1960s, an Eastman family descendant cemented a millstone onto the lintel as a
commemorative marker. The foundation wall itself is approximately three feet
high and two feet thick. An additional section of the foundation, which once
formed the building’s northeast corner, also survives; it is approximately six
feet high and two feet thick. The remainder of the property is undeveloped,
brush~covered, municipally-owned land. It preserves below grade other
important remnants of the site’s milling and waterpower history, especially
wheel pits and raceways.

This property consists of one contributing site.

59. Historic Name: Russell’s Planing Mill/Model Flour Mill/King Midas Mill
Address: 525-527 South First Street
Date: 1863, constructed .

In 1863 R.P. Russell and George Hay built a stone, two-story, waterpowered
planing mill on the south side of the district’s main Power Canal (see No.53),
just west of Portland Avenue across the canal from the future site of the
Holly Mill (see No. 57). Drawing waterpower from the canal through a
headrace, the factory discharged the spent flow through a tailrace that
tunneled beneath the canal to the river. 1In 1878 R. P. Russell and Company
converted the building into a flour mill, adding three brick stories. When
the building burned in 1883, the brick walls were torn down and a single story
above the original stone walls was rebuilt. Two years later, the property was
acquired by Willford and Northway Manufacturing Company, producers of milling
machinery who, in 1888, added a rear (north) brick addition consisting of a
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machine shop and office. In 1894, the building burned again, and was rebuilt
to four stories, once again utilizing the original stone stories. After this
fire, the building was converted into a storage facility. 1In the early 1920s,
the mill-turned-storehouse was combined with the adjacent Dakota Flour Mill
(see No., 60), and renamed the King Midas Mill, which remained in operation
until 1961. In 1967, the building burned for the third time, and was
subsequently demolished. The site currently is occupied by the Whitney Mill
Quarter Plaza, constructed in 1987 (see No. 13). Wheel pits and raceways
survive below grade.

This property consists of one contributing site.
Historic Name: Russell Flour Mill/Dakota Flour Mill/King Midas Mill

Address: 529-531 South First Avenue
Date: 1868, constructed

60.

In 1868 R.P. Russell and Company built a two-story, frame flour mill on the

south side of the district’s main Power at the corner of
South First Street and Portland Avenue.
through a headrace, the mill discharged

Canal (see No. 53),
Drawing waterpower from the canal
the spent flow through a tailrace that

tunneled beneath the canal to the river. The building originally measured 45
feet by 60 feet. In 1873, H. F. Brown, W. F. Cahill, F. L. Greenleaf, and S.
S. Brown purchased the Russell Mill and renamed it the Dakota Mill. In 1892,
the property was acquired by National Milling Company, which added a third
story and sheathed the exterior in corrugated iron. 1In 1923, the Dakota Mill
was consolidated with the adjacent Model Flour Mill (see No. 59) to form the
King Midas Flour Mill, which remained in operation until 1961. In 1967, the
building burned and was subsequently demolished. The site currently is
occupied by the Whitney Mill Quarter Plaza, constructed in 1987 (see No. 13).

Wheel pits and raceways survive below grade.

This property consists of one contributing site.

Minneapolis Eastern Railroad Trestle Piers
just south of Stone Arch Bridge

Historic Name:
Location: East side of Portland Avenue,

Date: , 1890, constructed

61.

In 1878 J.B. Bassett incorporated the Minneapolis Eastern Railway Company to
accommodate the rapidly expanding need of west side millers for shipping flour
and receiving grain. Sponsored by the Milwaukee and Omaha Roads, the new
railway was a "switching" line, shuttling boxcars between the various mills
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and the rail yards of the national carriers. Maintaining an enginehouse (see
No. 7) on the west end of the milling district, the railway serviced its
customers by means of a trestle extending about 550 feet along the north
facade of the mills on the river (north) side of the Power Canal. The
original trestle, completed in 1879, was probably a wooden structure. It was
rebuilt in 1890, with limestone piers and a metal superstructure. Except for
the Empire Flour Mill (see No. 62) at the west end of the canal, which
remained in operation as an elevator until 1962, most of the mill buildings
on the river side of the canal were torn down during the 1930s. Not
surprisingly, the trestle reflected the fate of its clients. Its east half
was torn down in 1941, and its west half in 1962. At present, only two side-
by-side, limestone piers survive from the structure. Located on the east
side of Portland Avenue, just south of the Stone Arch Bridge (see No. 15),

the piers stand about 19 feet apart. Each is five feet square and eight feet
high. Although the piers no longer retain their historic structural integrity
as a trestle, they help define the historic route of one of the milling
district’s most important transportation systems.

This property consists of one contributing site.

62. Historic Name: Clapp Woolen Mill/Empire Flour Mill/Pillsbury "B"
Elevator
Address: 600-604 South First Street
Dates: 1865, constructed; 1881, burned; 1888 reconstructed

In 1865 Clapp and Company erected a four-story, limestone woolen mill,
measuring 40 feet by 70 feet, on the river (north) side of the district’s main
Power Canal (see No. 53), at the foot of Portland Avenue. In 1872 C.A.
Pillsbury and Company bought the building and converted it into a flour mill
called the Empire Mill. 1In 1881, the Empire Mill and three adjacent mills
were destroyed by fire. The site was vacant until 1888, when Pillsbury
Company built their "B" Elevator there, probably utilizing some of the Empire
Mill’s foundations. The brick elevator was connected to the Pillsbury "B"
Flour Mill (see No. 64) to the east by two long spouts that ran over the
intervening Minneapolis Mill. 1In 1929 the King Midas Division of the Peavey
Company bought the elevator and it became known as the King Midas Elevator.
Abandoned in 1962, the building burned in 1969 and was demolished soon
afterward. Much of the site is currently occupied by a bituminous-surfaced
parking lot. Foundation walls, approximately one story in height, are visible
on the north side of the property, which slopes towards the river. Wheel pits

and raceways survive below grade.
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An extensive archaeological examination of the site was conducted in 1989 by
the Minnesota Historical Society. This excavation documented the tops of the
foundation walls and an assortment of features along the riverside edge of the
building including a turbine assembly.

This property consists of one contributing site.

63. Historic Name: Minneapolis Flour Mill
Address: 606-610 South First Street
Dates: 1865, constructed; 1871, burned and reconstructed; 1881, burned
and reconstructed

In 1865 Frazee, Murphy and Company built the Minneapolis Mill on the river
(north) side of the district’s main Power Canal (see No. 53), immediately east
of the Clap Woolen Mill (see No. 62). The limestone building stood four
stories high and measured 55 feet by 60 feet. 1In 1871, and again in 1881, the
mill burned and was rebuilt, the last time as a five-story building, measuring
60 feet by 70 feet. 1In 1890, the mill received a three-story wood addition on
the north. Excavations for this addition uncovered a dugout canoce of supposed
aboriginal origin. In 1893, the mill was acquired by Washburn-Crosby Company,
which renamed it the "D" Mill. The building was demolished in 1931. Much of
the site is currently occupied by a bituminous-surfaced parking lot.
Foundation walls, approximately one-story in height, are visible on the north
side of the property, which slopes toward the river. Additional remnants of
the site’s milling and waterpower history, especially wheel pits and raceways,
survive below grade.

This property consists of one contributing site.

64. Historic Name: Alaska Flour Mill/Pillsbury "B" Flour Mill
Address: 612-616 South First Street
Dates: 1866, constructed; burned, 1881l; reconstructed, 1882

In 1866 Taylor Brothers, a Philadelphia firm, built a five-story limestone
flour mill, measuring 60 feet by 80 feet, on the river (north) side of the
district‘s main Power Canal, immediately east of the Minneapolis Flour Mill
(see No. 63). Originally named the Alaska Flour Mill, the building was
purchased by C. A. Pillsbury and Company in the 1870s. Destroyed by fire in
1881, the mill was rebuilt the following year on a slightly larger scale (six
stories, 70 feet by 105 feet) and named the Pillsbury "B" Mill, to distinguish
it from the Pillsbury "A" Mill that had recently been completed on the east
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side of the river. The building was demolished in 1931. Currently serving as
a gravel storage yard, the site preserves below grade important remnants of
its milling and waterpower history, especially wheel pits and raceways.

This property consists of one contributing site.

65. Historic Name: Minneapolis Cotton Mill/Excelsior Flour Mill
Address: 618-620 South First Street
Dates: 1870, constructed; 1881, burned and reconstructed

Dorilus Morrison built the Minneapolis Cotton Mill in 1870 on the river
(north) side of the district’s main Power Canal (see No. 53), just below the
Blaska Flour Mill (see No. 64). The brick-faced, two-story limestone building
measured 40 feet by 100 feet. Seamless bags, carpet warps, and cotton bats
were manufactured there. When the cotton mill closed in the mid-1870s, the
building was converted into a four-story flour mill called the Excelsior Mill.
Destroyed by fire in 1881, it was immediately rebuilt as a six-story flour
mill, which operated under various owners until it was dismantled in the early
1900s. From 1932 to 1960s, the site was used to generated hydroelectricity,
as part of Northern States Power Company’s "Consolidated Hydro Plant," which
comprised several former millsites in the area. The closing of the Power
Canal in 1960 suspended the hydroelectric operation. Currently serving as a
gravel storage yard, the site preserves below grade important remnants of its
milling and waterpower history, especially wheel pits and raceways.

This property consists of one contributing site.

66. Historic Name: Minneapolis Paper Mill/Pillsbury Warehouse "C"
Address: 622-626 South First Street
Dates: 1867, constructed

Completed in 1867, the Minneapolis Paper Mill stood on the river (north) side
of the district’s main Power Canal (see No. 53), just west of the foot of
Seventh Avenue South. Designed to manufacture book and printing paper, it
originally was a brick-faced, two-story limestone building, measuring 68 feet
by 105 feet. After changing hands several times, the building was acquired in
the early 1890s by Pillsbury-Washburn Company, which replaced the
superstructure with a five-story brick warehouse, later designated as
Pillsbury Warehouse "C." After the warehouse was demolished in 1931, Northern
States Power Company installed a hydroelectric generating unit at the site,
apparently using the paper mill‘s original wheel pit and raceway system. One
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of several former millsites to be included in what was known as the
"Consolidated Hydro Plant," the property continued to produce electricity
until 1960, when the closing of the Power Canal suspended operations.
Currently serving as a gravel storage yard, the site preserves below grade
important remnants of its milling and waterpower history, especially wheel
pits and raceways.

This property consists of one contributing site.

67. Historic Name: Northwestern Flour Mill
Address: 628-632 South First Street
Date: 1879, constructed

In 1879 Siddle, Fletcher and Holmes built the Northwestern Flour Mill on the
river (north) side of the district’s main Power Canal, at the foot of Seventh
Avenue South, just west of the Minneapolis Paper Mill (see No. 66). Measuring
50 feet by 107 feet, the limestone building stood five stories high.

Purchased by Northwestern Consolidated Milling Company in 1891, the mill was
renamed the company’s "D" Mill. It ceased operations in 1926, and was
demolished in 1931. Currently serving as a gravel storage yard, the site
preserves below grade important remnants of its milling and waterpower
history, especially wheel pits and raceways.

This property consists of one contributing site.

68. Historic Name: Pettit Flour Mill/Northwestern Consolidated Company
Elevator "B"
Address: 700-~706 South First Street
Dates: 1875, constructed; 1878, destroyed by explosion and
reconstructed

Built in 1875 by Pettit, Robinson and Company, the Pettit Mill was a four-
story, limestone, measuring 60 feet by 100 feet. It was located on the river
(north) side of the district’s main Power Canal (see No. 53), at the foot of
Seventh Avenue South, immediately west of the Zenith Flour Mill (see No. 69).
Destroyed in the Washburn "A" Mill explosion of 1878, it was immediately
rebuilt as a five-story stone structure. In 1891, the building became the
property of Northwestern Consolidated Milling Company, which converted it into
a 200,000-bushel elevator. It op®rated as the company’s Elevator "B" until
its demolition in 1931. Currently serving as a gravel storage yard, the site
preserves below grade important remnants of its milling and waterpower
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history, especially wheel pits and raceways.

This property consists of one contributing site.

69. Historic Name: Zenith Flour Mill
Address: 708-710 South First Street
Dates: 1871, constructed; 1878, destroyed by explosion and
reconstructed

The Zenith Mill was built in 1871 by Leonard Day and M.B. Rollins. It was on
the river (north) side of the district’s main Power Canal (see No. 53),
between Seventh and Eighth Avenues South. Measuring 40 feet by 60 feet, the
three-story limestone building was reportedly the first Minneapolis Mill to
introduce rollers, installed in 1873. Destroyed by the Washburn "A" Mill
explosion of 1878, the mill was immediately rebuilt as a slightly larger,
four-story stone building. 1In 1891, the property was acquired by Northwestern
Consolidated Milling Company, which redesignated it as the company’s "E" Mill.
Ceasing production in 1922, the building was demolished in 1931. The
following year, Northern States Power Company installed a hydroelectric
generating unit at the site, apparently using the mill’s original wheel pit
and raceway system. One of several former millsites to be included in what
was known as the "Consolidated Hydro Plant," the property continued to produce
electricity until 1960, when the closing of the Power Canal suspended
operations. Currently serving as a gravel storage yard, the site preserves
below grade important remnants of its milling and waterpower history,
especially wheel pits and raceways.

This property consists of one contributing site.

70. Historic Name: Galaxy Flour Mill
Address: 712~716 South First Street
Dates: 1874, constructed; 1875, burned and reconstructed; 1878,

destroyed by explosion and reconstructed

In 1874, W. P. Ankeny built the Galaxy Flour Mill on the river (north) side of
the district’s main Power Canal (see No. 53}, between Seventh and Eighth
Avenues South, immediately east of the Zenith Mill (see No. 69). Destroyed by
fire the following year, the mill was immediately rebuilt as a five-story,
limestone building, measuring 40 feet by 125 feet. Destroyed again in 1878,
by the Washburn "A"™ Mill explosion, the mill was again rebuilt, this time as a
six-story stone building, measuring 65 feet by 100 feet. A wooden elevator,
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30 feet by 70 feet, was attached to its east side. 1In 1887, the building was
enlarged by tin-clad top story and a boilerhouse. When Northwestern
Consolidated Milling Company acquired the property in 1891, it became the
firm’s "C" Mill. Ceasing production in 1922, the building was demolished in
1931. The following year, Northern States Power Company installed a
hydroelectric generating unit at the site, apparently using the mill‘’s
original wheel pit and raceway system. One of several former millsites to be
included in what was known as the "Consolidated Hydro Plant," the property
continued to produce electricity until 1960, when the closing of the Power
Canal suspended operations. Currently serving as a gravel storage yard, the
site preserves below grade important remnants of its milling and waterpower
history, especially wheel pits and raceways.

This property consists of one contributing site.

71. Historic Name: Minneapolis and St. Louis Railroad Wheelhouse
Address: 722 South First Street
Date:1878, constructed

In 1878 the Minneapolis and St. Louis Railroad built a wooden trestle over the
Minneapolis Mill Company Power Canal to give the district’s flour mills direct
access to rail transportation. Since locomotives were too heavy for the
trestle, they were not allowed beyond the earthen grade that ended just east
of the Galaxy Flour Mill (see No. 70). The train cars were moved along the
trestle by a cable powered by a water turbine located in a small, frame
wheelhouse on the river (north) side of the Power Canal (see No. 53), about 50
feet east of the Galaxy Flour Mill (see No. 70). Reconstructed several times,
the wheelhouse apparently survived until about 1960, although the trestle
itself was removed completely in 1936. Currently serving as a gravel storage
yard, the wheelhouse site preserves below grade its wheel pit and raceways.

This property consists of one contributing site.

72. ‘Historic Name: Anchor Flour Mill
Address: 606~608 South Second Street
Date: 1874, constructed

In 1874 W.W. Eastman, Paris Gibson, and G.H. Eastman built the six-story,
limestone Anchor Flour Mill on South Second Street, a block south of the
district’s main Power Canal. The mill was powered by a line shaft connected
to a turbine under the North Star Woolen Mill (see No. 14). The turbine
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discharged its flow through a tailrace that tunneled beneath the canal to the
river. Ceasing production in 1928, the mill was demolished in 1937 to make way
for a new warehouse serving the North Star Woolen Mill. This warehouse still
stands, covering important remnants of the site’s flour milling history.

This property consists of one contributing site.

73. Historic Name: Washburn "C" Flour Mill Complex
Address: 614-620 Second Avenue South
Date: 1878, constructed

Completed shortly after the Washburn "A" Mill explosion of 1878, the Washburn
"C" Mill had originally been planned as a west addition to the adjoining
Washburn "B" Mill (see No. 74). But after the explosion, Washburn, Crosby and
Company decided to build it as a larger, separate factory. Fronting South
Second Street, the limestone mill stood six stories high, measuring 105 feet
by 140 feet, with a 60,000-bushel elevator on its north facade. It originally
functioned as an experimental mill to test new flouring processes. In 1885, a
boilerhouse was added to the east wall of the mill’s elevator in order to
provide auxiliary steam power for the complex. The mill‘s water turbines drew
waterpower from a headrace shared with the Washburn "B" Mill. The turbines
discharged the spent flow through a tailrace, also shared with the adjoining
mill, that tunnelled beneath the main Power Canal (see_No..53) to the river.
The "C" Mill Complex'Was demolished in 1960. Currently a bituminous-surfaced
parking lot, the site preserves below grade important remnants of its milling
and waterpower history, especially wheel pits and raceways.

This property consists of one contributing site.

74. Historic Name: Washburn "B" Flour Mill
Address: 622-626 South Second Street
Date: 1866, constructed

Measuring 66 feet by 100 feet, the four-story limestone Washburn "B" Mill was,
at the time of its completion in 1866, the largest flour mill west of Buffalo,
New York. The building was built by C. C. Washburn, who later organized the

prominent milling firm of Washburn Crosby and Company. Fronting South Second
Street at the corner of Seventh Avenue South, the mill stood a block south of
the district’s main Power Canal (see No. 53). 1Its turbines drew waterpower

from the canal from a headrace that entered the mill’s northwest corner. The
spent flow was returned to the river by a tailrace, shared with the adjoining
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Washburn "C" Mill Complex (see No. 73), that tunnelled under the Power Canal.
The Washburn "B" Mill was demolished in 1931. Currently a bituminous-surfaced
parking lot, the site preserves below grade important remnants of its milling
and waterpower history, especially wheel pits and raceways.

This property consists of one contributing site.

75. Historic Name: Palisade Flour Mill
Address: 101 Eighth Avenue South
Date: 1872, constructed

Built by Leonard Day and Company in 1872, the Palisade Flour Mill marked the
downstream limit of industrial waterpower use in the west side milling
district. Located on the river (north) side of the Power Canal (see 53) at
the foot of Eighth Avenue South, the four-story limestone mill measured 60
feet by 80 feet. During the 1880s, the building more than doubled in size,
receiving two additional stories, as well as a stone enginehouse and a brick
boiler room on the east. Pillsbury-Washburn Company took over management of
the Palisade Mill in 1889, and it became part cf Pillsbury Company in 1924.

In 1932, the building’s top four stories were demolished. At the same time,
the boiler and enginehouse additions were leveled. For more than two decades,
the site has served as a gravel storage yard. In 1985, archaeological testing
by the Minnesota Historical Society located a ten-foot-long section of the
mill’s west foundation wall approximately 40 inches below grade. Additional
remnants of the site’s milling and waterpower history also survive, especially
in the form of wheel pits and raceways.

This property consists of one contributing site.

76. Historic Name: Eastman Tunnel
Location: Downstream end of Nicollet Island to the northeast shore of
Hennepin Island
Date: 1868, constructed

In 1868, a business venture organized by Minneapolis entrepreneur W. W.
Eastman began excavating a tunnel beneath the Falls of St. Anthony, running
upstream from Hennepin Island to Nicollet Island. The tunnel was intended to
serve as a tailrace for millsites on Nicollet Island. If the scheme had
succeeded, the falls area would have gained a new milling district.
Unfortunately, those who designed the project did not fully understand the
geology of the river bed and therefore miscalculated the stability of the
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tunnel. In October 1869, as the excavation neared completion, the roof of the
tunnel collapsed at its most upstream point, just below Nicollet Island. As
the river poured into the tunnel, it began to undermine the falls,
jeopardizing the area’s milling industry. After local efforts failed to seal
the tunnel, Congress requested the Corps of Engineers to provide a remedy.
The Corps’ solution was to build a concrete dike (see No. 3) above the falls,
extending beneath the river bed for the full width of the river. The project
began in July 1874, with the sinking of a 30-foot vertical shaft on Hennepin
Island into the ill-fated Eastman Tunnel, which was sealed with concrete.
Portions of the tunnel survive, but their condition is undetermined.
Archaeological investigation of the tunnel remains may lead to a fuller
understanding of the tunnel’s failure and the nature of tailrace engineering

at the falls.

This property consists of one contributing site.

77. Historic Name: Second East Side Platform Sawmills
Location: East channel between foot of Second Avenue Southeast and foot
. of Third Avenue Southeast
Date: 1871-1875, constructed; 1887, burned and reconstructed

During the construction of the St. Anthony Falls Dam in 1856-1858 (see No. 1),
the St. Anthony Falls Water Power Company placed a sawmill platform on the
dam’s timber-crib east wing, whichﬁconnécted“the upstream tip of Hennepin
Island to the shore. After the platform burned in 1870, the company removed
the debris and built a new wing dam and sawmill platform about two blocks
downstream at the foot of Southeast Second Avenue. Between 1871 and 1875, the
platform was equipped with five sawmills that drew waterpower directly from
the east side mill pond and discharged the spent flow about 200 yards
downstream on Hendepin Island, using tailrace tunnels excavated in the river’s
bedrock. In 1887, the second platform also burned, and only one mill, the
second from the west end, was rebuilt. In 1894, the east half of the platform
became the site of a hydroelectric plant (see No. 39), and a decade later, the
last remaining sawmill closed down. Although the platform superstructure has
been demolished, the tailrace system remains, representing one of the
district’s few sawmilling-related resources.

¥

This property consists of one contributing site.
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78. Historic Name: Pillsbury "A" Mill Steam Plant
Location: Hennepin Island, just east of access road to St. Anthony Falls
Hydraulic Laboratory
Date: 1903, constructed

In 1903, the Pillsbury~-Washburn Flour Mills Company supplemented the
waterpower of the Pillsbury "A" Mill (see No. 29) by building a steam plant
across from the mill on Hennepin Island, below the foot of Third Avenue
Southeast. Measuring approximately 35 feet by 115 feet, the brick building
was one and one-half stories with a 150-foot-high brick chimney at the
northwest corner. The building was demolished in the late 1960s. Currently
brush-covered municipal park land, the site contains a one-story brick remnant
of the building’s west wall. The property may contain additional
archaeological remains, which, by virtue of their dimension, construction, and
surviving equipment, may contribute to an understanding of the "A" Mill’s
early twentieth-century power technology.

This property contains one contributing site.

79. Historic Name: St. Anthony Falls Water Power Compény Tailrace/Chute’s
Tunnel
Location: Under Southeast Main Street, from about Third Avenue
Southeast to Fifth Avenue Southeast to just above Fifth
Avenue Southeast
Dates: 1864, 1874, constructed

In 1864, the St. Anthony Falls Water Power Company took its first step toward
improving the east side waterpower with a water-distribution system similar to
that built on the west side of the river almost a decade before. The
company'’s plans included a power canal along Southeast Main Street to supply
millsites with water, and a tailrace tunnel, constructed at a lower level
beneath the street, to return the spent flow to the river. Work began first
on the tailrace tunnel. Since the project was supervised by the company’s
manager Richard Chute, the tailrace was commonly known as "Chute’s Tunnel."
Digging northward from the base of the river bluff near the foot of Fifth
Avenue Southeast, the excavation proceeded for a distance of about 250 feet,
and then turned westward under Main Street, at a depth of about 50 feet.
After progressing about 450 feet under Main Street, however, the work crews
encountered a large subterranean cave, near the present site of the Pillsbury
South "A" Mill Addition (see No. 29). This unexpected obstacle caused
abandonment of the project. In 1874, the company returned to the excavation
and carried the tunnel westward to the site of the Phoenix Flour Mill (see No.
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80), then under construction at the corner of Main Street and Third Avenue
Southeast. At the same time, the company sealed off "Chute’s Cave" with a
concrete bulkhead and provided the upper tunnel with a new outlet to the
river, thereby creating a tailrace for the Phoenix Mill. The tailrace tunnel
remained in use until the mill‘’s demolition in 1956. According to records of
the Minneapolis Department of Public Works, portions of the upper and lower
tailrace tunnel survive, although the tunnel outlets are no longer visible

from the river.

This property consists of one contributing site.

80. Historic Name: Phoenix Flour Mill/Pillsbury Rye Mill
Address: 101-103 Third Avenue Southeast
Date: 1875, constructed

In 1875 Stamwitz and Schober built the four-story, limestone Phoenix Flour
Mill on the northwest corner of the intersection of Main Street and Third
Avenue Southeast. Using a short headrace to draw waterpower from the east
side mill pond, the Phoenix discharged its flow through a tailrace tunnel
exiting at the base of the river bluff (see No. 79). After the St. Anthony
Falls Water Power Company Canal (see No. 53) was completed in 1881, the
Phoenix relied on this structure for its waterpower. Soon afterward, its
tailrace tunnel was connected to the tailrace of the Pillsbury “"A" Mill,
located immediately to the east (see No. 29). The Phoenix Mill itself was
eventually incorporated into the Pillsbury empire, and it finished its days as
the "Pillsbury Rye Mill." After the superstructure of the Phoenix Mill was
demolished in 1956, the site became a bituminous-surfacéd parking lot, thereby
preserving the mill’s subterranean waterpower features.

This property consists of one contributing site.
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8. Statement of Significance

Certifying official has considered the significance of this property:
nationally, statewide, locally

Applicable National Register Criteria: A,C,D
Areas of Significance: Engineering/Industry
Architect/Builder: various

Period of Significance: 1858-1941

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANCE

By virtue of its engineering and industrialization, the St. Anthony Falls
Waterpower Area was the apotheosis of nineteenth-century, American, direct-
drive waterpower development. Beginning in 1858 with the completion of the
Falls of St. Anthony Dam, the developers of the falls adapted a waterpower
distribution system first implemented three decades before at Lowell,
Massachusetts. By the end of the century, they had created the country’s
greatest waterpower industrial district, which was also the country’s leading
flour milling center from 1880 to 1930. Within the context of American
waterpower development, the St. Anthony Falls Waterpower Area is nationally
significant under Criteria A and C in the areas of engineering and industry,
and under Criterion D for the research potential of its historic
archaeological sites associated with waterpower and milling. Additionally,
within the context of Minnesota agricultural development, the area possesses
statewide significance under Criteria A and C in the area of industry, for its
role in stimulating Minnesota wheat production during the late nineteenth and
early twentieth centuries.

DISCUSSION OF SIGNIFICANCE

The Falls of St. Anthony is the only major waterfall on the Mississippi River.
Named by the Belgian missionary Father Louis Hennepin in 1680, the cataract
provided map makers for the next two centuries with one of their few
authenticated landmarks of the North American interior. Although the
waterfall’s cartographic fame attracted explorers, it was the area’s
waterpower potential that led to its initial development. The east side of
the falls was the first parcel in the region to leave the public domain. It
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was pre-empted by the backwoods entrepreneur Franklin Steele in 1838, shortly
after the federal government extinguished Indian title by means of purchase.
At the time, Steele was sutler at Fort Snelling, an Army post about 10 miles
downriver. The fort’s commandant, Major Joseph Plympton, had planned to claim
the waterpower of the falls for himself. Expecting to be the first notified
of the Senate’s ratification of the land-purchase treaties, Plympton fully
intended to be the first to act on the information. Steele, however, managed
to intercept the communication. Dashing to the falls, he staked out his own
claim only hours before the Major’s minions arrived on the scene. When the
government opened its first land office in Minnesota in 1848, Steele entered
his claim for about one-half mile of east-side shoreland, thereby acquiring
riparian title to half the waterpower at the Falls of St. Anthony.

The other half of the cataract’s waterpower belonged to the owners of the
west-side shoreland. This territory first came under federal control in 1819,
as part of the Fort Snelling Military Reservation. 1In the early 1820s, the
Army provided the Fort Snelling garrison with lumber and flour by constructing
a sawmill and gristmill on the west bank of the falls, near the foot of
present-day Portland Avenue. Both mills operated on waterpower "taken out at
the table rock [of the falls] and conducted to the Mills by a [timber) race
placed on the right bank of the river." Although the Army rarely used the
mills after the 1820s, they remained in place at the falls, serving as
tangible evidence of the area’s industrial potential, which, when realized,
would eventually lead to the thorough demolition of both buildings.

While Steele was embarking on the development of the east bank, a variety of
entrepreneurs and speculators were attempting to pry the west bank from
government hands. In 1849, the coveted prize went to Robert Smith, a
Congressman from Alton, Illinois who persuaded the War Department to grant him
a five-year lease of the Army’s millsite. Portraying himself as a humble,
westward-bound settler, Smith declared his intention of moving to Minnesota,
where he and his family would "fix up the old grist mill to grind corn and
other grain, there being no grist mill now in that region of the country.”
Although the Smith family never relocated, the congressman did refit the
government sawmill to grind grain, putting himself in position to buy the
parcel outright in 1853, shortly after the west bank was placed in the public

domain. ‘

By 1856, both Smith and Steele had formed joint-stock corporations to develop
the waterpower of their respective shorelands. The west-side group called
itself the Minneapolis Mill Company, after the town that had just been founded
on that bank of the river. The eastsiders became the St. Anthony Falls Water
Power Company. During 1856-1858, the two companies cooperated in building the
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Falls of St. Anthony Dam, a rock-filled, timber-crib structure that guided the
river into mill ponds along either shore. The Falls of St. Anthony Dam did
not initiate commercial waterpower use at the falls -- Steele had built a
crude short-lived, timber dam and sawmill installation on the east side in
1848, and Smith had rehabilitated the government millsite on the west side in
the early 1850s. But the Falls of St. Anthony Dam did establish the basic
headworks engineering utilized by virtually all subsequent waterpower
development. Despite modifications in materials and design during the
nineteenth century, the dam still retains its original V-shaped configuration.
Since the dam marked the beginning of the waterpower’'s systematic
exploitation, and since it is the oldest standing feature of the waterpower
system, its completion date of 1858 inaugurates the period of significance for
the St. Anthony Falls Waterpower Historic District.

The construction of the Falls of St. Anthony Dam proved to be the only
collaborative venture between the two waterpower companies, which pursued
different policies and reaped different rewards. Well capitalized and ably
managed, the Minneapolis Mill Company adopted a general plan for waterpower
development that had been first successfully implemented at Lowell,
Massachusetts during the 1820s. Under the "Lowell model," manufacturers
purchased millsites and leased waterpower from the development company, which
was responsible for building and maintaining the waterpower distribution
system, typically consisting of a dam, gate house, and power canal. On their
part, manufacturers were responsible for building their own mills, including
the headrace, which drew water from the power canal, and the tailrace, which
returned the spent flow to the river. For the design of its waterpower
distribution system, the Minneapolis Mill Company in 1857 turned to engineer
Charles H. Bigelow, a West Point graduate who, during the previous decade, had
supervised the construction of the Lowell-inspired power network at Lawrence,

Massachusetts.

Bigelow’s plan for the West Side Milling District differed in one very
important respect from the Lowell model. At Lowell, and the other Eastern
milling centers it inspired, the millsites lined a strip of land -- in reality
an artificial island -- bounded on one side by the power canal and the other
side by the river. In the West Side Milling District, however, Bigelow
located millsites on both sides of the power canal. This was made possible by
the area’s peculiar bedrock formation, consisting of a hard, thin limestone
layer surmounting a deep, soft sandstone layer. Since the sandstone was easily
excavated by pick and shovel, it was economically feasible to dig tailrace
tunnels beneath the power canal to the river, thereby opening up millsites on
the inland side of the canal. The nineteenth-century hydraulic engineer James
P. Frizell described the situation in these terms:
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The geological formation here {at the Falls of St. Anthony] is St. Peter
sandstone, capped by Trenton limestone . . . 12 to 14 feet thick at the
brink of the falls, diminishing upstream . . . .The St. Peter sandstone,
commonly called sand rock, is rock only in the geological sense. It
exhibits some stratification, and some strata are harder than others.

It is nowhere so soft that it will not stand vertically, except when
saturated with water, and nowhere so hard that it cannot be worked with
the pick . . . . The sandstone formation extends to a depth of 140 or
150 feet below the bottom of the limestone, where rock is encountered of
the hardness of granite. This formation has been of great advantage in
the development of water power, on account of the facility with which
races are executed in it for discharging the water after passing the
wheels. In ordinary situations, the mills must be placed between the
canal of supply and the river or canal of discharge. Here their
location is limited by no such restriction, those which are placed
outside of the canal of supply carrying their tunnels under the same to
reach the river.

In 1857, the Minneapolis Mill Company began work on a 215-foot-long power
canal averaging about 14 feet deep and 50 feet wide. 1In the mid-1860s, the
canal was extended to 600 feet, and in the mid-1880s, to 950 feet.

Harnessing the vast flow of the Mississippi River under an effective head of
about 35 feet, this waterpower distribution system turned a six-block
riverfront strip into the country’s most densely industrialized, direct-drive
waterpower district. As engineer Frizell remarked in 1883, "There is,
probably, no example in existence of so large an amount of power derived from
so short a canal.“8 This observation has been confirmed by historian-of-
technology Louis C. Hunter, who has called the Falls of St. Anthony the
"apotheosis” of nineteenth-century American waterpower:

The Falls of Saint Anthony . . . was the last and greatest of the major
waterpowers brought under development in the United States. . . . Here a
year-round average of some 25,000 tons of water a minute fell some
seventy feet within a distance of a mile, representing a gross capacity
estimated at 120,000 horsepower. This potential was greater than that
of the three major waterpowers on the lower Merrimack [in New England]
combined. By 1880 the round-the-clock industrial use of this power was
equivalent to 20,000 horsepower on a daytime basis; within twenty-five
years 40,000 horsepower were in use . . . [creating) the largest
industrial center based on waterpower.
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As Hunter also notes, the power output at the Falls of St. Anthony was
eventually eclipsed by the hydroelectric development at Niagara Falls, which
came on line in the 1890s. This event, however, was itself a form of tribute
to the earlier Minneapolis waterpower district. Niagara achieved the first
rank only by adopting the "inland" tailrace system pioneered at the Falls of
St. Anthony.

In addition to the millsites opened by the power canal, the Minneapolis Mill
Company converted a portion of its dam into a "sawmill row,"” which drew
waterpower directly from the millpond. Although the sawmills recorded
impressive production statistics into the mid-1870s, the mill company became
so disturbed by their inefficient use of water that it eventually bought out
their leases and eliminated the entire operation by the 1890s. By that time,
flour millers had appropriated almost every site on the power canal,
displacing earlier attempts at machinery, textile, and paper manufacturing
that had once given the district an industrially diversified flavor. The
notable exception to flour milling was the North Star Woolen Mill (109
Portland Avenue), which, in the mid-1860s, had been among the first
manufactories to set up shop on the inland side of the canal. Establishing a
national reputation for fine woolen blankets, the North Star remained in
operation until the 1940s.

The expansion of flour milling at the falls resulted from certain
technological innovations, which, during the 1870s, made Minneapolis flour the
most'profitable in the industry. During the 1850s and 1860s, Minneapolis
millers had relied on standard flouring techniques developed by milling
centers in the East. According to these practices, millstones were set close
together and run at high speeds in order to produce as much meal as possible
from a single grinding of wheat. The meal was then sifted, or "bolted,"
through cloth to remove impurities. Although "low grinding" made an
acceptable flour from winter wheat, the staple cereal of Eastern mills, it did
not produce favorable results from spring wheat, grown in Minnesota and the

Dakotas.

The problems were twofold. First, spring wheat had a more brittle husk, or
bran, than winter wheat. In winter wheat, the bran separated under the
millstones into large flakes easily removed by bolting apparatus. In spring
wheat, however, the bran shattered into fine particles that discolored the
flour. The second problem involved gluten, a wheat substance that gives dough
its elasticity. Although spring wheat had a much higher gluten content than
winter wheat, it glutinous layer was almost much harder -- too hard, in fact,
to be reduced in a single grinding. Instead of pulverizing spring-wheat
gluten, low grinding methods merely granulated it into "middlings," which were
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eventually sifted out of the flour. Discolored by bran and lacking in gluten,
Minneapolis spring-wheat flour was no match on the market for the whiter
product made from winter wheat. :

To improve the quality of their flour, Minneapolis millers began experimenting
in the late 1860s with a "New Process" that seemed better suited to spring
wheat. The most important elements of the New Process were "high-grinding"
and the "middlings purifier." As milling historian Robert M. Frame explains:

In simplified form here is how the New Process and middlings purifier
worked. The wheat kernel passed through millstones set just high enough
to break it up, cracking the hard center and separating the bran. This
meal was fed into the purifier on a vibrating sieve. Air blasts and
suction removed the light bran; larger and heavier impurities remained
on the sieve, and the now-purified, white middlings passed through.
These would be put back through the millstones and reduced to flour.

At a single stroke, the New Process solved the problems of flour discoloration
and gluten deficiency. In fact, Minneapolis flour was now so strong in gluten
that it produced over 12 percent more bread per barrel than the best winter-
wheat flour. As the demand for New Process flour soared, the west side
blossomed with flour mills. Between 1870 and 1880, sixteen new flouring
plants were established, including the First Washburn "A" Mill, the country’s
largest flour factory at the time of its completion in 1874. Not even
catastrophe slowed the pace of construction. When a huge flour-dust explosion
in the Washburn "A" Mill completely leveled the building and destroyed five
adjacent mills, all six were rebuilt and operating within two years. If
anything, the Great Mill Disaster stimulated the district’s development,
encouraging even those property owners who had survived the explosion
unscathed to build new flour mills, or remodel their old ones, along the most
modern lines. All four flour mills still standing in the west side district
originated during this reconstruction period. They are the new Washburn "A"
Mill (701-~709 South First Street), the Crown Roller Mill (105 Fifth Avenue
South), the Standard Mill (150 Portland Avenue), and the Humboldt Mill (710-
714 South Second Street). The new Washburn "A" (twice the size of its
predecessor) and the Crown were the two largest mills ever built on the west

side.

From 1880 to 1930, the west side mills helped establish Minneapolis as the
nation’s leading flouring center. This was a period of tremendous
consolidation in the flour industry. In 1876, 17 firms had operated 20 mills
in Minneapolis; in 1890, four large corporations controlled 87 percent of the
city’s milling capacity. By the early 1900s, three corporations managed 97
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percent of the total flour production. Based in Minneapolis, this "flour
trust" consisted of Washburn-Crosby Company (later General Mills, Inc.),
Pillsbury-Washburn Flour Mills Company (later Pillsbury Flour Mills Company),
and Northwestern Consolidated Milling Company (later Standard Milling
Company). Similar centripetal forces were also at work in milling technology
and architecture. The years between 1880 and 1930 were essentially a period
of intensive technological refinement. Flour quality was improved by
subjecting middlings to an increased number of grindings, and the New Process
was accordingly renamed the "gradual reduction process,"” substituting steel
rollers for millstones.

Instead of attempting to expand production through new mill construction as in
the 1870s, the west side millers now turned their attention to improved
utilization of existing plants. Mill interiors became dense jungles of
machinery, while exteriors were gradually surrounded by auxiliary structures,
such as enginehouses, boiler rooms, warehouses, packing facilities, and train
sheds. The number of operating mills in the. district stabilized at about two
dozen. New mill construction was limited to the replacement of fire-damaged
buildings. Railroad facilities and grain elevators were probably the most
impressive structures built on the west side during this period, such as the
monumental 23-span Stone Arch Bridge (1883); the one-million-bushel
Northwestern Consolidated Milling Company Elevator "A" (1908; 155 Fifth Avenue
South) =-- the largest brick elevator ever built -- and the two-million-bushel,
reinforced-concrete Washburn-Crosby Company Elevator No. 2 (1916; 102-128
Tenth Avenue South), which was later doubled in capacity.

After a half century of supremacy, the Minneapolis flouring industry finally
gave ground, a victim of antiquated mill construction, changing regional wheat
quality, increased freight rates, and unfavorable tariff policies. To insure
their continued survival, the great west-side flour companies shifted their
operations from Minneapolis to newer milling complexes in Chicago, Kansas
City, and Buffalo. After Minneapolis ceded first place in flour production
to Buffalo in 1930, drastic changes visited the west side district. 1In 1931
alone, at least 8 flour mills were torn down. Although no longer profitable
for flour milling, several of the abandoned millsites were of interest to
Northern States Power Company, which converted them into a make-shift
generating facility known as the Ccnsolidated Hydroelectric Plant. As was
true for the giant Washburn "A" Mill, the Consolidated Hydro Plant remained an
active waterpower facility until about 1960, when the construction of the
Upper Lock finally shut off the river from the power canal, effectively
bringing the district’s waterpower era to a close. Although the west side
district experienced another wave of demolition during the 1960s, it generally
was spared incompatible new construction. Most of the demolished and
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abandoned millsites were simply covered with asphalt or gravel, preserving
archaeological remains for future excavation and interpretation.

Geologically speaking, the East Side Milling District had the same advantages
for waterpower development as the West Side Milling District, yet its
industrialization was less intensive. Unlike its counterpart on the west side,
the St. Anthony Falls Water Power Company never developed a coherent
management plan. Insufficiently capitalized from the very beginning, the
company was further plagued by ill-informed absentee owners and internecine
lawsuits. Whereas the Minneapolis Mill Company immediately improved its
district with a waterpower distribution system, the east side company failed
to complete a similar project for a quarter of a century. Most millsites
were located either on the dam, comprising an east-side sawmill row, or
immediately below the dam on Hennepin Island, where approximately one-half
dozen factories turned out wood products, paper, and flour. The Hennepin
Island millers drew waterpower directly from the millpond, or relied on power
shafts and cables from those who did.

In 1880, the St. Anthony Falls Water Power Company came under the control of
St. Paul railroad magnate James J. Hill, the first owner in the company’s
history with the inclination and resources to develop an efficient waterpower
distribution system for the east-side property. The following year, the
company completed an arched limestone power canal extending approximately 450
feet along (and under) Main Street. Designed primarily as a waterpower
conduit for the Pillsbury "A" Mill (301 Main Street), which was then under
construction, the canal also served the smaller Phoenix Flour Mill (1875; 101-
103 Third Avenue South), now demolished, but originally situated just upstream
from the Pillsbury "A" on the canal’s inland side. With almost twice the
capacity of the new Washburn "A" Mill, the Pillsbury "A" Mill soon boasted
daily production runs of 5,000 barrels, equaling roughly one-third the maximum
flour output of the entire west side milling district. Over the next forty
years, the Pillsbury "A" Mill Complex became a milling district in itself,
covering two square blocks and achieving a daily output of 17,000 barrels,
which, as one helpful journalist explained, might best be visualized as a line
of 25-pound flour sacks 56 miles long.

Although the East Side Milling District received a setback when fire destroyed
sawmill row ,in 1887, the surplus waterpower was eventually taken over by the
city’s emerging hydroelectric industry, which built Main Street Station (206
Main Street) on the site of sawmill row in 1894, and completed another
generating plant on Hennepin Island in 1908. Rebuilt after a fire in 1911,
Main Street Station is of particular significance because it still retains its
1894 horizontal water turbines, which represent a rare survival of nineteenth-
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century, hydroelectric technology. 1In the Hennepin Island Hydroelectric
Plant, the east side also contains the historic district’s only industrial
waterpower still in operation. The Pillsbury "A" Mill itself went off
waterpower in the mid-1950s, when the milling operation switched completely to
electric power from the municipal grid. At that time, the intake to the east-
side power canal was sealed off from the river by a concrete bulkhead. Since
the canal was a structurally-sound subterranean structure, its abandonment did
not present any special public liabilities; it remains intact, escaping the
backfilled fate of the west-side power canal.

As defined in this nomination, the St. Anthony Falls Waterpower Area as part
of the St. Anthony Falls Historic District possesses national significance
within the general context of waterpower development for its engineering
achievement of harnessing the Mississippi River by means of an innovative
waterpower distribution system. Within this context, the area is significant
under National Register Criterion A, for its historical role in adapting
"Lowell-type" waterpower technology to the Midwest and for serving as a model
for the subsequent, world-famous hydroelectric development at Niagara Falls.
The area is also significant under Criterion C, because it comprises a
technological system, which, although containing components lacking in
individual distinction, is nevertheless a distinguished and distinguishable
entity that was once the nation’s largest industrial waterpower.

In addition, the St. Anthony Falls Waterpower Area possesses statewide
significance, in the area of industry) under the general context, "Minnesota
Agricultural Development and Railroad Construction, 1870s-1920s." As
historian Henrietta M. Larson. has documented in The Wheat Market and the
Farmer in Minnesota, 1858-1900, the waterpowered flour mills at the Falls of
St. Anthony were the single largest market for Minnesota spring wheat. The
rise of Minneapolis as the nation’s largest flour milling center during the
1880s called into being the vast wheat fields of northwestern Minnesota.
Between 1875 and 1885, Minneapolis wheat receipts and flour production
increased six-fold, and Minnesota wheat farmers almost doubled their acreage,
turning the previously undeveloped northwestern counties into the state’s
bread basket. "A home market had thus been secured for Minnesota’s wheat."
Within this context, the area is significant under Criterion A, for its
historical role in stimulating Minnesota agricultural settlement and wheat
production. The area is also significant under Criterion C, because its
flour-associated properties include components, which, although occasionally
lacking in individual distinction, nevertheless represent as a group a
distinguished and disti?guishable entity that was once the nation’s largest

flour milling district.
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ARCHAEOLOGICAL STATEMENT
The St. Anthony Falls Waterpower Area’s 32 historic archaeological sites
strongly contribute to its overall significance. Almost all the sites were
once direct-drive waterpower installations, well documented in terms of
location and general function... In their most basic design, these waterpower
properties consisted of two distinct structural elements: a superstructure
and a substructure. Usually constructed of brick or stone, and generally at
least two stories in height, the superstructure contained machinery devoted to
a specific production system, such as flour milling, sawmilling, paper making,
or woolen manufacturing. The substructure was always built of masonry,
extending below grade 30 to 40 feet. Incorporating such specialized features
as headraces, wheel pits, and tailraces, the substructure contained hydraulic
machinery that converted the kinetic energy of falling water into mechanical
energy for powering the manufacturing operation in the building’s
superstructure. Although the superstructures have been demolished, these
former millsites probably preserve a good deal of their original
substructures. Since the area’s significance principally derives from its
waterpower engineering, any archaeological information concerning the design
and operation of these abandoned substructures will contribute to an
understanding of the district’s significance.

Although there are many valid areas of research concerning the area‘s historic
archaeological sites, three fundamental questions should be addressed. First,
were there changes over time in the waterpower engineering that would permit a
meaningful seriation of its technology? For example, were the hydraulics of
the smaller, pre-New Process flour mills of the 1860s inherently different
from those of the mammoth all-roller mills of the 1880s? Second, are there
differences in engineering that can be attributed to differences in original
industrial application? For example, was the waterpower engineered
differently for textile mills and flour mills in the area? And if so, was
there any corresponding change in substructure when, as occasionally happened,
one type of mill was converted into the other? Third, are there differences in
engineering that can be attributed to specific engineers, builders, and
craftsman? These various questions might be answered through a research
program that combined excavation and recording of the sites with intensive
documentary investigation concerning their construction, modification, and

utilization.

In addition to elucidating the area’s hydraulic engineering, archaeological
investigation also holds the potential of providing information on the
district’s workers -- a topic that has been completely overlooked by all
previous historical inquiry. By analyzing artifact distribution patterns in
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the light of city-directory and census data, it might be possible to identify
significant demographic and ethnic patterns in the district’s labor force.
For example, differential artifact recovery at various sites might indicate
differential employment relating to age, gender, and ethnicity, which in turn
might be correlated with the nature of the industrial activity, the given
historical period, or the documented biases of specific mill owners.

Notes

1. Lucile M. Kane, The Falls of St. Anthony: The Waterfall that Built
Minneapolis (St. Paul: Minnesota Historical Society, 1987), pp. 1-18

2. The quoted passage is from Colonel Josiah Snelling’s 1824 description of
the mills, as cited by Kane, p.9. The two government mills were
demolished in 1879 to make way for the construction of the Northwestern
Flour Mill, which apparently removed all traces of the earlier
buildings; see Scott Anfinson, Archaeological Potentials on the West
Side of the Central Minneapolis Waterfront (Minnesota Historical
Society, 1984), p.115.

3. Smith is quoted in Kane, p. 32.

4. On the construction and later remodelings of the Falls of St. Anthony
Dam, see Kane, p.43, 149; Herbert W.E. Meyer, Builders of Northern

States Power Company (Northern States Power Company, 1957), pp.89-90;
Merlin H. Berg, "Abstract of Available Historical Data on St. Anthony
Falls," unpublished, 1939, in St. Paul District Corps of Engineers
Library; "Valuation Report St. Anthony Falls Water Power Company and
Minneapolis Mill Company," unpublished report prepared by Byllesby
Engineering and Management Corporation, 1923, in Northern States Power
Company Archives.

5. On Bigelow’s professional training and work at Lawrence, see Duncan
Erroll Hay, “"Building ‘The New City on the Merrimack’: The Essex Company
and Its Role in the Creation of Lawrence, Massachusetts,” University of
Delaware PhD Dissertation, 1986, pp.72-115. Bigelow’s hiring by
Minneapolis Mill Company is noted by Kane, p.53; unfortunately,
Bigelow’s papers in the Merrimack Valley Textile Museum (North Andover,
MA) do not discuss the Falls of St. Anthony project. On the "Lowell
model" see Louis C. Hunter, A History of Industrial Power in the United
States. Volume One: Waterpower in the Century of the Steam Engine
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(Charlottesville, Virginia: University of Virginia for the Eleutherian
Mills—-Hagley Foundation, 1979), pp. 205-233. '

6. Joseph P. Frizell, "The Water-Power of the Falls of St. Anthony,"
American Society of Civil Engineers Transactions 12 (1883):415-416.

7. Kane, pp.53-54, 119, 219(fn.19).
8. Frizell, p.416
9. Hunter, pp. 233-234.

10. On the Falls of St. Anthony as a precedent for Niagara, see J.T.
Fanning, "Progress in Hydraulic Power Development," Engineering Record
47 (January 3,1903), p. 25.

i1. Kane, pp. 107-133. All physical remains associated with sawmill row were
eliminated by the construction of the Upper Lock in the early 1960s.

12. Unless otherwise noted, the following sections on milling architecture
and technology are adapted from a narrative written by Jeffrey A. Hess

for St. Anthony Falls Rediscovered. Hess is the author of the present
"Significance Statement" for the St. Anthony Falls Waterpower Area.

13. Robert M. Frame, Millers to the World (St. Paul: Minnesota Historical
Society, 1977), p. 51. :

14. This context is briefly defined in Historic Context OQOutlines: The Post-—
Contact Period Contexts (State Historic Preservation Office, Minnesota
Historical Society, 1985), pp. 10-11.

15. Henrietta M. Larson, The Wheat Market and the Farmer in Minnesota, 1858-

1900, in Columbia University Studies in History, Economics, and Public
Law, Vol. 122, No.2 (1926), p. 137; for statistics on flour production

and wheat acreage, see pp. 127, 120.

16. Although sawmilling at the falls had a similarly pronounced influence on
the state’'s lumbering industry, the additional information provided in
this document does not evaluate the St. Anthony Falls Historic District
within a statewide lumbering context because there are almost no
sawmilling properties surviving within the boundaries of the St. Anthony
Falls Waterpower Area.
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17. A particularly valuable resource for documenting these sites is the

Northwestern Miller, a flour-milling trade journal published in
Minneapolis form 1879 to 1973. In its "local news" section, the Miller
compiled a detailed chronicle of the East Side and West Side Milling
Districts.
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10. Geographical Data
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Verbal Boundary Description:
The boundary of the St. Anthony Falls Waterpower Area is shown as

the solid line on the accompanying map entitled "St. Anthony Falls
Waterpower Historic Area, 1990"
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1. Name of Property

historic name: St. Anthony Falls Historic District,
Pillsbury Public Library

2. Location

street & number: 100 University Avenue S.E.

city/town: Minneapolis.

state: Minnesota Code: MN County: Hennepin Code:
053 zip code: 55414

3. Classification
Numpber of Resources within Property:
1 contributing building

Number of contributing resources previously listed: 1

6. Function or Use
Historic Functions: EDUCATION/library

Current Functions: RECREATION AND CULTURE/art gallery
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Architectural Classification:
Neo-Classical Revival

Materials:
) foundation: stone: limestone
walls: stone: marble
brick
roof: rubber membrane
Description:

The Pillsbury Branch Library is a small one-story-plus-raised-basement
structure, rectangular in shape, facing north, and located at the southeast
corner of University Avenue S. E. and Central Avenue in Southeast Minneapolis
on the eastern edge of St. Anthony Falls Historic District.

The library is a small-scale example of what was variously described at
the time it was built as "Beaux Arts" or "Renaissance Revival" style. It
is perhaps, more appropriate to describe it as Neo-Classical Revival.
Despite its high style and formal arrangement of parts, it measures only
56 feet deep by 89 feet long. As in Neo-Classical Revival buildings, it
has the arrangement and massing of the style: the dominating ceremonial
flight of stairs leading up to a portico; its boxy-ness, and its expanses
of blank stone walls, especially on the east and west sides. Whereas most
Neo—-Classical buildings are Greek-inspired in detailing, however, this
building lacks Greek columns, and has instead a trabiated portico of
arches and arched windows, which are not part of the Greek vocabulary.
The building tends toward the Roman in decorative detail. It is of
fireproof construction. Exterior walls are Vermont marble, a relatively
soft material. Unfortunately, they were sandblasted around 1975 when the
building was converted to use as a doctor’s diagnostic laboratory.
Consequently, exterior architectural detailing now lacks sharpness and

much of its original definition.

Architecturally, the building has richly carved Roman-inspired exterior
detailing dominated by the central portico and influenced by the Roman.
The front facade has two flanking wings each composed of three
round-arched windows set within bays defined by fluted pilasters with
Roman Ionic capitals. The raised basement of rusticated limestone stone
was begun in 1900 before J. S. Pillsbury’s death. The roof, a rubber
membrane replacement from 1983, is hidden behind an enveloping marble
balustrade. At the central portice, the parapet is raised and paneled
and divided into three parts which correspond to the three part
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round-arched loggia entrance. This parapet has flanking marble cartouches
with an ornate "P" on the east and "L" on the west signifying Pillsbury
Library. Three panels in the parapet were the location of the original
"Pillsbury," "Public," and "Library" with the Roman "v" for the "u." This
lettering was removed and replaced by "Pillsbury Library Building," and
.then "Doctor‘s Diagnostic Laboratories" after its sale in 1973.

Flanking the cartouches and between the three panels on the parapet were
originally placed six marble statues by Minneapolis sculptor, A. A.
Gewont. The statues were Greek-inspired in design and placement. The
original building design included nine marble figures, three female and
six male. There was to be a large central figure eight feet high
representing "Wisdom" flanked by two six feet tall figures representing
"Art" and "Astronomy." Apparently these three were designed to sit on the
parapet of the central portico and may not ever have been installed, since
they do not appear in early historic photographs. The other six, modeled
from young boys, were placed between and flanking the cartouches over the
central loggia entrance and sat atop the cornice. They represented
"Literature," "Mechanism," "Music," "Comedy," "Poetry," and "Tragedy."
These six were 4 feet 7 inches tall. They were removed from the building
and sold by the library board in 1920 for $50.00.

The central loggia is separated into sections by Roman Composite order
delicately fluted columns. These columns support a detailed entablature
composed of a molded marble fascia, swagged frieze, and cornice with
dentilled and ovolo banding and molded cymatium which runs around the
front and side facades. Paterae decorate the spaces above the round
arches at the front entrance. The wings flanking the entrance each have
‘three sets of round-arched windows which were originally one-over-ones
with solid glass in the arches. They now have eight-light storms with
plywood infilling the arches, an alteration made sometime before 1973.
The front doors are heavy wood and glass and appear to be original.

The sides of the building continue the themes on the front facade: stone
raised basement and ornate decorative cornice and balustrade. Wall
surfaces are divided into three bays: two windowless bays (typical of the
Neo-Classical Revival style, flanking a central bay with three
round-arched windows separated by pilaste}s. The rear or south facade has
a slightly projecting central bay with the altered triple windows. The
west bay also has a triple set of openings: a door with flanking windows,
none original. On the east bay is a 10 foot tall brick addition
consisting of a loading dock and area for garbage cans. All round arches
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on the lateral and rear sides have also been infilled with plywood and the
windows have been altered.

The interior has marble floors and mahogany woodwork. The original
library furniture was also mahogany. 1Inside the front entrance is a
-Roman-inspired barrel-vaulted hall with a coffered ceiling. Various
alterations since 1973 to fit the building for business offices have
involved adding demising walls and glass walled partitions to the original
rooms, updating mechanicals and lighting, and various "modernizations."
Many of the floor plan changes are reversible, however, or easily
distinguished from the original construction. The main floor also has a
bath with shower. The basement has been completely redone and has two
recent bathrooms, kitchenette, storage areas, and offices. It originally
had a reading room, reference room, children’s room, a delivery room,
audience hall, and steel book stacks.
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Certifying official has considered the significance of this property:
locally

Applicable National Register Criteria:
B and C

Areas of Significance:
Architecture
Social History

Period of Significance:
1900-1904

Significant Dates:
1900

Significant Person: Pillsbury, John Sargent

Architect/Builder:
architect: Aldrich, Charles Ronald

builder: Karquist, S.M.

Significance:

The Pillsbury Library is significant under National Register Criteria B
and C. It is closely associated with John S. Pillsbury, a leading citizen
of Minneapolis and a generous benefactor to the city. The Pillsbury Library
is the last remaining building associated with his philanthropy and civic
spirit on behalf of the city of Minneapolis. It is also significant for
Architecture under Criterion C. It is an outstanding example of the
Neo-Classical Revival style and was described as "one of the most
beautiful buildings in Minneapoclis" when it was completed in October, 1903
(Hudson 1910: 80). The architect was Charles Ronald Aldrich who, along
with his private practice, also served as a member of the faculty of the
University of Minnesota. The library falls under the local context of
"Civic, 1872-present” in the Minneapolis Preservation Plan. Public
buildings were designed to uplift the public spirit and intellect and to
lend an air of refinement to the city. This building is a key example of

those intentions.
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Architecturally, the Pillsbury Library is an outstanding example of the

Neo-Classical Revival style. It is a small gem, but one of quality and

beauty. The cost of construction was $75,000 and was made available by

John S. Pillsbury and his family so that ample funds were guaranteed to

make a real architectural and social contribution to the city of

" Minneapolis. It is built of Vermont marble. The library is in the same
category architecturally as the much larger Minneapolis Institute of Arts
(1912~14) as an example of classically-inspired public buildings.

Under Criterion B, it is closely associated with John Sargent Pillsbury
(July 29, 1828-October 18, 1901). Before his death, he initiated the
plans for the Pillsbury Branch Library and hired the architect prior to
his death and donated $75,000 for its erection as well as the site on
which it sits. His choice for the location of the new branch in southeast
Minneapolis was deliberately the "East Side": he offered the site at the
corner of Central and University S.E., a few blocks from the center of the
Pillsbury fortune: the Charles A. Pillsbury Co. He died before its
completion in October, 1903 and his family saw the project through. The
building was formally dedicated in April, 1904, and deeded over to the
city of Minneapolis by the Pillsbury family. John S. Pillsbury was
closely associated with the "East Side" of Minneapolis, originally known
as St. Anthony. He settled there in 1857 living there for almost 50 years
and ran his hardware store in St. Anthony. He was a life-long Minneapolis
resident of what is now "Southeast" and his house at 10th Ave. S.E.
eventually became the University of Minnesota President’s House (now
razed). The Pillsbury flour company was located on the "East Side."

He was president of the Board of Regents from 1867-1901 and personally
oversaw the rehabilitation of "0ld Main" (razed) and the early growth of
the present Minneapolis campus. He served on the St. Anthony city council
from 1858-1864. All the buildings with which he was directly associated
have been razed except Pillsbury Hall on the University of Minnesota
campus and the Pillsbury Library. Pillsbury Hall is associated with h
justifiable fame as the "Father of the University." The Pillsbury Lib
stands as the last of two buildings associated with his many civic

interests and his dedication to the "East Side."
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1. Name of Property .
historic name: St.Anthony Falls Historic District,

Ard Godfrey House

2. Location

street & number: 45 Ortman Street
city/town: Minneapolis
state: Minnesota Code: MN County: Hennepin Code:

053 zip code: 55414
3. Classification o
Number of Resources within Property:

1 contributing building

Number of contributing resources previously listed: 1

6. Function of Use
Historic Functions: DOMESTIC/single dwelling

Current Functions: RECREATION AND CULTURE/museum
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Architectural Classification:
Greek Revival

Materials:
foundation: concrete block
walls: wood: weatherboard
roof: shake

Description:

The Ard Godfrey House sits at the south end of Richard Chute Square on the
southwest corner of the intersection of University Avenue and Central
Avenue, with its back to Ortman Street, which is just a few feet behind
the house. It is at the south end of the park facing north with green
lawn to the north, west, and east.

The Ard Godfrey House is a simple one-and-a-half-story Greek Revival
structure with a one story kitchen dependency to the east. The simple
wood-shingled roof is gabled and has a wide wooden frieze with returned
eaves. Another Greek Revival detail is the cornerboards, prominent
because their color is white against the pale yellow weatherboard
sheathing. The front facade of the main structure is symmetrical with a
central entry consisting of a plain wooden architrave and front door with
side-lights. This trabiated entry is an almost text-book example of the
Greek Revival style. The roof is wood shingled and has two red brick
chimneys at the roof ridge. Two windows, wood single~hung six~over-nines,
flank the front entry on the north facade. The west side has four similar
windows on the first floor and two six-over-sixes on the second
half-story. The east end of the building has a gabled one story kitchen
dependency with returned eaves and six-over-six windows.

The building has been extensively restored, under the direction of
architect Brooks Cavin, in the early 1980s when it was taken in hand by
the Minneapolis Women‘s Club. Many of the joists are new, there is a new
basement and all new mechanicals and much of the exterior weatherboard and
the windows were restored. The kitchen dependency is entirely new, the
old kitchen wing having fallen to ruin the second time the building was

moved.
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Certifying official has considered the significance of this property:
locally

Applicable National Register Criteria:
A, B, and C

Areas of Significance:
Architecture
Exploration and Settlement
Conservation

Period of Significance:
1849-1853
1905-1909

Significant Dates:
1849
1905
1909

Significant Person:
Ard Godfrey

Architect/Builder:
builder: Mousseau, Charles

Significance:

The Ard Godfrey House is significant under National Register Criteria

A, B, and C for its associations with the early development of St. Anthony
(now Minneapolis); for its associations with one of the city’s earliest
pioneers, Ard Godfrey; and for its associations with Conservation. It was
the first house museum in the city of Minneapolis and one of two of the
earliest preservation efforts. It is also the city‘’s outstanding example
of the early Greek Revival cottage which once was a common style during
the early years,of the city in the 1850s and 1860s.

Under Criteria A and B, the Ard Godfrey House’s period of significance

is 1849 to 1853. As part of the business agreement between Franklin Steele
and Ard Godfrey, Steele promised to provide a "convenient dwelling house"

in which Godfrey and his family could live. This lured Godfrey to St. Anthony
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in 1848 (Sazevich 1983: 14). Godfrey moved in with his newly-arrived family

in April, 1849. They remained there until 1853 when Godfrey made a claim for
land at Minnehaha Creek and erected a home, built a saw mill, and dammed the

creek (Sazevich 1983: 16).

-Godfrey (1813-1894) who was the first millwright at St. Anthony Falls,

hired by Franklin Steele to build the first dam and saw mill on the east side
of St. Anthony Falls in 1849. Godfrey was supervisor of Steele’s businesses
at St. Anthony Falls (Kane, 20), and part-owner with Steele of the St.
Anthony Mill Company in 1850-1853 (Kane, 21, 26). Godfrey was also the
first Postmaster of St. Anthony. and chairman of the Ramsey County
Commissioners before Hennepin County was organized. Godfrey is considered
one of the pioneers of European settlement at St. Anthony Falls in what
became the city of Minneapolis. He is also one of a small group of early
settlers who came from New England. Very few of the houses of this early
group of settlers have survived in Minneapolis. Among his contemporaries
were Franklin Steele, the first settler of St. Anthony, John H. Stevens,

the first settler on the west bank, and Calvin Tuttle, the second settler

on the west bank. Steele’s and Tuttle’‘s homes have been razed and

Stevens’ has been moved several times and is now located at Minnehaha

Falls Park.

The Ard Godfrey House is significant under Criterion C because it is one
of a handful of remaining representatives of the modest cottage designed
in Greek Revival style in Minneapolis. Aside from the John H. Stevens
House, the other Greek Revival houses on the "East Side” from first
settlement are the end-gabled house once located at 814 University Avenue
S.E. (ca. 1860), now moved to Nicollet Island, which has had a bay window
added to the front facade; and two other houses which are mixtures of
Greek Revival massing with some Italianate-style details: the Dudley House
(1856~57) at 701 5th Street S.E. and the Van Cleve House (ca. 1857-58) at
603 5th Street S.E. Of these examples, the Godfrey House is the best
example of the upright-and-wing in a story-and-a-half. Only the Godfrey
House and the Stevens House remain as early pre-1850 examples of the Greek
Revival style in Minneapolis.

The Ard Godfrey . House predates the local context of "Architecture, 1855 to
Present” (Zahn 1990: 4.2.1), which dates from the arrival of the first
known "trained" architect in Minnesota Territory, Robert Spencer Alden, in
1856. This gives added significance to this building. The Godfrey House
was built by a carpenter by the name of Charles Mousseau who also built
the Stevens House. Apparently Franklin Steele hired Mousseau both times
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to erect the houses of his employees, Godfrey and Stevens.

The Ard Godfrey house is also significant under Criterion A for its
association with the theme "Conservation." It has been carefully
preserved through the efforts of a number of groups, including Godfrey’s
‘descendants who have shown an interest in thé original homestead and taken
an active role in. its continued preservation. There have also been
several efforts to protect the house by other ‘groups including: the
forming of the Hennepin County Territorial Pioneer'’s Association in 1905
to purchase the house to preserve it, the purchase of the land for the
house by the Minneapolis Park Board, in 1909, in order to open it as a
museum, and the restoration of the house by the Woman’s Club of
Minneapolis in the late 1970s (Sazevich 1983: 15, 16). The Ard Godfrey
House has stood on a total of five locations, moved in order to protect it
from the growing city. (See Map) It originally stood near the corner

of Prince Street and Second Avenue S. E. [1]. 1In 1858 it was moved north
to lots between Second Avenue S.E. and Central Avenue (2]. It was moved a
second time in 1881 to 109 Prince Street {3]. 1In 1905 the house was moved
to lots located south of Ortman Street on Bank Street [4]. In 1909 it was
moved to it current location in Richard Chute Square [5].

The period of significance for the conservation theme is 1905-1909. The
beginning date of 1905 is the date it was purchased by the Hennepin County
Territorial Pioneer‘s Association in order to save it . Though they were
unsuccessful in raising enough funds to restore the house, they helped to
create public sympathy for it. 1In 1909, the Minneapolis Park Board
purchased land for the house, moved to its present location, and
refurbished it in order to open it as a museum for the Hennepin County
Territorial Pioneers. It was maintained by the Hennepin County Pioneer’s
Association and open to the public until 1943 when dwindling funds closed
it down (Sazevich 1983: 15). \

Under the local context "Residential Development, 1847 to Present” The

Ard Godfrey House is one of the two earliest surviving single family
dwellings built in Minneapolis (Zahn 1990). The other is the John Stevens
House at Minnehaha Falls Park.'Although the house is now on its fifth site,
all of the moves. occurred on the east side of the falls, within two blocks
of its original location. It is the sole surviving property associated with
Godfrey who was the first millwright (Godfrey’s Minnehaha Creek House is no
longer extant), and the only house remaining from the immediate river bank
area of the falls which can be associated with the earliest permanent white
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settlement. The Godfrey House was never located in a setting of dense
residential development. On its current Chute Square location, it retains
the historic physical integrity to convey the architectural qualities of
the period and the association with Godfrey’s activity at the falls.
Together with the Upton Block (1860) on Main Street and Our Lady of
‘Lourdes Church (earliest parts dating from 1857 and extensively altered),
it is one of only a handful .of structures dating from the earliest period
of settlement in Minneapolis. In fact it pre-dates Minneapolis itself by
over 20 years and is most closely associated with the permanent beginnings

of St. Anthony Falls.
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1. Name of Property
historic name: St. Anthony Falls Historic District,

Minneapolis Post Office - Main Station

2. Location

street & number: 201 s. 1st Street
city/town: - Minneapolis
state: Minnesota Code: MN County: Hennepin Code

053 zip code: 55401

3. Classification
Number of Resources within Property:
2 contributing buildings
1 non contributing building

Number of contributing resources previously listed: 0

6. Function or Use
Historic Functions: GOVERNMENT/post office

Current Functions: GOVERNMENT /post office
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Architectural Classification:
Moderne

Materials:
foundation: stone: granite
walls: stone: limestone
roof: unknown

Description:

The main station of the Minneapolis Post Office is located along
First Street South for 531 feet, spanning two city blocks between
Marquette Avenue on the west and Second Avenue South on the east.
The rear of the building overlooks the Mississippi River and the
new West River Road extension. To the east is a separate garage,
repair, storage, and heating plant owned by the Postal Service and
known by them as the VMF or Vehicle Maintenance Facility. These
two buildings are contributing. To the west of the main station

is a newer 800-car seven story reinforced concrete parking ramp,
built in 1977, which is non-contributing.

‘The post office building and VMF are constructed of poured concrete
with skeletons of steel. They are of fireproof construction. Curtain
walls are yellow common brick and are veneered with blocks of Minnesota
Dolomite, known as Kasota stone in a "fleuri" design. Brick courses
are anchored to the concrete skeleton by steel rods set into the
concrete when it was poured. The parapet is brick with a crown stone
tapered to shed water and cemented and anchored into place on top of
the parapet. The base of the building and cornerstone are of polished
dark gray granite from St. Cloud, Minnesota. The window frames are
steel with bronze fittings and sashes bolted to the frames. The sashes
are precisely machine tooled.

The building was designed in monumental Moderne style. It has a
classically symmetrical main facade with vertical recessed window
strips three stories tall divided by bronze decorative spandrels and
separated by flat stone piers. Window reveals are ribbed stone. The
fourth floor and east and west entrance pavilions are stepped back. 1In
conception, the building is classical with a three part horizontal
division into base (gray granite), shaft (three story window strips
between stone piers), and cornice (chamfered parapets and stepped back
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top floor). Wall surfaces are flat stone broken by recessed windows
and recessed two story entrances at the east and west ends of the
building. The entrance pavilions are decorated with three recessed
windows above the entrances with inserted carved stone panels.
Flanking these panels are two rectangular bas relief carvings of stone
eagles and the inscription "United States Post Office."

The major public interior space is the lobby. When it was built, it
was one of the longest lobbies in the United States. . Walls of polished
Mankato stone are offset by vertical strips of black granite
accentuated by bronze strips. The ceiling is dominated by a bronze
lighting fixture giving indirect light and handling heat and air
conditioning. It is 350 feet long and weighs some 20 tons. When the
building was completed in 1935, this fixture was touted as the longest
in the country. The original bronze writing tables are still situated
in the lobby. The floor is geometric designs in colors of beige and
gray terrazzo with bronze division strips.

The fourth floor postmaster’s suite is sheathed in walnut paneling
with an ocak floor laid in squares. Windows in the building are
generally steel and bronze casements with bronze fittings. Marble mop
boards are found throughout the building in toilets rooms and a few
interior areas such as the original cafeteria. Walls and ceilings are
plaster, covered with vinyl wallpaper in some offices and hallways.
Flooring is asphalt, carpet, and vinyl in sorting rooms and offices.
The fourth floor internal hallways are terrazzo. Lighting is
incandescent, fluorescent, and sodium vapor in the second floor work
area. In general, much of the work space in the interior of the
building has been altered over the years to improve efficiency and
reflect changing functions within the Postal Service.

The original building included four stories and a basement covering an
area of 362,000 square feet. The building is currently undergoing
extensive additions and updating, largely confined to the rear facing
the Mississippi River. This work is being done under designs prepared
by Hammel Green and Abrahamson, Inc. of Minneapolis. A 400,000 square
foot addition will double the work space at the facility. The central
boiler room, currently located in the VMF, is being integrated into the
new expansion. The rear addition includes fifteen large loading docks
for semi-trailers and eighteen intermediate sized docks for smaller
vehicles; a 550 car three-story parking ramp beneath the rear docking
area; and 62,000 square feet of interior renovations to areas such as
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the second and third floor workrooms. The original cafeteria has been
demolished and a new one with new kitchen and dining room has been
built in the third floor expansion. Offices on the north side of the
fourth floor are undergoing renovation. At this time, the Postal
Service has no definite plans for the VMF.

The Minneapolis main station is in excellent condition. Footing
excavations were sunk into the sandstone bedrock and filled with
reinforced concrete. The building is clean and well-maintained. The
face stone on the exterior is tight and does not need tuck pointing.
Bronze windows are in good repair and operable. Hallways and offices
on the upper floors have very little original material and the
functions of these spaces has changed over the years. There is a
variety of applied materials in all upper floor offices, including
acoustical tile, sprayed ceilings, paneling, new flooring, and trim.

Permits issued over the years since construction by the Minneapolis
Department of Inspections indicate that most of the alterations to the
main station were minor and interior. They consisted chiefly of
repairs to plumbing, wiring, duct work, boiler work, and some plaster
and lath repairs. Exterior alterations until the current expansion
project consisted chiefly of repairing windows and doors to the VMF in
1963, interior alterations to the main station in 1981, and routing
window maintenance

The VMF is in fair condition. It is built in similar style and
materials to the main station. The worst problem it has is that the
concrete floor on the first floor is rotten and partially cordoned
off. Salts and the weight of parked vehicles over the year have
rendered this floor in need of major repairs. The future use of the
VMF building is undecided.
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Certifying official has considered the significance of this property:
statewide

Applicable National Register Criteria:
A and C

Areas of Significance:
Architecture
Community Planning and Development

Period of Significance:

1932-1935
Significant Dates:
1932
Architect/Builder:
architect: Magney and Tussler
builder: N. P. Severin Company
Significance:

The main station of the Minneapolis Post Office and VMF building are
significant under National Register Criterion C. The main station is

the best example of monumental Moderne style in the state. The building

was commissioned in the late 1920s. Construction began in 1932 and was
completed in 1935. The design and engineering was carried out by the
Minneapolis architectural firm of Magney and Tusler and was largely the

work of its vice-president in charge of design, Leon Arnal, who also worked
on other outstanding Minneapolis buildings in the late 1920s and 1930s,
including the Foshay Tower, the Woman‘s Club, and the Yocung-Quinlan Building.
It was the largest government building in Minneapolis at the time of
construction. Under National Register Criterion A, the main station is
significant under Community Planning and Development. It is locally
significant as a major addition to the Gateway Area in Minneapolis.

This area was known as Bridge Square where Nicollet and Hennepin Avenues
converged. The city hall was originally located at Bridge Square with

the post office occupying the first floor. 1In 1912, this area was
christened "Gateway Park." The first federally-constructed building

devoted to post office use was built between 1883-1889 at Third Street

and First Avenue. It was eventually razed. The second post office building,
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now known as the Federal Building, was completed in 1915 at the corner of
Second Avenue and Third Street. The present facility is the third post
office building in downtown Minneapolis and the last major addition to
the Gateway.

. The Minneapolis main station falls within the local context of “"Civic,
1872 to Present” as defined in the Minneapolis Preservation Plan (Zahn
1990). The sub-context is Public Buildings and the property ty@e is
Post Offices. The architecture of the Post Office displays the most
monumental Moderne style building in downtown Minneapolis. The style
and size of the building are appropriate because Minneapolis is the
largest city in the state of Minnesota and the commercial and cultural
node of the entire Upper Midwest. It matches in size and massing in
scale the other major civic buildings in downtown Minneapolis, namely
the PWA Armory and the Romanesque City Hall.

Under criterion A, the Minneapolis Post Office was the last major civic
building constructed in the Gateway. This was first known as Bridge
Square because the first bridge to span the Mississippi river was built
there in 1855 and replaced by a stone suspension bridge in 1876. The
Gateway was the apex of Nicollet and Hennepin avenues which met at the
bridge. As Minneapeclis grew during the closing decades of the
nineteenth century, building and development fanned out to the south
from Bridge Square. This area was the site of the second Minneapolis
City Hall and the Nicollet House in the early 1870s. After James J.
Hill completed the stone arched railroad bridge, he built the Great
Northern Depot on the south side of Bridge Square in 188S5.

In what was an early and major urban renewal project, the original
buildings at Bridge Square were torn down in 1912 to make way for
Gateway Park. A Neo-Classic pavilion was built on the triangle of land
between Washington, Nicollet, and Hennepin avenues and a memorial
flagpole was erected by the Daughters of the American Revolution. The
pavilion was inscribed, "More than her gates, the city opens her heart
to you." The Great Northern Railway built a new depot in 1912 on the
north side of Hennepin Avenue in Classical Revival style. It was razed
in 1978. Another part of the urban renewal in the Gateway was E. H.
Bennett’s 1917 "City Beautiful” plan. )

The second Minneapolis post office (now the Federal Building) was
designed in 1911 and was sited on Third Street in the redeveloping
Gateway. The second Minneapolis Post Office and the Institute of Arts
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were both worked into Bennett’s 1917 City Beautiful plan for
Minneapolis. The second post office so quickly outgrew its new home
that a new facility was required and agitation began in the early
1920s. Because the city of Minneapolis had by that time invested
heavily in the Gateway Area and adjacent blocks near the Mississippi
-River, the present location was chosen for the third Minneapolis Post
Office, the one in use today as the main station. Additionally, a
vital part of the locational strategy on the part of postal officials
was the keep the main post office near the major rail depots. The
present facility sits between the Milwaukee depot and the former site
of the Great Northern depot. In fact, there was a building behind the
post office connected by an enclosed conveyer which brought mail from
the GN depot into the new facility on the northwest side.

Post office buildings in Minnesota have not been studied statewide as a
group. However, the Minneapolis main station is the largest of the
three Class A post office buildings in Minnesota, all located in the
large first class cities: Minneapolis, St. Paul, and Duluth. The
classification was. developed under the 1915 guidelines of the Public
Buildings Commission which established standards for public building
construction. According to this system, which appeared in Secretary of
the Treasury William McAdoo’s annual report for 1915, buildings falling
under Class A in first class cities included post offices with annual
receipts of $800,000 or over. The character of a Class A building was
described as marble or granite facing; fireproof construction
throughout; metal frames, sashes and doors; interior finishes to
include the finer grades of marble, ornamental bronze work, mahogany,
etc.; public spaces to have monumental treatment; mural decorations;
and special interior lighting fixtures. The Class A post office site
in a first class city was to form part of a city development plan or be
situated on an important thoroughfare of a great city; and property on
adjoining land had to reach the higher valuation of metropolitan real
estate.

In every way, the proposed Minneapolis main station conformed to the
McAdoo system. The Minneapolis post office had annual postal receipts
which exceeded three million dollars in 1916, thus assuring a Class A
facility. The building was designed for the Gateway Area of
Minneapolis, an area planned for the riverfront near the apex of
Hennepin and Nicollet avenues as part of the "City Beautiful"”
revitalization in 1916. It contained the finest materials installed at
that time in federal building construction, and included marble,
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granite, stone, terrazzo, bronze and brass, and walnut. Postal
authorities and the Supervising Architect’s office in the Department of
the Treasury followed the federal guidelines, so that the Minneapolis
facility was a text book example of how the system worked. The
building was designed at 540 feet long by 153 feet deep, and 80 feet

~tall. It was erected at a cost of $3,750,000, although the original
appropriation was set at $4,250,000. Two entrances on the front facade
were designed to line up with Marquette Avenue at the west end and
Second Avenue at the east end. The lighting fixture in the lobby not
only provides indirect light and was the longest in the world, but
conditioned air was forced through the fixture, the lobby was
humidified, and foul air was expelled through it.

The history of the new Minneapolis facility also followed by then
established practice. It began in the late 1920s under the Hoover
administration when the Civic and Commerce Association and Minneapolis
businessmen began lobbying for federal funds for a new post office.
The 1915 post office had been completed barely five years before but
was already too small. These local efforts led to the selection of the
new site, and in June, 1930, the federal appropriation was granted by
Congress. A survey of the property began May 25, 1930, and was
completed about six months later. Magney and Tusler were given the
design contract. Preliminary sketches were ready by April, 1931, and
the design was approved by the Supervising Architect’s office in
Washington, D.C. Construction contracts were let July 2, 1932 and
ground was broken in September, 1932. The building was opened in

March, 1935.

During construction, the City Planning Commission monitored the
progress of the building closely. They had desires to create the
nucleus of a civic center in the immediate area. The city agreed to
spend $482,700 for an open square in front of the new building across
First Street to the south. One of the plans which occasioned great
comment in the local press was the decision to use Kasota stone to face
the building. Locals and the planning commission preferred granite,
which had been the usual facing on large government buildings until the
early 1930s. The newspapers pointed out that using Kasota stone over
granite would only save around $825,000, but the Treasury Department

prevailed.

In keeping with the PWA policy to put the unemployed to work, the
Minneapolis facility employed between 500-700 laborers and carpenters
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in the construction of the new post office. Where bids were
competitive, the other policy was to contract with local firms whenever
possible. Magney and Tusler, local Minneapolis architects, led the
list of local firms which participated in the endeavor. For example,
the bronze and aluminum contract was let to Flour City Ornamental Iron
: Company of the General Bronze Corporation. The Olson Manufacturing
Company, also of'Minneépolis, received the contract for the
miscellaneous iron work. Although the general contractor, N. P.
Severin Company, was located in Chicago, many of the subcontracts were
given to local firms. The site was cleared by the American Lumber and
Wrecking Company of Minneapolis, and the excavation work was also let

locally.

Architecturally, the Minneapolis main station was one of a relatively
small group of post offices put up in the 1930s designed by consulting
architects under contract to the Treasury Department’s Supervising
Architect’s office. The Act of 1926 authorized the use of private
architects because of increased federal building activity. However
this practice ended with a government order of June 29, 1934 which
required that all federal buildings be designed by the Office of the
Supervising Architect. During the 1930s, three times as many post
offices were built as were put up in the preceding 50 years. With
nearly half of the architectural firms in financial failure during the
first year of the Depression, the Supervising Architect’s Office and
its federal projects provided work for thousands of talented
architects. Because of the 1926 Act, contracts with some 133 private
architectural firms were awarded for federal projects in 1931 alone.
The Minneapolis firm of Magney and Tusler was given the contract to
design the Minneapolis post office. Wilbur Tusler explained the
magnitude of the job in an interview after the project started. The
Post Office Department gave the architects a list of departments, their
relationship to each other, and the square foot requirements for each.
Tusler saw the design problem as one requiring the public parts of the
building to be dignified and monumental, while the invisible parts of
the building had to be an efficient machine. Tusler likened the
project to a watch, where the public would see only the hands and the

face.

One student of architectural history credited the design of the main
station of the Minneapolis Post Office to Leon Arnal, who was ’
vice-president in charge of design for Magney and Tusler. According to
a draft National Register written in 1984, Paul Larson noted that Arnal
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was trained at the Ecole des Beaux Arts, came to the United States to
teach, first at the University of Pennsylvania, where Tusler was one of
his students, and then at the University of Minnesota. Magney and
Tusler established their partnership in Minnesota in 1917 and when
Arnal moved to Minnesota in 1919, he was immediately hired as their
»consultant. Arnal developed many of the outstanding designs that
brought Magney and Tusler into national renown in the mid-twenties.
These include the Foshay Tower, the St. Paul Woman’s Club, and the
Young-Quinlan building as well as Minneapolis’ Main Post Office. The
Post Office is listed first in his obituaries, as his outstanding
achievement, in spite of the greater fame of the Foshay design.
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1. Name of Property

historic name: St. Anthony Falls Historic District,
Eastman Townhouses
- other names: Grove Street Flats

2. Location

street & number: 2-16 Grove Street
city/town: Minneapolis
state: Minnesota Code: MN County: Hennepin Code:

053 zip code: 55401

3. Clagsification
Number of Resources within Property:
1 contributing building
1 non contributing building

Number of contributing resources previously listed: 1

6. Function or Use
Historic Functions: DOMESTIC/multiple dwelling

Current Functions: DOMESTIC/multiple dwelling
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Architectural Classification:
Second Empire

Materials:
foundation: stone: limestone

walls: stone: limestone
roof: slate and composition

Description:

The Eastman Townhouses (more commonly known as the Grove Street Flats)

are located on the west side of Nicollet Island, which is situated in

the middle of the Mississippi River above St. Anthony Falls in downtown
Minneapolis. The building is located at the south end of Grove Street.

It is a relatively narrow lot, the rear of which is taken up by a long one
story structure housing a row of newer wood-frame garages. To the north
is a one story commercial structure. To the east, across Grove Street, is
the the back of De La Salle High School. The townhouses are contributing,
the garage building, constructed in the last ten years or so, is
non-contributing.

The townhouse building consists of a long rectangular three story
limestone structure with a raised basement. The top floor has
round-arched dormers set in a Mansard decorative patterned slate roof.

The walls of the townhouses are rusticated limestone blocks laid randomly.
Window lintels on the second story are smooth blocks shaped as stylized
Italianate hood molds. On the first story and basement window lintels are
elliptically-arched with keystones. The building has a prominent
bracketed wooden frieze in the Italianate style and projecting molded
cornice broken by the dormer windows. The projecting wooden rectangular
porticoes are Eastlake in design and massing.

This building was in deteriorated condition in the 1970s and underwent an
early rehabilitation in 1981 which signaled the latest renaissance of
Nicollet Island as a once-again-fashionable residential area. The current
windows are all replacements and a large portion of the front wall in the
middle of the building had to be reconstructed when the building was
repaired in 1981. The wooden multi-bay gérage building in the rear dates
from this rehabilitaticn and is entirely new, although in the same spirit
as carriage houses which originally lined the alleys behind several flats
on Grove Street and Eastman Avenue in earlier days. These were expensive
townhouses when built and are now condominiums.



?zsazirm 10-900-a OMB Approval No. 1024-0018

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES
CONTINUATION SHEET St. Anthony Falls Historic District
8 Eastman Townhouses

Section number Minneapolis, Hennepin Co., MN . Page

Certifying official has considered the significance of this property:
locally

Applicable National Register Criteria:
A and C

Areas of Significance:
Architecture
Oother: Minneapolis Residential Development

Period of Significance:

1876-1885
Significant Dates:

1876
Architect/Builder:

architect: Kenway, Bolston C.
Significance:

The Eastman Townhouses, commonly known as the Grove Street Flats, are
significant under Criterion A for their association with the development of
classy residential neighborhoods in Minneapolis: they were part of the first
upper-class neighborhood in the city, located on Nicollet Island in the 1870s.
Under Criterion C for architecture, the Eastman Townhouses represent the last
surviving example of the French Second Empire style in the central business
district of downtown Minneapolis. This style was popular throughout the Twin
Cities metropolitan area and the nation in the 1870s. At its height, the
French Second Empire style was associated "things French,"” which represented
culture, good taste, and refinement.

The Eastman Townhouses fall under the local context of "Architecture, 1855
to Present,”"” as defined in the Minneapolis Preservation Plan (Zahn: 1990
p. 4.2.1). Built in 1877, they are the only structure designed in the
French Second Empire style in downtown Minneapolis to have survived.

Among the most important buildings designed in the French Second Empire
style were the Academy of Music (1870-1883) which sat at the corner of
Washington and Hennepin avenues and had a 1,400 seat auditorium; the Young
and Patterson’s drug store building at the corner of First Avenue S. and
Washington Avenue, the Warner Block, built in 1870 at the corner of
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Nicollet and Fourth Street, and the Minneapolis City Hall, built in 1873
at Bridge Square (Bromley, Minneapolis Portrait of the Past, passim.,
n.p.). Nicollet Island was the site of limestone quarries from which
stone was taken for use by developer William W. Eastman to build his
townhouses located on the Island (Sluss: 1991 p. 6). The architect was
“Bolston C. Kenway, under the firm Kenway and Wirth, who personally
designed the Eastman Townhouses in 1875 along with and three other
commercial buildings on First Avenue North and Nicollet Avenue in downtown
Minneapolis between 1875-78 before his disappeared from the scene (Bio.
file, NWAA). The remaining Eastman Townhouses is the only known example
of his work in Minneapolis. Eastman, himself, is said to have personally
overseen the construction of these townhouses.

The Eastman Townhouses are also significant under Criterion A for their
associations with the broad patterns of residential development in
Minneapolis. At the time of their construction in 1877, William W.
Eastman determined to develop Nicollet Island into a beauty spot. He had
extensive holdings there and, as Lucille Kane noted (1966: 84) he "used
the only location near the falls which was still attractive for
fashionable dwellings."” The Eastman Townhouses were built in three
separate groups. This was the first group and has become known as the
Grove Street Flats. When in the construction stage, Grove Street had not
yet been cut thought as a street. They are mentioned in a notice in the
June 16, 1877 Minneapolis Tribune:

We think it entirely safe to say that the scheme of W. W. Eastman to
build a row of houses the width of Nicollet Island is the largest
building enterprise of the city or state. Without exaggeration this
is the star block of tenement houses. Already on the Island he is
building a block of eight houses that would do credit to any city, but
no larger scheme had been suspected.

This article goes on to note that 27 tenements with brick fronts and
mansard roofs were being planned by Eastman to occupy what became Eastman
Avenue from one end of the island to the other. These two other groups
were located southeast of Grove Street on Eastman Avenue on what is now
the present De La Salle High School property. 1In this same five or six
block area were located the large house of lumberman John Delaittre (built
1873), the first (1878) mansion of attorney William S. King, and the
estate of William W. Eastman (1874), chief owner of Nicollet Island at the
time and an entrepreneur of railroads, woolen mills, business blocks, and
lumbering interests. These other two groups of townhouses, more closely
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identified with the name "Eastman Townhouses," were constructed in 1877
and 1878 and were designed in the French Second Empire style to be
somewhat less grand and a bit smaller, so that the overall tenement
project would attract a greater variety of well-to-do tenants.
Nonetheless, the more modern townhouses Eastman put up were still very
~expensive. He planned them at an estimated cost of $5,000 each
(Minneapolis Tribune, 5 January 1876). The Eastman Townhouses in this
nomination are significant as the sole survivor of this early fashionable

neighborhood. :

In the local context, the Eastman Townhouses fall into "Residential
Development, 1847 to Present." The property type is "Rowhouses" as
defined in the Minneapolis Preservation Plan (Zahn: 1990 pp. 4.7.1-2),
which offers the following summation:

In 1877, Eastman began construction on the stone townhouses on Grove
Street and Eastman Avenue. By 1885, ten substantial homes and three
rows of townhouses stood in the area between Bridge Street (now
Hennepin Avenue) and the St. Paul and Pacific (railroad) tracks.
Today, only the Grove Street Flats (Eastman Townhouses] exist as a
reminder of the early status of the island as an address for the

city’s elite (Sluss: 1991).

The period of significance for the Eastman Townhouses is 1876-1<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>